The role of the lectin VIP36 in the early secretory pathway

Inauguraldissertation

zur

Erlangung der Würde eines Doktors der Philosophie vorgelegt der Philosophisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Universität Basel

von

Veronika Reiterer

aus Wien, Österreich

Basel,2010

Genehmigt von der Philosophisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät auf Antrag von

Prof. Dr. Hans-Peter Hauri und Prof. Dr. Martin Spiess

Basel, den 30. März 2010

Prof. Dr. Eberhard Parlow Dekan

Acknowledgments:

I would like to express my gratitude and thanks to

Hans-Peter Hauri for giving me the opportunity to perform my PhD thesis in his lab, his support and for being a great boss.

Hesso Farhan for reading critically my PhD thesis, for his continuous support and motivation.

All the Hauri group members (Carinne Bonnon, Eva Kögler, Houchaima Ben-Tekaya, Karen Houston, and Sandra Mitrovic for the nice working atmosphere)

Beat Nyfeler for introducing me into YFP-PCA.

Markus Meier, Markus Hämmerle, Marianne Liechti and JnyWittker for keeping the 7th floor of the Biozentrum smoothly running.

Martin Spiess and Markus Rüegg for accepting to be part of my thesis comitee

My family and friends, who always supported me.

Summary

Lectins are of emerging importance for quality control and intracellular transport of glycoproteins in mammalian cells. One of the most prominent lectins involved in intracellular transport is ERGIC-53, which belongs to the family of L-type lectins. ERGIC-53 mediates the ER export of several glycoproteins like cathepsin Z, α 1-antitrypsin (α 1-AT) or blood coagulation factors. VIP36 belongs to the same family as ERGIC-53, but its cellular function remains poorly understood. VIP36 is a type I membrane protein. It cycles within the early secretory pathway and binds high mannose glycans. In order to gain insight into the function of VIP36 we decided to search for a luminal interaction partner for VIP36.

We used a YFP-protein fragmentation complementation (YFP-PCA) based FACS screen of a human adult liver library to unravel an interaction partner for VIP36. Complementation of YFP is irreversible. Therefore, the YFP-PCA is well suited to detect weak interactions, like those between mammalian lectins and glycoproteins. YFP2-VIP36 was used as the bait in our screen. The human liver library was tagged with YFP1. Our screen identified α 1-AT as an interaction partner for VIP36. VIP36 recognized high mannose containing α 1-AT, which is consistent with the previously obtained results about the glycan affinity of VIP36. This interaction was increased upon inhibition of complex glycosylation by kifunensine. The complex formed by a1-AT and VIP36 was localized to the Golgi and the ER. a1-AT was previously identified as a cargo for ERGIC-53. Knockdown of ERGIC-53 slowed down al-AT transport, consistent with a role for ERGIC-53 in ER export of a1-AT. In contrast, knockdown of VIP36 accelerated transport of endogenous α1-AT in HepG2 cells. This effect was specific for α 1-AT, as the non-glycosylated protein albumin showed no acceleration in transport. In addition, VIP36 knockdown did not affect general protein secretion. This finding makes it unlikely that VIP36 acts as an anterograde cargo receptor for α 1-AT. Further studies on the dynamics of the complex formed by VIP36 and α 1-AT revealed that VIP36 recycles α 1-AT back to the ER, which argues for a role of VIP36 in post-ER quality control. This notion is further supported by the finding that the chaperone BiP co-immunoprecipitated with the complex of VIP36 and α 1-AT. This chaperone was previously described as an interaction partner for VIP36. This argues for a complex consisting of VIP36 and BiP acting together in post-ER quality control to detect misfolded α 1-antitrypsin in the Golgi and retrieve it back to the ER.

Apart from searching for an interaction partner, I also determined the effect of depletion of VIP36 on the morphology of the secretory pathway. The rationale behind this is the

observation that cargo receptors contribute to the structural integrity of organelles of the secretory pathway. Knockdown of VIP36 had no effect on ER exit sites or on the ERGIC. However, VIP36 knockdown resulted in fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus. The fragmented Golgi was not the consequence of disturbed bidirectional protein transport and not due to effects on microtubules. Knockdown of VIP36 reduced COPI staining on the Golgi. VIP36 is likely to provide COPI binding sites on the Golgi via its cytosolic tail and thereby contribute to Golgi structural integrity. Our results underscore the importance of cargo receptors, not only for intracellular transport within the secretory pathway, but also to maintain the integrity of the secretory pathway itself.

In conclusion, my thesis provides a deeper insight into the function of VIP36 in the early secretory pathway.

Table of contents

Ackno	owledgments:	1
Sumn	nary	2
Table	of contents	4
Intro	duction	5
1.1	The secretory pathway	5
1.1.	1 Export from the endoplasmic reticulum	
1.1.	2 Traffic through the ER-Golgi-intermediate compartment (ERGIC)	
1.1.	3 Golgi apparatus	
1.2	N-glycosylation and oligosaccharide processing	16
1.2.	1 N-glycosylation in the ER	
1.2.	2 N-glycosylation in the Golgi	
1.3	Leguminous type lectins (L-type lectins)	
1.3.	1 ERGIC-53 (ER-Golgi-intermediate compartment protein of 53kDa)	
1.3.	2 VIP36 (vesicular integral membrane protein of 36kDa)	
1.3.	3 VIP36-like protein (VIPL)	
1.3.	4 ERGL (ERGIC-53 like)	
1.3.	 6 FR degradation enhancing a mannosidase like proteins (FDFMs) 	
1.3.	7 OS-9 and XTP-3/Frlectin	31
1.3.	8 Mannose-6 phosphate receptors	
1.4	Quality control	
1.4.	1 ER quality control	
1.4.	2 Secondary quality control	
1.4.	3 ER-associated degradation (ERAD)	
1.4.	4 Post ER quality control	
1.5	Alpha-1-antitrypsin	
1.6	Protein complementation assays	
1.7	References	50
2 Ai	m of the thesis	69
3 Re	esults	70
21	Dala of the lastin VID26 in past ED quality control of hy	mon a1
J.1 antit	Kole of the lectin vir so in post-EK quanty control of hu	man 01- 70
3.2	Additional data: The role of VIP36 in Golgi integrity	
4 Di	scussion	
5 Fu	itura narsnaetivas	110
J FU	1010 PCI SPECIAES	110
o Ke	erences	
Curri	culum vitae	

Introduction

1.1 The secretory pathway

The journey of a secretory protein starts in the ER, where it is synthesized. It exits the ER in vesicles, reaches the ER-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC) and continues to travel to the Golgi (Fig. 1). There it is further sorted to reach the plasma membrane or to enter the endosomal compartments.



Figure 1: Early secretory pathway: Proteins are synthesized in the ER. They are packed into COPII vesicles at ER exit sites (ERES). In the ER-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC) anterograde secretory cargo is segregated from retrograde cargo. Subsequently anterograde cargo is transported to the Golgi. Secretory proteins traverse the Golgi and acquire enzymatic modifications. At the trans-Golgi network the protein is sorted into carriers that target them to their final destinations. COPI vesicles transport recycling cargo receptors and ER resident proteins back to the ER.

1.1.1 Export from the endoplasmic reticulum

Correct protein synthesis in the rough endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is warranted by the quality control machinery. By this, proper protein folding and (in the case of oligomeric proteins) assembly into higher-order complexes is assured. Once this is achieved, secretory proteins are prepared for export from the ER. Initially it has been thought that this export process is non-selective. In this scenario, proteins carrying an ER retention motif would stay in the ER, all other proteins would be transported out of the ER by default. This turned out to be not true. There is meanwhile a plethora of evidence for an active concentrative ER export process (Balch et al., 1994; Ma et al., 2001; Malkus et al., 2002). In mammalian cells, ER export takes

place at ribosome-free regions of the rough ER, originally referred to as transitional ER elements (TEs) or ER exit sites (ERES) (Orci et al., 1991; Zeuschner et al., 2006). ERES are COPII coated and exhibit up to 350nm long membrane evaginations with omega shaped budding profiles (Bannykh et al., 1996). In mammalian cells, ERES are the major sites for COPII vesicle formation. COPII vesicles are 50nm-80nm large carriers and are responsible for export of most known cargo molecules out of the ER. COPII vesicle formation is initiated by the recruitment of the small 21kDa GTPase Sar1 to the ER membrane. This is mediated by the membrane bound GDP exchange factor (GEF) Sec12 (Barlowe and Schekman, 1993). Active Sar1 on the ER membrane inserts its NH2-terminus into the lipid bilayer, which is important for deformation of the ER membrane and for vesicle fission (Bielli et al., 2005). Active Sar1 recruits the heterodimeric complex consisting of Sec24 and Sec23. This complex consisting of Sar1, Sec23 and Sec24 is termed the pre-budding complex. Sec24 interacts with the cytosolic portions of transmembrane cargo proteins. Sec23 serves as a GTPase activating protein (GAP) for Sar1. Two mammalian isoforms exist (Sec23A and Sec23B) (Paccaud et al., 1996). Three distinct cargo binding sites have been indentified in yeast Sec24p. The A-site and B-site recognize two different motifs in Sed5p. The B-site also binds to the v-Snare Bet1p and the Golgi protein Sys1p. The C-site recognizes a motif in Sec22 (Mossesova et al., 2003). Sec24p has two homologs in yeast: Lst1p (Roberg et al., 1999) and Iss1 (Kurihara et al., 2000). These homologs are mostly redundant in their function. In humans four Sec24 isoforms were described (Sec24A-D) (Pagano et al., 1999). The first cargo binding site in a mammalian Sec24 isoform was found in Sec24D (Farhan et al., 2007). There, the ⁷³³DD⁷³⁴ motif binds to an arginine residue in the C-terminus of the GABA transporter 1. Later, Mancias and Goldberg (2008) combined X-ray crystallographic and biochemical analysis and thereby identified further binding motifs in all Sec24 isoforms. The presence of four Sec24 isoforms was always thought to provide a broader range for differential cargo recognition. Wendeler et al (2007) studied the dependence of ERGIC-53 ER export on Sec24 isoforms. They found that ERGIC-53 export is dependent on Sec24A and Sec24B. This interaction is mediated by the FF-motif on its extreme C-terminus. Interestingly, substituting the FF-motif by two valines changed ERGIC-53 export dependence to Sec24C and D.

The next step in the COPII assembly cascade is recruitment of the heterotetramer Sec13-Sec31. This forms the outer layer of the COPII coat. Recruitment of Sec13-Sec31 has been shown to stimulate the GAP-activity of Sec23p towards Sar1p by about 10fold (Antonny et al., 2001). Recently, it was proposed that the presence of the Sec13-Sec31 complex is essential for COPII vesicle fission. This was based on a finding from patients with Cranio-

lenticulo-sutural dysplasia (CLSD). This developmental disease is caused by a point-mutation in Sec23A (Boyadjief et al., 2006). This mutant Sec23A fails to recruit Sec31 and thus there is no increase in the GAP activity of Sec23 anymore (Bi et al., 2007; Fromme et al., 2007).

COPII is a cytosolic complex. Thus, it can only interact with ER export motifs in the cytosolic portion of transmembrane proteins. Several types of ER export motifs were reported in the literature. Hydrophobic motifs (Fiedler et al., 1996; Kappeler et al., 1997; Dominguez et al., 1998), di-acidic motifs, and also di-basic motifs have been described. In addition the first di-acidic ER export motif was found in the cytoplasmic tail of the vesicular stomatitis virus G (VSVG) protein tail (Nishimura and Balch, 1997). Substitution of the two acidic amino acids of this DXE motif by alanines reduced ER export of VSVG in a pulse chase experiment. Other proteins with di-acidic export motifs are: the potassium channel protein Kir2.1 (Ma et al., 2001) and the Golgi proteins Sys1p (Votsmeier and Gallwitz, 2001) and Gap1p (Malkus et al., 2002). A di-hydrophobic/ di-aromatic export motif consisting of two phenylalanines was found in the extreme C-terminus of ERGIC-53 (Kappeler et al., 1997). This motif can be substituted by a single phenylalanine or tyrosine in position -2, two leucines or isoleucines at position -1 and -2 or a single value in position -1 (Nufer et al., 2002). Other di-hydrophobic motifs (FF, FY) were discovered in p24 family members (Fiedler et al., 1996) and the Erv41-Erv46 complex (Otte and Barlowe, 2002). A dibasic motif has been described for a Golgi resident glycosyltransferase. This motif is quite distinct from the previous described ER export motifs. It is located proximal to the transmembrane domain and it interacts with Sar1 and not with Sec24 (Giraudo and Maccioni, 2003).

In contrast to transmembrane proteins, soluble secretory proteins within the lumen of the ER have no direct access to the ER export machinery. Two models have been proposed to explain ER export of soluble proteins: the bulk flow model and the receptor mediated export model. Initially it seemed that all soluble proteins exited the ER simply by bulk flow. This was based on experiments were glycosylated tripeptides lacking an ER retention motif were rapidly secreted (Wieland et al., 1987). This model seems to hold true for the export of amylase and chymotrypsinogen, as no concentration into COPII coated buds could be observed. The concentration of these proteins seems to occur at a later step. Nevertheless it appears that at least for a part of secretory proteins an active sorting process is required for efficient ER export. Members of the p24 family enhanced transport of invertase and the GPI-anchored protein Gasp1 in yeast (Schimmoler et al., 1995; Muniz et al., 2000) Glycopro- α -factor, carboxypetidase Y and proteinase A need ERv29p for their efficient sorting into COPII vesicles (Belden and Barlowe, 2001; Caldwell et al., 2001). The lectin ERGIC-53 serves as a

cargo receptor for several glycoproteins including cathepsin Z, cathepsin C, blood coagulation factors and alpha1-antitrypsin (Appenzeller et al., 1999; Nyfeler et al., 2008).

Beside proteins that are destined for secretion, there are also proteins that recycle between ER and Golgi. At some point all these proteins have to be transported back to the ER. This step is mediated by COPI vesicles. COPI vesicles are also implicated in the retrieval of escaped ER resident proteins back to the ER and are involved in intra-Golgi trafficking.

COPI vesicle formation is initiated by the activation of the small GTPase Arf1 and the subsequent binding of coatomer/COPI. This is a heteromeric complex consisting of seven subunits (α , β , β , γ , δ , ε , ζ). Dilysine motifs in the cytoplasmic carboxylic tail of cargo proteins directly interact with coatomer (Cosson and Letourneur, 1994). These motifs are only functional if they are either located in position -3 and -4 (<u>KK</u>XX-COOH) or in position -5 and -3 (<u>KXK</u>XX-COOH) (Jackson et al., 1990). These dilysine motifs ensure the ER localization of type I membrane proteins by two different mechanisms: ER retention or ER retrieval (Andersson et al., 1999). ER retention does not depend on a functional COPI coat. Another type of dibasic motif, a di-arginine motif located close to the N-terminus mediates ER retention of type II membrane proteins (Teasdale and Jackson, 1996). This signal is found in multimeric membrane proteins usually forming channels or receptors. There is evidence that the arginine motifs bind to different sites in coatomere subunits. In contrast soluble recycling proteins cannot directly interact with COPI components. They interact via their KDEL amino acid sequence with the KDEL-receptor (Munro and Pelham, 1987; Lewis and Pelham, 1992)

1.1.2 Traffic through the ER-Golgi-intermediate compartment (ERGIC)

The ERGIC is a complex and highly dynamic compartment found only in higher eukaryotic cells. As its name already describes, this compartment is located at the interface of the ER-Golgi boundary. This compartment corresponds to the place where viral membrane proteins were shown to accumulate upon a temperature block of 15°C (Saraste and Kuismanen, 1984; Balch et al., 1986; Saraste and Svensson, 1991; Schweizer et al., 1990). This compartment is also known as intermediate compartment or VTCs (vesicular-tubular clusters) (Balch et al., 1994).

The main marker of the ERGIC is a type-I transmembrane protein of 53 kDa named ERGIC-53 (Schweizer et al., 1988). The discovery of ERGIC-53 as a marker protein for the intermediate compartment allowed characterization of this compartment more precisely. Experiments with VSVG showed that it continues its trafficking route from the ERGIC to the Golgi upon temperature increase from 15°C to 32°C. In contrast ERGIC-53 localized still to the ERGIC (Schweizer et al., 1990). The nature of the ERGIC was for very long a matter of hot and controversial debate. Very early, the ERGIC was considered a distal subcompartment of the ER. It was described as a salvage subcompartment, where the KDEL receptor binds escaped ER resident proteins to retrieve them to the ER (Sitia and Meldolesi, 1992). This view was supported by electron microscopy that showed connections of the VTCs with the ER (Griffiths et al., 1994; Krijnse-Locker et al., 1994; Stinchcombe et al., 1995). Another group suggested that the KDEL receptor binds to its targets at the level of the Golgi. Therefore they proposed that the intermediate compartment corresponds to an early compartment of the Golgi (Mellman and Simons, 1992).

Subcellular fractionation experiments (Schweizer et al., 1991) and further morphological studies at an ultrastructural level finally showed that ERGIC membranes are non-continuous with either the ER or the cis-Golgi and also differ in their protein composition from these two compartments (Klumperman et al., 1998).

Today, the ERGIC is accepted to be distinct from the ER and the Golgi. This agreement is, however, only on structural aspects of the ERGIC, but not on the functional ones. There are two hypotheses that explain the function of the ERGIC, the transient compartment model and the stable compartment model. According to the transient-compartment/maturation hypothesis, the ERGIC represents transport intermediates on their way to the Golgi. These transport intermediates are formed by the homotypic fusion of COPII vesicles. This is supported by in vitro experiments that showed that COPII vesicles can homotypically fuse to generate larger carriers (Xu and Hay, 2004) and that this process is dependent on the tethering complex TRAPP-I (Cai et al., 2007). ERGIC clusters move along microtubules to the Golgi (Bannykh and Balch, 1997; Presley et al., 1997). Subsequently the ERGIC clusters either fuse with each other to generate the new cis-Golgi cisterna or they fuse with a pre-existing cis-Golgi cisterna. This is supported by the observation that VSVG containing transport containers (TC) where shown to move towards the Golgi and fused with it (Presley et al., 1997). A closer examination of VSVG-containing TCs revealed that they exhibit a polarized distribution of COPI and cargo. VSVG was preferentially localized to the side of the TC that faced the Golgi and COPI localized to the opposite direction (Shima et al., 1999). For procollagen-I, ER to Golgi transport was shown to occur inside the tubular portion of the VTCs (Bonfanti et al., 1998). A subsequent study suggested that procollagen-I as well as VSVG travel in these tubular carriers emerging from the ER to the Golgi (Mironov et al., 2003). The main problem of the maturation model is that it is mainly based on the

examination of the overexpressed viral protein VSVG. VSVG is exported in a cargo wave from the ER, therefore the secretory pathway might accommodate to these needs and the physiological transport conditions may not be correctly reflected (Appenzeller-Herzog and Hauri, 2006).

The maturation hypothesis is opposed by the stable compartment hypothesis. According to this hypothesis, the ERGIC forms an independent stable compartment. Cargo is exported from the ER in COPII vesicles that subsequently fuse with pre-existing ERGIC clusters. Further transport from the ERGIC to the Golgi is mediated via carriers that still need to be characterized. This is supported by live cell imaging experiments of cells expressing GFP-ERGIC-53 and a luminal version of dsRed (ss-dsRed) (Ben-Tekaya et al., 2005). In this study cells were incubated at 15°C to block secretory traffic in the ERGIC. After re-warming, ssdsRed segregated from GFP-ERGIC-53. While ss-ds-Red moved to the Golgi, GFP-ERGIC-53 remained in peripheral ERGIC structures. There is evidence that anterograde transport from the ERGIC is COPI-dependent. VSVG transport was blocked at the level of the ERGIC, after microinjection of an antibody against a COPI subunit (Pepperkok et al., 1993). As depicted already in the maturation model the VSVG containing carriers were coated with COPI (Scales et al., 1997; Stephens et al., 2000; Presley et al., 2002). In case of the stable compartment model these VSVG containing carriers would correspond to the anterograde carriers segregating from the ERGIC. COPI would be therefore involved in trafficking of the transport carriers in the anterograde direction and in the recycling of proteins back to the ER. How are these opposite directed processes regulated? Goldberg (2000) showed with in vitro experiments that different cargo proteins differentially affected the GTPase activity of the small GTPAse Arf1, depending on the type of COPI interaction motif. Cargo containing a diarginine interaction motif inhibited GTPase activity, while cargo with a dilysine interaction motif showed no effect. He concluded that the dilysine containing proteins excluded themselves from the anterograde vesicles. It is still possible that COPI only plays a role in retrograde transport and that the observed effects are indirect and further studies are required to resolve this mystery. Finally the question comes up if the ERGIC only serves as a sorting station or if also enzymatic processes occur. So far only UDP-glucose:glycoprotein glucosyltransferase and glucosidase-II, two enzymes also resident in the ER, were found to be enriched in the ERGIC by immunoelectron-microscopy: (Zuber et al., 2001). If ERGIC specific enzymes exist has to be further investigated.

1.1.3 Golgi apparatus

The next compartment along the secretory pathway is the Golgi apparatus. The Golgi apparatus consists of stacks of cisternae. These cisternae are composed of flattened disk shaped membranes, which form a ribbon-like organelle in mammalian cells. The stacks form the so-called compact zones (Thorne-Tjomsland et al., 1998; Jackson et al., 2009). Tubulovesicular regions, also known as non-compact zones connect these Golgi stacks laterally with each other (Fig.2). The cisternae are organized in a polarized fashion. Each cisterna is defined by structural and biochemical criteria. The cis-Golgi cisterna is followed by the medial-Golgi and then by the trans-Golgi. The cist-Golgi is preceded by the cis-Golgi network and the trans-Golgi is followed by the trans-Golgi network. Both networks show tubulovesicular morphology.



Figure 2: Golgi morphology The Golgi apparatus is formed by compact zones and non-compact zones. The compact zones correspond to the Golgi stacks and consist of flattened cisternae. The Golgi stacks are connected via non compact zones composed of tubulovesicular regions. The cisternae are ordered in a polarized fashion with the cis-Golgi first, followed by the medial and the trans-Golgi. The cis-Golgi is preceded by the cis-Golgi network and the trans- Golgi is followed by the trans-Golgi network.(reproduced from Rambourg and Clermont, 1990)

To maintain the Golgi structure the Golgi cisternae are linked via filamentous material (Franke et al., 1972), which is sensitive to protease treatment (Cluett and Brown, 1992). Extraction of the Golgi with a detergent revealed a proteinaceous skeleton (Slusarewicz et al., 1994) which functions as Golgi matrix. The Golgi matrix is formed by golgins and GRASPs (Short and Barr, 2003; Barinaga-Rementeria Ramirez and Lowe 2009). Golgins are Golgi localized proteins that harbour large coiled-coil domains. Golgins are either transmembrane proteins integrated into the Golgi membrane (giantin, golgin-84, CLASP) or they associate via adaptors with the Golgi (GM130, golgin 45). Golgins also interact with the small GTPases Rabs, ARLs or ARFs to mediate Golgi recruitment (Short et al., 2005). Knockdown or

overexpression of golgins often results in a loss of integrity of the Golgi. Microinjection of an antibody against p115 leads to fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus (Puthenveedu and Linstedt, 2001). Also the lack of GM130 in a temperature sensitive mutant cell line LdLG resulted in a fragmentation of the Golgi, but only if cells were incubated at higher temperature (Vasile et al., 2003). Moreover an siRNA induced knockdown of GM130 resulted in a fragmentation of the Golgi (Puthenveedu et al., 2006). Contradictory results were obtained from microinjection of an antibody against GM130 which showed no effect on Golgi integrity (Puthenveedu and Linstedt, 2001). Beside membrane tethering, golgins are also involved in tethering of arriving vesicles at the Golgi. The mechanism of vesicle docking to the Golgi was recently elucidated in detail for GMAP-210 (Drin et al., 2008). GMAP-210 is a golgin whose depletion causes fragmentation of the Golgi (Pernet-Gallay et al., 2002; Rios et al., 2004). The N-terminus of GMAP-210 contains an ALPS (amphipathic lipid-packing sensor) motif which senses highly curved membranes. Thereby, the N-terminus binds small vesicles. The Cterminal region of GMAP-210 binds to more flat membranes where Arf1 is present. This would correspond to the Golgi membrane. A model was suggested where GMAP-210 would be recruited to the Golgi by Arf1. Its N-terminus reaches into the cytoplasm like a tentacle waiting for a vesicle. Binding of a vesicle to the N-terminus of GMAP-210 induces a conformational change thereby bringing the vesicle closer to the Golgi. The Drosophila homologues of GMAP-210 and GM130 were shown to have several binding sites for different rabs. Based on these findings, a model of a tentacular Golgi was suggested where coiled-coil proteins that surround the Golgi capture Rab-containing membranes (like vesicles) but exclude other structures (Sinka et al., 2008).

Another type of Golgi matrix proteins are the GRASPs (<u>G</u>olgi <u>reassembly</u> and <u>stacking</u> proteins). So far two GRASPs have been discovered in mammalian cells GRASP55 and GRASP65 (Barr et al., 1997; Shorter et al., 1999). Both are peripheral membrane proteins and are anchored to the membrane via an N-terminal myristoyl group. Knockdown of GRASP65 (Puthenveedu et al., 2006) as well as the knockdown of GRASP55 (Feinstein and Linstedt, 2008) result in an unlinking of the Golgi ribbon. There are different hypothesis about the role of GRASPs in linking membranes. It was suggested that they anchor golgins to the Golgi membranes and enable them to function in tethering reactions (Barr et al., 1998). Another hypothesis suggests that GRASPs form oligomers and thereby link membranes together. GRASP65 was shown to form high-order oligomers. In addition GRASP65 which was coupled to magnetic beads, formed trans-oligomers and caused aggregation of the beads (Wang et al., 2003).

Beside GRASPs and golgins, other proteins are also involved in maintaining Golgi structure. Disruption of the microtubule network results in Golgi disassembly into several mini-stacks (Rogalski et al., 1984). The fungal product brefeldin A (BFA) causes disassembly of the Golgi and rapid redistribution of Golgi membranes to the ER (Fujiwara et al., 1988; Lippincott-Schwartz et al., 1989). Degradation of a COPI subunit in a mutant cell line led to a fragmented Golgi (Guo et al., 1994). A combined knockdown of two cargo receptors (ERGIC-53 and Surf4) also led to Golgi fragmentation (Mitrovic et al., 2008). Many other proteins from different classes are also important for integrity of the Golgi. These include cargo receptors from the p24 protein family, retromer components or the conserved oligomeric Golgi complex (Rojo et al., 2000; Seaman, 2004; Shestakova et al., 2006; Koegler et al., 2009), enzymes like protein kinase D (Anel and Malhotra, 2005) and proteins of the fusion machinery like the SNARE GS15 (Xu et al., 2002).

Proteins that pass the Golgi are transported from the *cis*-side to the *trans*-side of the Golgi and undergo enzymatic modifications. These include N-glycosylation steps, O-glycosylation (Helenius and Aebi, 2001; Wopereis et al., 2006) and sulfation of sugar- and tyrosine residues (Honke and Tanigichi, 2002). In addition the pro-protein convertases/endoproteases furin acts in the trans-Golgi, where it process protein precursors into their mature form (Nakayama, 1997; Shapiro et al., 1997). Glycosylation steps occur in a sequential order. In the ciscisternae mannose trimming occurs. N-acetylglucosamine is added in the medial Golgi. Addition of fucose residues also occurs in the medial Golgi. Finally, addition of galactose and sialic acid takes place in the *trans*-Golgi and the TGN (Kornfeld and Kornfeld, 1985). This model of sequential action was supported by microscopic studies that showed compartmentalization of the enzymes to the different cisternae. Galactosyltranferase was located to the trans Golgi cisternae (Roth and Berger, 1982) and N-acetylglucosamine transferase I to the medial Golgi cisterna (Dunphy et al., 1985) by electron microscopy. However, this strict compartmentalization model does not seem to be entirely true. More recent results favor a model of a concentration gradient along the cisternae. Myc-tagged Nacetylglucosaminyltransferase I (GnT I) localized to the medial as well as to the trans-Golgi. In the trans Golgi it overlapped with endogenous beta 1,4 galactosyltransferase (GalT) (Nilsson et al., 1993). Also mannosidase II localized to the medial Golgi cisterna as well as to the trans-Golgi cisterna. In the trans Golgi cisterna overlapping staining of mannosidase II with the trans Golgi enzyme sialyltransferase was observed (Rabouille et al., 1995). Localization of the Golgi enzymes was also shown to vary with the cell type. Depending on the cell line mannosidase II was found in the medial, medial and trans or only in the transGolgi (Velasco et al., 1993). Nilsson et al (2009) hypothesized that the different Golgi enzymes present in the same compartment form complexes. These complexes would then provide specific and efficient processing of the oligosaccharide structures. So far this is only a hypothesis and further studies are necessary to confirm it.

Intra-Golgi protein transport is still a matter of debate. Two different models for the organization and transport of cargo through the Golgi have been proposed (Fig. 3). These models are known as the cisternal maturation model and the vesicular transport model (Rothman and Wieland, 1996; Glick et al., 1997). The cisternal maturation model proposes that cargo enters the first cisterna (cis-cisterna) and this cisterna matures to become the medial cisterna and finally the trans-cisterna. The trans-cisterna finally disintegrates into post-Golgi vesicles that mediate further transport. Support for the cisternal maturation model came from a study on procollagen transport. Procollagen-I, is a very large protein, which was found to stay in the same cisterna during intra-Golgi transport (Bonfanti et al., 1998). The transmembrane protein VSVG was shown to move through the Golgi at the same rate as procollagen-I (Mironov et al., 2001). This study indicates that large as well as small cargo molecules are transported via cisternal maturation. The cisternal maturation model raises the question of how the cis-to-trans Golgi enzyme gradient is maintained. A possibility is that the gradient is generated by COPI vesicles that transport Golgi resident proteins to their home cisternae. This is supported by the observation that COPI vesicles contain several Golgi resident proteins but no or very little secretory cargo (Love et al., 1998). In contrast to this observation Orci et al. (1997) found COPI vesicles involved in anterograde transport of VSVG and Volchuk et al. (2000) discovered megavesicles involved in anterograde intra-Golgi transport of large protein aggregates. Another explanation is that inter-cisternal tubular connections are formed. Cargo matures in these tubules but enzymes stay in their cisterna. Alternatively, cargo matures within cisternae and enzymes slide back in tubules. The existence of tubules was observed by Trucco et al (2004) when a wave of VSVG arrived at the Golgi. In this model COPI vesicles would only serve in recycling of the fusion machinery, but do contain neither secretory cargo nor resident Golgi enzymes.

The vesicular transport model (Fig. 3) is based on the assumption of stable Golgi cisternae. Anterograde and retrograde transport between the cisternae is mediated by COPI vesicles. Anterograde COPI vesicles transport the secretory proteins from cisterna to cisterna where the posttranslational modifications occur. These anterograde COPI vesicles exclude resident Golgi enzymes from further transport. This model is supported by a number of biochemical and microscopical evidences. COPI vesicles containing anterograde cargo could be produced in an in vitro budding reaction, using Golgi membranes (Malsam et al., 1999). COPI vesicles containing anterograde (VSVG) and retrograde (KDEL-receptor) cargo were also visualized by electron microscopy (Orci et al., 1997). These KDEL receptor-containing vesicles excluded the Golgi enzyme mannosidase-II from transport (Cosson et al., 2002). Another electron microscopy study suggested that anterograde COPI vesicles differ from retrograde ones in their SNARE composition. The Golgi restricted v-SNARE GOS28 could be localized to anterograde VSVG containing COPI vesicles, but not to retrograde KDEL receptor containing vesicles (Orci et al., 2000). The remaining question is how large cargo that does not fit into COPI vesicles is transported. As a kind of a salomonic solution Pelham and Rothman (2000) suggested, that both models have their justification. According to their suggestion vesicular transport mediates most of the transport of proteins through the Golgi in mammalian cells. Cisternal maturation serves to explain rapid protein secretion in yeast and transport of large macromolecular aggregates in mammalian cells.

Recently a third model called rapid-partitioning model was proposed (Fig. 3). In this model the Golgi stacks are interconnected and secretory cargo as well as resident Golgi enzymes move in both directions through the Golgi. Although the Golgi forms a continuous system, it is segregated into differential membrane domains. A two-phase membrane system allows differential partitioning of transmembrane cargo proteins and resident Golgi enzymes in subdomains. Export domains are enriched in sphingolipids/cholesterol and represent the place of cargo sorting. Processing domains are glycerolipid rich microdomains and form the processing platforms in the Golgi where the glycosylation enzymes act (Patterson et al., 2008). Recently a group of prominent Golgi researchers made the attempt to find a consensus on a model for intra-Golgi transport (Emr et al., 2009). They agreed on the cisternal maturation model as the most likely one and on the existence of tubules connecting the Golgi cisternae in a stack. Still there is no consensus about the contents and the transport directionality of COPI vesicles, but future work will help to clarify this issue.



Figure 3: Intra-Golgi transport models:

- 1.In the **cisternal maturation model** anterograde cargo travels within the same cisterna through the Golgi. The cisterna receives the Golgi enzymes specific for the following cisterna via COPI vesicles (green).
- 2.In the vesicular transport model cargo transport is mediated by anterograde COPI vesicles (pink) that move between the cisternae. Retrograde COPI vesicles (green) recycle transport components of the fusion machinery back to their home cisterna.
- 3 In the **rapid partitioning model** segregation between anterograde cargo and resident Golgi proteins is mediated via lipid microdomains (light-green oval and yellow oval)

1.2 N-glycosylation and oligosaccharide processing

N-glycosylation is one of the most common protein modifications (Apweiler et al., 1999). It plays an important role in glycoprotein folding, ER quality control (Spiro, 2004), protein secretion (Helenius and Aebi, 2004; Vagin et al., 2009), cell-cell communication (Zhao et al., 2008), development (Haltiwanger and Lowe, 2004), wound repair (Lackie and Adam, 2006) and innate immunity (Marth and Grewal, 2008). In addition N-glycosylation was shown to be important for enzyme activity and substrate specificity (Skropeta, 2009). N-glycosylation is crucial for the stability of a glycoprotein (Shental-Bechor and Levy, 2009) and also protects it from the action of proteases by steric hindrance and from non-specific interactions with other proteins (Rudd et al., 2001). Three main types of N-glycans can be distinguished: high

mannose, complex and hybrid-N-glycans. All types share a common pentasaccharide core structure of three mannose residues (Man) and two N-acetylglucosamine residues (GlcNAc): $Man\alpha 1-3(Man\alpha 1-6)Man\beta 1-4GlcNAc\beta 1-4GlcNAc$ (α and β indicate type of glycosidic linkage between the sugar residues). This Man₃GlcNAc₂ core is linked to an asparagine residue in the glycoprotein chain. The high mannose structure consists of the pentasaccharide core structure with two to six additional mannose residues attached. The complex-type structure is formed by the pentasaccharide core, to which oligosaccharide antennae are attached by the action of N-acetylglucosaminyltransferases (GnTs). The hybrid structure contains features of both the high mannose residues attached to the Man\alpha1-6 arm and one or two antennae, which are attached to the Man\alpha1-3 arm of the Man₃GlcNAc₂ core (Stanley et al., 2008)

1.2.1 N-glycosylation in the ER

The initial step in N-glycosylation takes place in the endoplasmic reticulum and is mediated by the oligosaccharide transferase (Roth, 2002). This integral membrane protein complex consists of eight subunits. It transfers a Glc₃Man₉GlcNAc₂ residue (where Glc is glucose) from the lipid carrier dolichol-P-P to an asparagine residue in the newly synthesized protein (Fig. 4) (Elbein, 1979). The asparagine is part of the consensus sequence N-X-S/T., where X is any amino acid except proline.



Figure 4 **Basic N-glycan structure** attached to the N-glycosylation site of a glycoprotein. The basic structure consists of two N-acetylglucosamine residues, nine mannose residues and three glucose residues. The nomenclature of the different branches and the type of glycosidic linkage is indicated. The structure was created with the glycan builder (Ceroni et al., 2007)

The attached oligosaccharide is then further processed by two ER localized α -glucosidases (Fig. 5). The integral type-II membrane protein α -glucosidase-I removes the terminal α 1,2

linked glucose (Shailubhai et al., 1991). Subsequently the soluble glucosidase-II removes the two α 1,3 linked glucose residues. Glucosidase-II is composed of an α -subunit and β -subunit. The α -subunit contributes the active site and the β -site mediates ER retention (Trombetta et al., 1996; Helenius et al., 1997). Additionally the β -subunit shows sequence homology to the mannose-6-phosphate receptor (MRH domain). The residues involved in mannose binding are conserved in the β -subunit. The two glucose residues are cleaved with different kinetics. The first residue is cleaved very rapidly, but the second residue is cleaved more slowly. This allows the monoglucosylated glycoprotein to enter the calnexin/calreticulin cycle, before the second glucose residue is cleaved. Release from this cycle is catalyzed by a concerted action of ER mannosidase-I and glucosidase-II. ER mannosidase-I (Gonzalez et al., 1999) removes one mannose residue from the B-branch and the glucosidase-II removes the remaining glucose residue from the A-branch. Correctly folded proteins which exit the ER carry a Man₈(GlcNAc)₂ glycan chain. Further processing of the glycan chain occurs in the Golgi

1.2.2 N-glycosylation in the Golgi

A combination of trimming (by glycosidases) and elongation (by glycosyltransferases) reactions converts the high mannose to a complex type oligosaccharide (Fig. 5). So far three Golgi α 1,2-mannosidase-I isoforms have been discovered: Golgi α 1,2-mannosidase-I A, B and C (Herscovics et al., 1994; Lal et al., 1994; Tremblay and Herscovics, 2000). They process the Man₈GlcNAc₂ glycan to the Man₅GlcNAc₂ which constitutes the basis for complex glycosylation. GlcNAc transferase-I (GnT-I) adds a single GlcNAc residue to the Man₅GlcNAc₂ thereby generating GlcNAc₁Man₅GlcNAc₂ (Schachter et al., 1984). This is the prerequisite for further formation of N-acetyllactosamine branches. After modification by GnT-I, Golgi mannosidase-II removes two further mannose residues (Tulsiani et al., 1982; Moremen, 2002). The resulting GlcNAc₁Man₃GlcNAc₂ chain is further modified by the addition of another N-acetylglucosamine residue to the free mannose residue by GlcNAc transferase-II (GnT-II) (Oppenheimer et al., 1981; Brockhausen et al., 1988). The GlcNAc₂Man₃GlcNAc₂ chain is the precursor for complex oligosaccharides with three or four outer branches. At this stage several subsequent reactions are possible. Fucosyltransferase can transfer a fucose residue to the innermost GlcNAc residue of the glycan chain (Uozumi et al., 1996). GnT-IV adds a GlcNAc residue to the α 1,3 mannose. GnT-V adds a GlcNAc residue to the a1,6 mannose (Kornfeld and Kornfeld, 1985). GnT-VI adds an additional GlcNAc residue to the α 1,6 mannose and GnT-IX adds an additional GlcNAc residue to the α 1,3 mannose (Takahashi et al., 2009). GnT-III introduces a GlcNAc residue at the base of the trimannosyl core. This step prevents further branching, as the other GlcNAc transferases cannot process this oligosaccharide chain anymore (Narasimhan, 1982).

The final modifications of the glycan chains involve addition of galactose (Gal) residues by galactosyltransferases and sialylation by sialyltransferases. Two main families of galactosyltransferases can be distinguished. The β 4-galactosyltransferases catalyze the transfer of a galactose residue via β 1-4 linkage to a GlcNAc residue. The β 3-galactosyltransferases catalyze the transfer of a galactose residue via β 1-4 linkage to a GlcNAc residue. The β 3-galactosyltransferases catalyze the transfer of a galactose residue via β 1-3 linkage to a GlcNAc based acceptor (Hennet, 2002). Chain elongation occurs by the alternate action of the GnTs adding a GlcNAc residue to a Gal at the end of the chain and the GalTs adding a Gal to the terminal GlcNAc of the chain (Ujita et al., 1999). Sialylation follows upon galactosylation and is usually the terminal modification of a glycan chain (Berger and Rohrer, 2008). Sialyltransferases mediate transfer of sialic acid/neuraminic acid (Neu) to galactose residues.







Figure 5 **Processing and maturation of N-glycans** Oligosacharyltransferase transfers the $Glc_3Man_9GlcNAc_2$ residue to the glycoprotein (not indicated). The processing steps in the ER include removal of the three glucose residues by glucosidase-I and glucosidase-II and removal of one mannose residue by ER mannosidase-I. Further processing in the Golgi includes further removal of two mannose residues by mannosidase-I. After addition of GlcNAc by GnT-II, Golgi mannosidase-II removes two mannose residues. Fucosyltransferase may add a fucose residue to the innermost GlcNAc. Addition of GlcNAc to the terminal mannose residues by GnTs allows branching. Galactosyltransferases and sialyltransferases perform the final modification by adding galactose and sialic acid residues. Poly-N-acetyllactosamine (= Gal-GlcNAc-Gal-GlcNAc) structures are created by the sequential action of β 1,3 Gn-T and galactosyltransferases. All structure were created using glycan builder (Ceroni et al., 2007)

1.3 Leguminous type lectins (L-type lectins)

Lectins are sugar binding proteins, lacking any enzymatic activity. They exert different intraand extracellular roles. Lectins are involved in quality control, protein sorting and cellular adhesion. The domain responsible for sugar binding is referred to as the carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD). This domain can be formed by different secondary structure elements. In P-type lectins it is a unique β -sheet-rich structure, in C-type lectins it is formed by a unique mix of α -helices and β -sheets, in galectins and in L-type lectins it is a β sandwich. The immunoglobulin family is the basis for the structure in I-type lectins and a β trefoil in R-type lectins (Dodd and Drickamer, 2001). The first L-type lectin discovered in vertebrates was ERGIC-53. Like in the other L-type lectins, its luminal portion containing the CRD corresponds to the single folded domain in leguminous plant lectins (Sharon and Lis, 1990). Because of this homology they were termed leguminous (L-type) lectins. The L-type lectin group in mammals comprises the four members ERGIC-53, VIP36, VIPL and ERGL (Fig. 6).

1.3.1 ERGIC-53 (ER-Golgi-intermediate compartment protein of 53kDa)

ERGIC-53 is a 53kDa, type I transmembrane protein. It was originally discovered in a monoclonal antibody screen for organelle marker proteins (Schweizer et al., 1988). The rat homolog p58 was identified as a marker for the cis-Golgi (Saraste et al., 1987). MR60 was discovered by Pimpaneau et al (1991) as a new mammalian monocytic D-mannose receptor. Later it turned out that the protein MR60 is nearly identical to ERGIC-53 (Arar et al., 1995). ERGIC-53 serves as a marker of the ER-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC) where it is present at high concentrations. ERGIC-53 is also found at lower levels in the ER and in the first fenestrated cisterna in the cis-Golgi (Schweizer et al., 1988; Chavrier et al., 1990). ERGIC-53 is an unglycosylated protein and forms homodimers and homohexamers directly after synthesis. Oligomerization is mediated by two luminal cysteine residues Cys466 and Cys475 that form disulfide bridges (Appenzeller et al., 1999; Lahtinen et al., 1999). Mutation of one of the cysteines abolished hexamere formation. If both cysteines are mutated, ERGIC-53 is only present in its monomeric form (Nufer et al., 2003). Moreover, efficient transport of ERGIC-53 was impaired, when Cys 475 was mutated. Surprisingly, when the two corresponding cysteines (Cys473, Cys482) were mutated in the rat homologue of ERGIC-53, p58, the subcellular distribution visualized by immunofluorescence was the same as observed for the wildtype, suggesting that its trafficking was unimpaired (Lahtinen et al., 1999). Later the same group published that an ERGIC-53 mutant where both cysteines had been substituted by alanines, still cofractionated with endogenous ERGIC-53 in a sucrose gradient (Neve et al., 2005). They proposed that ERGIC-53 exists only in hexamers and not in dimers. These hexamers are either formed by covalent disulfide-linked or non-covalently linked disulfide dimers (Neve et al., 2005). The different observations might be explained by the different experimental settings. The immunofluorescence data and the subcellular fractionation experiments provide information about the steady state. The pulse chaseexperiment focuses more on the kinetic behaviour of the ERGIC-53 mutants.

Efficient transport of ERGIC-53 also depends on an ER export motif localized in the cytoplasmic carboxyl-terminus, although additional determinants are required (Nufer et al., 2003). The diphenylalanine (FF) COPII interaction motif in position -1 and -2 mediates the anterograde transport (Kappeler et al., 1997). In addition disulfide bond-stabilized oligomerization, residues in the transmembrane domain and a glutamine residue in the cytoplasmic domain all support efficient ER export (Nufer et al., 2003). As ERGIC-53 cycles between the ER and the ERGIC, a motif mediating retrograde transport has also to be present. The dilysine COPI interaction motif in position -3 and -4 fulfils this requirements. A peptide

21

corresponding to the cytoplasmic tail of ERGIC-53 was shown to bind to COPI components (Kappeler et al., 1997). Similar results were obtained with the carboxy-terminus of ERGIC-53 coupled to GST. It was shown to bind to COPI and binding could be specifically inhibited by an antibody directed against the C-terminus (Tisdale et al., 1997).

ERGIC-53 binds to high mannose glycans in a Ca^{2+} dependent manner (Itin et al., 1996). The conserved Asp121 and Asn156 residues are involved in sugar ligand binding. Mutation of either of these residues abolished binding of ERGIC-53 to a mannose column (Itin et al., 1996). Binding of ERGIC-53 to mannose is pH sensitive. The binding affinity of ERGIC-53 for glycoproteins decreases below a pH of 7 (Appenzeller-Herzog et al., 2004). ERGIC-53 was shown to be involved in the transport of several glycoproteins. A Cathepsin Z related protein (CatZr) was the first glycoprotein shown to interact directly with ERGIC-53 (Appenzeller et al., 1999). As ERGIC-53 is a lectin it is likely that the interaction with its ligands is carbohydrate dependent. Accordingly, a carbohydrate binding-deficient ERGIC-53 mutant cannot interact with CatZr anymore (Appenzeller et al., 1999). Further investigation revealed that CatZr is identical to procathepsin Z. In addition to the N-glycan, a β-hairpin structure in procathepsin Z was also important for this interaction. This indicates that the interaction is not solely dependent on glycans (Appenzeller-Herzog et al., 2005). ERGIC-53 is also involved in the transport of cathepsin C (Vollenweider et al., 1998). Furthermore ERGIC-53 interacts with the chaperone ERp44 and together they are involved in the quality control of IgM polymerization and therefore their ER export (Anelli et al., 2007). Nyfeler et al (2008) added recently another important protein to the list of cargos. In a YFP-based protein fragment complementation based screen of a human liver library, alpha1-antitrypsin was identified as a cargo for ERGIC-53. ER to Golgi transport of al-AT was shown to be impaired upon ERGIC-53 knockdown. Mutations in the ERGIC-53 gene locus are the cause of combined deficiency of blood coagulation factors V and VIII, leading to a rare bleeding disorder. Affected individuals exhibit a reduction of plasma level of factor V and factor VIII by about 70-95% (Nichols et al., 1998). Further work on this subject revealed that transport of blood coagulation factors is not mediated by ERGIC-53 alone. ERGIC-53 associates with the soluble glycoprotein MCFD2 (multiple coagulation factor deficiency 2) in a Ca^{2+} -dependent manner (Zhang et al., 2003). The sequence of events in ERGIC-53/MCFD2/FactorVIII complex formation is not entirely solved. The current model suggests that factor VIII binds to MCFD2 in a carbohydrate-independent manner and that this complex is further stabilized by ERGIC-53 which interacts with MCFD2 as well as with carbohydrate side chains of factor VIII (Zhang et al., 2005). MCFD2 is not involved in binding to the other glycoproteins like

cathepsin C or cathepsin Z to ERGIC-53 (Nyfeler et al., 2006). All these examples show that ERGIC-53 serves as a transport receptor for soluble glycoproteins. Therefore it is surprising that ERGIC-53 was also found to interact with the membrane protein FGF receptor 3 (Lievens et al., 2008). Again this interaction was shown to be carbohydrate dependent.

Overall the role of ERGIC-53 is to facilitate export of different glycoproteins from the ER. Upon change in the concentration of Ca^{2+} and the pH in the ERGIC, the affinity for glycoproteins drop and cargo is released. After ERGIC-53 has released its cargo it can recycle back to the ER for another round of transport.

1.3.2 VIP36 (vesicular integral membrane protein of 36kDa)

VIP36 was originally discovered in an attempt to identify proteins involved in apical and basolateral sorting at the *trans*-Golgi (Fiedler et al., 1994). VIP36 seems to have appeared quite late in evolution as orthologs are only present in higher organisms. VIP36 is expressed in many organs like liver, kidney, intestine or spleen. Only low expression levels of VIP36 have been detected in the brain and in the heart on mRNA levels (Fiedler and Simons, 1996). VIP36 has a 44 aa signal sequence, a lectin like domain, a transmembrane domain and a cytoplasmic tail. In contrast to ERGIC-53, VIP36 seems only to exist as a monomer. The luminal domain of VIP36 is not able to form disulphide linked oligomeres or stable-non-covalent oligomeres (Fiedler and Simons, 1996). VIP36 has an N-glycosylation site and becomes complex glycosylated in the Golgi apparatus (Fiedler and Simons, 1996; Fullekrug et al., 1999). Two hours after synthesis most of endogenous VIP36 is found to be complex glycosylated (Fullekrug et al., 1999). VIP36 is a relatively short-lived protein with a half-life of only 5 hours (Neve et al., 2003).

While there is general agreement that VIP36 is a sugar binding L-type lectin, there is no final consensus on its intracellular localization. Overexpressed myc-tagged VIP36 was found to localize to the Golgi apparatus, vesicular structures, endosomes and the plasma membrane (Fiedler et al., 1994). A follow-up study by the same group revealed that endogenous VIP36 localizes mainly to the cis/medial Golgi and pre-Golgi structures (Fullekrug et al., 1999). Depending on the cell type, VIP36 was found in pre-or post Golgi compartments. In Vero cells, VIP36 was detected in the intermediate compartment (Fullekrug et al., 1999). In GH3 cells (a rat pituitary cell line), VIP36 was localized by electron microscopy also to 70-100nm pre-Golgi transport vesicles (Shimada et al., 2003a). In rat parotid acinar cells, VIP36 was detected in post-Golgi secretory vesicles (Shimada et al., 2003b). In MDCK cells VIP36 was even found at the plasma membrane (Hara-Kuge et al., 2002).

Which motifs/signals regulate the trafficking of VIP36 was never investigated. Therefore, we can only speculate on possible functional motifs. The carboxyl-terminus of VIP36 contains a potential retrieval motif. It is formed by a lysine in position -4 and an arginine in position -3 (KRXX). This motif resembles a dilysine (KKXX), COPI-binding, retrieval motif. Therefore, it is likely that VIP36 cycles within the secretory pathway. This is supported by the observation that endogenous VIP36 localized to the ERGIC after BFA treatment (Füllekrug et al., 1999). Dahm et al (2001) used fluorescence recovery after photobleaching (FRAP) experiments to study VIP36 trafficking. They used a C-terminally YFP-tagged version of VIP36. According to their data, VIP36 is transported from the ER to the Golgi with a halftime of 105±39 minutes. The retrograde transport of VIP36 is much faster. The half-time for Golgi-to-ER transport was only 1.67 \pm 0.45minutes. This extremely fast retrograde transport suggests that the KRXX-motif of VIP36 is very potent. However, it has to be mentioned here that the authors used a C-terminally tagged VIP36. This should actually have inactivated this position-dependent motif. Why this was not the case, remains elusive. Thus, these results should be taken cautiously.

As a lectin, VIP36 is supposed to bind glycoproteins. Several attempts were made to gain further insight in its affinity for glycans and specificity for different sugar groups. Originally the luminal domain of VIP36 bound to glycopeptides isolated from [³H]galactose-labeled cells. These glycopeptides could be eluted with GalNac. Glycopeptides isolated from $[^{3}H]$ mannose-labeled cells did not bind to the column. The authors concluded that VIP36 binds to N-acetyl-D-galactosamine found in O-linked glycans (Fiedler and Simons, 1996). These results were challenged by later studies. Yamashita's group performed binding experiments of post-nuclear supernatant proteins to the purified VIP36-CRD (Hara-Kuge et al., 1999). This binding could be competed by the addition of Man₇₋₉GlcNAc₂ high mannose type glycopeptides. The discrepancy in the results was explained by the fact that in the study of Fiedler and Simons (1996) [³H]mannose-labeled glycopeptides were created by the digestion with pronase. Pronase can hydrolyze high mannose type glycans and could have led to reduced binding to VIP36 (Hara-Kuge et al., 1999). Frontal affinity chromatography (FAC) experiments confirmed the findings of Yamashita's group (Kamiya et al., 2005). FAC data showed a preference of VIP36 for high mannose type oligosaccharides containing eight, nine and seven mannose residues. VIP36 preferred isomers containing the Mana1-2- Mana1-2Man branch (D1) (Kamiya et al., 2005). According to these data, VIP36 would have the highest affinity for glycoproteins before the D1 arm is trimmed by the Golgi mannosidase-I in the cis-Golgi. Thus, VIP36 is assumed to bind glycoproteins before they are processed in the

Golgi. VIP36 binds these glycoproteins in a pH-dependent manner. As revealed by FAC data VIP36-CRD shows an optimal sugar binding at a pH value of 6.5. This mildly acidic pH is usually found in the early Golgi (Kim et al., 1996; Wu et al., 2001). The pH of the ER is typically around 7.4 (Wu et al., 2001) and the pH of the ERGIC (although never formally shown) is expected to be between that of the ER and the Golgi. Based on these data, VIP36 should bind glycoproteins in the ERGIC or the cis-Golgi.

The residues Asp-131, Asn-166, His-190 in the CRD of VIP36 seem to play a major role in sugar binding. Mutation of Asp-131 diminished binding of VIP36-CRD to proteins of a postnuclear supernatant (Hara-Kuge et al., 1999). The involvement of Asn-166 in sugar binding is concluded from the fact that this residue is conserved in ERGIC-53. His-190 is also a conserved residue, mutation of which abolished sugar binding of the purified VIP36 CRD to its sugar ligands (Kamiya et al., 2005). All these experimental findings were confirmed by cocrystallization of the luminal part of VIP36 together with its carbohydrate ligand. All three residues (Asp131, Asn-166 and His190) were found to form the binding site and interact directly with carbohydrate ligands (Satoh et al., 2007). In addition also Gly260, Asp261 and Leu262 bind via hydrogen bonds to the mannose of the carbohydrate ligand (Satoh et al., 2007). The binding of leguminous lectins to their carbohydrate ligands is in general Ca^{2+} and Mn²⁺dependent. Mn²⁺ allows binding of Ca²⁺ (Sharon and Lis, 1990). There are two conserved residues in plant L-type lectins, an aspartate and a glutamate residue that are required for Mn^{2+} binding. These two residues are not conserved in mammalian L-type lectins. This suggests that mammalian L-type lectins do not need Mn^{2+} for sugar binding. In fact sugar binding of VIP36 seems to be only Ca²⁺dependent (Fiedler and Simons, 1996) although there are also controversial data on this fact. Hara-Kuge et al (1999) found that the purified CRD of VIP36 bound glycoproteins independently of Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺. In contrast crystallization data supported the Ca2+ dependency. Crystals of VIP36 could only be obtained in a Ca2+ bound form. Additionally, calcium binding showed to fix the position of three residues involved in sugar binding, indicating that calcium is required for sugar binding (Satoh et al., 2007).

Several attempts have been made to identify cargos for VIP36. Potential interaction partners are α -amylase, clusterin and BiP. Hara Kuge et al (2002) chose to investigate VIP36's interaction with clusterin, as clusterin is a main secretory glycoprotein in MDCK cells. VIP36 co-immunoprecipitated with clusterin and seems to be involved in its transport. Although it remains to be elucidated at which stage of transport VIP36 is actually involved. α -amylase was detected together with VIP36 in secretory vesicles of the rat parotid gland. VIP36 bound

to high mannose containing amylase in these secretory vesicles (Hara-Kuge et al., 2004). The antibody used in this study to detect VIP36 might also detect VIPL, therefore it is not entirely clear that it is really VIP36, that α -amylase interacts with. Another important point is that VIP36 is for sure not involved in the late steps of secretion of human amylase. Human amylase is secreted in a complex glycosylated and a non-glycosylated variant. Both are not able to interact with VIP36. Another protein that was found to interact with VIP36 was BiP (Nawa et al., 2007). Complex glycosylated VIP36 interacts with BiP in a carbohydrate independent manner. The authors proposed that VIP36 binds to misfolded glycoproteins at the level of the Golgi and cycles them back to the ER. There it delivers the misfolded glycoproteins to the ER chaperone BiP. All these results show that the function of VIP36 is still not clarified.

1.3.3 VIP36-like protein (VIPL)

VIPL was identified by a profile based data base scanning for L-type lectins (Nufer et al., 2003). In the same year the group of Petterson found VIPL during a database search using the conserved carbohydrate recognition domain as a search string (Neve et al., 2003). VIPL exhibits 68% similarity to VIP36 (Fig. 6). There are orthologs of VIPL in mouse, fly, worm and S. pombe, but not in S.cervisiae. VIPL is expressed in several organs. The highest level was found in skeletal muscles and in the kidney. Like VIP36, VIPL is a type I transmembrane protein and has also an N-glycosylation site. But in contrast to VIP36, VIPL does not become complex glycosylated (Neve et al., 2003; Nufer et al., 2003)

Until now it was not possible to define the subcellular localization of endogenous VIPL due to its low expression level. Overexpressed VIPL was found to localize to the ER by immunofluorescence and subcellular fractionation (Nufer et al., 2003). Neve et al (2003) detected overexpressed VIPL partly at the level of the Golgi. VIPL carries the same potential export motif (FY at position -1 and -2) as VIP36 in its cytoplasmic carboxyl-terminus. In contrast to VIP36 (KR at position -4 and -3), VIPL has an efficient ER retention motif in its C-terminus (RKR at position -5 to -3). This explains why upon BFA treatment, VIPL showed no alterations in its subcellular distribution and continued to show a pure ER pattern. This might indicate that VIPL does not cycle between the ER and the Golgi. Interestingly, substitution of the whole RKR retention motif by serines localized VIPL to the plasmamembrane (Nufer et al., 2003). Like its homologue VIP36, VIPL binds to high mannose residues (Yamaguchi et al., 2007). It shows a binding profile comparable to VIP36, with a preference for deglucosylated trimannose in the D1 branch (Kamiya et al., 2008). In contrast to VIP36, which binds to sugars at rather low pH, VIPL shows most efficient binding at pH 7.5, which is a value found in the ER. The physiologic function of VIPL is poorly understood. VIPL may be involved in glycoprotein secretion. Upon VIPL knockdown the secretion of two non-further characterized glycoproteins decreased (Neve et al., 2003). The VIPL orthologue in zebrafish embryos is involved in early development. Zebrafish embryos lacking VIPL are touch insensitive (Golling et al., 2002). The mechanism leading to this observation still needs to be clarified. Also its principal role in the secretory pathway is not clear. VIPL overexpression was shown to change the localization of ERGIC-53 to the ER, indicating that some sort of interplay exists between the two proteins (Nufer et al., 2003). It has been suggested that VIPL might bind to proteins released from the calnexin-calreticulin cycle and hand them over to ERGIC-53 (Yamaguchi et al., 2007).

1.3.4 ERGL (ERGIC-53 like)

ERGL was identified in a prostate specific EST-cluster.

ERGL was only detected in prostate, spleen, salivary gland and in parts of the brain on mRNA level. Until now no data on protein expression are available. ERGL shows high homology to ERGIC-53 (Fig. 6), but its carboxyl-terminus lacks an ER-export or retrieval motif (Yerushalmi et al., 2001). Like ERGIC-53, ERGL has a transmembrane domain. Interestingly there seems to be a splice variant lacking the transmembrane domain, indicating that there is a soluble form of this protein. Further work on its subcellular localization and its function needs to be conducted.

sp P49257 LMAN1_HUMAN	MAGSRQRGLRARVRPLFCALLLSLGRFVRGDG 32
sp Q12907 LMAN2_HUMAN	-MAAEGWIWRWGWGRRCLGRPGLLGPGPGPTTPLFLLLLLGSVTADIT 47
sp Q9H0V9 LMA2L_HUMAN	MAATLGPLGSWQQWRRCLSARDGSRMLLLLLLGSGQGPQQVG 43
	* * * * *
splP49257 LMAN1 HUMAN	VGGDPAVALPHRRFFYKYSFKGPHLVOSDGTVPFWAHAGNATPSSDOTRV 82
sp Q9HAT1 LMA1L HUMAN	CPPLRRFEYKLSFKGPRLALPGAGIPFWSHHGDAILGLEEVRL 69
sp Q12907 LMAN2_HUMAN	DGNSEHLKREHSLIKPYQGVGSSSMPLWDFQGSTMLTSQYVRL 90
sp Q9H0V9 LMA2L_HUMAN	AGQTFEYLKREHSLSKPYQGVGTGSSSLWNLMGNAMVMTQYIRL 87
sp P49257 LMAN1 HUMAN	APSLKSQRGSVWTKTKAAFENWEVEVTFRVTGRGRIGADGLAIWYAEN 130
sp Q9HAT1 LMA1L_HUMAN	TPSMRNRSGAVWSRASVPFSAWEVEVQMRVTGLGRRGAQGMAVWYTRG 117
sp Q12907 LMAN2_HUMAN	TPDERSKEGSIWNHQPCFLKDWEMHVHFKVHGTGKKNLHGDGIALWYTRD 140 TPDMOSKOGALWNPVPCFLPDWELOVHEKTHGOGKKNLHGDGIALWYTKD 127
SD Q SHOVS LHAZ L_HOHAN	:* *::*.: : **:.* ::: * *: .::*:*:
sp P49257 LMAN1_HUMAN	QGLEGPVFGSADLWNGVGIFFDSFDNDGKKNNPAIVIIGNNGQIHYD 177
sp Q9HAT1 LMAIL_HUMAN sp Q12907 LMAN2_HUMAN	RGHVGSVLGGLASWDGIGIFFDSPAEDTQ-DSPAIRVLASDGHIPSE 163 RLVRGRVFGSKDNFHGLAIFLDTYPNDE-TTERVFRVISVMVNMGSLSVD 189
sp 09H0V9 LMA2L HUMAN	RMOPGPVFGSRDNFRGLAVFVDTYPNEEKOOERVFPYISAMVNNGSLSYD 187
· · ~ · _	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
SD P49257 LMANI_HUMAN	HQNDGASQALASCQRDFRNKPYPVRAKITYYQNTLTVMINNGFTPDKNDY 227 OBGDGASOGI GSCHWDEDNDEHEEDADITYYWGODI PMSINSGI TBS-DBG 212
sp 012907 LMAN2_HUMAN	HSKDGRWTELAGCTADERNRDHDTFLAVRYSRGRLTVMTDLEDKNEW 236
sp Q9H0V9 LMA2L_HUMAN	HERDGRPTELGGCTAIVRNLHYDTFLVIRYVKRHLTIMMDIDGKHEW 234
	: ** ** .** : : * * : :
sp P49257 I.MAN1 HIIMAN	EFCAKVENMITPAOCHECTSAATCCLADDHDVLSELTEOLTEPCKEPPTP 277
sp Q9HAT1 LMA1L HUMAN	EFCVDVGPLLLVPGGFFGVSAATGTLADDHDVLSFLTFSLSEPSPEVPPQ 262
sp Q12907 LMAN2_HUMAN	KNCIDITGVRLPTGYYFGASAGTGDLSDNHDIISMKLFQLMVEHTP 282
sp Q9H0V9 LMA2L_HUMAN	RDCIEVPGVRLPRGYYFGTSSITGDLSDNHDVISLKLFELTVERTP 280
	. * .: : : .** *: ** *:*:*:*: *.*
sp P49257 LMAN1 HUMAN	DKEISEKEKEKYQEEFEHFQQELDKKKEEFQKGHPDLQGQPAEEIFESVG 327
sp Q9HAT1 LMA1L_HUMAN	PFLEMQQLRLARQLEGLWARLGLGTREDVTPKSDSEAQGEGERLFDLEET 312
sp Q12907 LMAN2_HUMAN	
SD Q9H0V9 LMA2L_HOMAN	
sp P49257 LMAN1_HUMAN	DRELRQVFEGQNRIHLEIKQLNRQLDMILDEQRRYVSSLTEEISKRGA 375
sp Q9HAT1 LMAIL_HUMAN sp Q12907 LMAN2_HUMAN	LGRHRRILQALRGLSKQLAQAERQWKKQLGPPGQARPDGGWALDASCQIP 362
sp 09H0V9 LMA2L HUMAN	
··~ _	
1540057153031	
sp 09HAT1 LMAN1_HUMAN	GMPGQHGQITQQBLDTVVKTQHEILKQVNEMKNSMSETVKLVSGMQHPGS 425 STPGRGGHLSMSLNKDSAKVGALLHGOWTLLOALOEMRDAAVRMAAEAOV 412
sp Q12907 LMAN2 HUMAN	DEESIDWTKIEPSVNFLKSPKDNVDDPTGNFRSG 316
sp Q9H0V9 LMA2L_HUMAN	307
	. :.::
splP49257/LMAN1 HUMAN	AGGVYETTOHETDIKEHLHIVKEDIDNLVOENMESNEKEKCPELPEESC 475
sp Q9HAT1 LMA1L_HUMAN	SYLPVGIEHHFLELDHILGLLQEELRGPAKAAAKAPRPPGQPPRASSC 460
sp Q12907 LMAN2_HUMAN	PLTGWR 322
sp Q9H0V9 LMA2L_HUMAN	PLSGLA 313
sp P49257 LMAN1_HUMAN	LSTVHFIIFVVVQTVLFIGYIMYRSQQEAAAKKFF 510
sp Q9HAT1 LMA1L_HUMAN	LQPGIFLFYLLIQTVGFFGYVHFRQELNKSLQECLSTGSLPLGPAPHTPR 510
SDIQ12907LLMAN2_HUMAN	VFLLLLCALLGIVVCAVVGAVVFQKRQERN-KRFY 356
SPIZ2110421 TURST 1001AM	: : :* : : : :.
sp P49257 LMAN1_HUMAN	
spigemattilmail_HUMAN spigemattilman2_HUMAN	ADGIEKKÜRFRADMEN 270
sp Q9H0V9 LMA2L_HUMAN	

Figure 6: Sequence alignment of L-type lectins in mammals: Alignment of the four human version of ERGIC-53 (LMAN1) ERGL (LMAN1L), VIP36 (LMAN2) and VIPL (LMAN2L). The sequence alignment was performed using Clustal W software (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/clustalw2/index.html). Blue: acidic amino acids (D,E), red: small hydrophobic amino acids (A, V, F, P, M, I, L, W), magenta: basic residues(R, K) and green: amino acids containing hydroxyl and amine residues (S, T, Y, H, C, N, G, Q).

1.3.5 Calnexin and Calreticulin

Calnexin and calreticulin are both involved in ER quality control. Calreticulin was originally identified as a calcium binding protein in the sarcoplasmic reticulum of the skeletal muscle (Ostwald and MacLennan, 1974). The authors termed it high-affinity calcium binding protein. Several years later, Calreticulin was rediscovered, but the authors named it CAB-63/calregulin (Waisman et al., 1985). There, it was described as a new calcium binding protein from bovine liver. In the same year, a protein called ERp60 was discovered, that later turned out to be also the same as calreticulin (Lewis et al., 1985). Later on, calreticulin was rediscovered a fourth time as CRP55, a major calcium binding protein in the lumen of the ER (Macer et al., 1988). The name calreticulin was proposed by Koch's group, describing that this protein binds calcium and that it localizes to the endoplasmic reticulum (Smith and Koch, 1989). Also calnexin was discovered under different names (pp90, p88, IP90) by several groups. Wada et al (1991) identified the phosphoprotein pp90 during their search for proteins that were phosphorylated by the kinase activity associated with ER membranes. They noticed a high sequence similarity with calreticulin and therefore they proposed the name calnexin (Wada et al., 1991). Degen and Williams (1991) found p88 in search of interaction partners for class I histocompatibility molecules. There it was already suggested that the dissociation of the class I molecules from p88 might be a rate limiting step in ER to Golgi transport. Hochstenbach et al (1992) identified IP90 as a 90kDa protein that immunoprecipitated with the T-cell receptor, during its assembly.

Calreticulin is a luminal protein and calnexin is a type I membrane protein. They share several features and have an overall sequence similarity of 39% (Williams, 2006). Both proteins are composed of a P-domain and a globular domain. The globular domain is responsible for sugar binding. This lectin-like domain interacts with the terminal glucose residue that is found in the core oligosaccharide (Glu₁Man₉GlcNac₂). This oligosaccharide is formed after cleavage of Glu₃Man₉GlcNac₂ by the ER glucosidases. Both, Calnexin and calreticulin bind ATP but do not possess ATPase activity (Ou et al., 1995; Corbett et al., 2000). Whether ATP binding is absolutely required for sugar binding in vivo remains unanswered.

The ER localization of calnexin is mediated by the RKPRRE sequence (Rajagopalan et al., 1994). As a soluble protein, Calreticulin has a KDEL retrieval sequence to ensure its ER localization (Sonnichsen et al. 1994). Additionally, its calcium binding domain seems also to contribute to the ER localization of calreticulin but the mechanism behind this is not clear.

Calreticulin and Calnexin bind transiently to membrane and soluble glycoproteins and the interaction is prolonged if these glycoproteins are misfolded or misassembled. Both proteins

have specificity for monoglucosylated polymannose proteins (Hammond and Helenius, 1994). This was initially shown for calnexin by the Helenius group who found that calnexin bound to an ER retained temperatures sensitive mutant of VSVG, in its monoglucosylated form (Hammond et al., 1994). Additionally, treatment with glucosidase inhibitors like castanospermine or deoxyonjirimicin inhibits association of calnexin with its substrate (Hammond et al., 1994; Helenius et al., 1997). Calnexin and calreticulin show a high degree of similarity and therefore it is not surprising that they can partially associate also with the same glycoproteins. The influenza hemagglutinin (HA), a transmembrane glycoprotein, interacted with calnexin and also calreticulin simultaneously (Hebert et al., 1997). They can also bind both to class I MHC molecules, but in this case consecutive binding was observed. First calnexin associates with the heavy chain of MHC-I, but as soon as the heavy chain has oligometized with the β 2-microglobulin subunit it is replaced by calreticulin (Sadasivan et al., 1996). Some other glycoproteins bind exclusively only to one of the two chaperones. Keller et al (1998) found that the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor α -chain only associated with calnexin, but not with calreticulin. By contrast, coagulation factor V was shown to interact only with calreticulin, but not with calnexin (Pipe et al., 1998).

As with all lectins, it remains a matter of debate whether calnexin/calreticulin only bind to the glycans on proteins or whether they also interact with the protein directly. A study of Ihara et al. (1999) suggested that calnexin detects unfolded regions in a protein and binds to them. Additional evidence for a lectin-independent activity came from studies with mutants lacking lectin function. Lectin-deficient mutants of calnexin and calreticulin were still able to work as a functional chaperone in MHC-I processing (Leach and Williams, 2004; Ireland et al., 2008).

1.3.6 ER degradation enhancing α -mannosidase-like proteins (EDEMs)

EDEMs are proteins that are involved in ER associated degradation (ERAD) (Olivari and Molinari, 2007). So far three isoforms have been discovered: EDEM1, EDEM2 and EDEM3 (Mast et al., 2005; Olivari et al., 2005; Hirao et al., 2006). Originally it seemed that EDEM1 is a type II integral membrane protein. This was suggested using HA-tagged EDEM1 overexpressed in COS cells (Hosokawa et al., 2001). Later it turned out that all EDEMs are soluble ER localized proteins (Olivari et al., 2005; Hirao et al., 2006; Olivari and Molinari, 2007). An inefficient cleavage of the signal sequence in different cell lines might explain the different results. All EDEMs are N-glycosylated proteins, containing high mannose residues indicating that they are not transported to the Golgi apparatus. They all show sequence similarity to α -1,2 mannosidases. Until recently, EDEM1 and EDEM2 were considered to lack enzymatic activity. Meanwhile, a recent paper demonstrated increased de-mannosylation

activity upon overexpression of EDEM1, although a direct proof for enzymatic activity is still missing (Olivari et al., 2006). EDEM3 was also shown to have α -1,2 mannosidase activity. Overexpressed EDEM3 stimulated mannose trimming of a misfolded α 1-antitrypsin mutant and accelerated its degradation. A catalytic inactive mutant of EDEM3, had no effect on mannose processing and showed only slight acceleration of ERAD (Hirao et al., 2006). This again suggests that EDEM3 is catalytically active.

Htm1p the yeast homolog of EDEM, that is implicated in ERAD of glycoproteins, is catalytically inactive (Jakob et al., 2001). EDEM1 binds preferentially to glycoproteins containing a Man₈GlcNac₂ glycan, a modification which has been shown to serve as a tag for degradation in yeast (Jakob et al., 1998). EDEM1 and EDEM2 overexpression accelerates the degradation of misfolded α 1-antitrypsin (Hosokawa et al., 2001; Olivari et al., 2005). EDEM1 was shown to interact directly with calnexin (Molinari et al., 2003). This indicates that EDEM accepts misfolded glycoproteins directly from calnexin. Overexpression of EDEM1 enhances this process leading to an accelerated degradation of the terminally misfolded substrate (Hosokawa et al., 2006). EDEM1 prevents aggregation of ERAD substrates, which would disturb retrotranslocation. EDEM was further shown to inhibit aggregation of a folding defective α 1-antitrypsin mutant or BACE457 (Hosokawa et al., 2006; Olivari et al., 2006). All these data show that EDEMs are somehow involved in ERAD, but the precise mechanisms need to be further elucidated.

1.3.7 OS-9 and XTP-3/Erlectin

OS-9 and XTP-3 are two lectin-like proteins with a role in ER associated degradation. OS-9 was originally discovered using a chromosome microdissection-based hybrid-selection strategy to identify genes upregulated in osteosarcoma (Su et al., 1996). XTP-3/erlectin was discovered in a proteomic approach in search for interaction partners of the Dickkopf coreceptor Kremen 2 (Cruciat et al., 2006). The yeast homologue Yos9p exhibits 15% identity with OS-9 and XTP-3 (Bhamidipati et al., 2005). Yos9p is part of a complex involved in ERAD of glycoproteins (Buschhorn et al., 2004; Bhamidipati et al., 2005; Kim et al., 2005; Szathmari et al., 2005). A similar role has been demonstrated for OS-9 and XTP-3 (Christianson et al., 2008). OS-9 and XTP-3 are both ER resident glycoproteins, containing high mannose glycans. Both were shown to interact via the SEL1 adaptor with Hrd1 (Hosokawa et al., 2008). Hrd1 is an ubiquitin ligase involved in ERAD. Knockdown of OS-9, but not of XTP-3 slowed down the degradation of a misfolded α 1-antitrypsin mutant (Christianson et al., 2008). A study by Hosokawa et al (2009) showed that OS-9 binds to *N*-glycans lacking the terminal mannose from the C-branch in vitro. This interaction is mediated

by the mannose 6-phosphate receptor homology (MRH) domain of OS-9. OS-9 interacts with the chaperone Grp94, which might improve substrate recognition (Christianson et al., 2008). XTP-3 has two MRH domains, which implicates that it is also involved in N-glycan recognition. XTP-3 bound to a misfolded antitrypsin mutant and this interaction was dependent on the MRH domain (Yamaguchi et al., 2009). Interestingly XTP-3 was also shown to interact with a misfolded non-glycosylated variant of transthyretin, that OS-9 could not bind (Christianson et al., 2008). Further work has to be conducted on the exact mode of actions of these two proteins,

1.3.8 Mannose-6 phosphate receptors

Mannose-6-phosphate receptors (MPRs) belong to the family of P-lectins (Dahms and Hancock, 2002). The P-lectins are characterized by the ability to recognize phosphorylated mannose residues. The P-lectins comprise only two members in mammals the cation dependent MPR (CD-MPR/MPR46) (Hoflack and Kornfeld, 1985) and the cation independent MPR/insulin-like growth factor II receptor (CI-MPR/MPR300) (Sahagian et al., 1981; Ghosh et al., 2003). They are both type-I transmembrane proteins that localize to the TGN, early sorting endosomes, late endosomes and also at the plasma-membrane (Geuze et al., 1985; Griffiths et al., 1988) The MPRs mediate the transport of lysosomal hydrolases to the lysosomes (Kyle et al., 1988; Jin et al., 1989). The interaction of the MPRs with the lysosomal enzymes occurs via binding to their mannose-6-phosphate (M6P) residues (Braulke and Bonifacino, 2009). Lysosomal hydrolases acquire this modification by phosphorylation of mannose residues in their high mannose glycan chains in the Golgi (Lazzarino and Gabel, 1989). Binding of MPRs to lysosomal enzymes occurs in the TGN (Geuze et al., 1985). CD-MPR has one M6P binding site and CI-MPR has two high affinity and one low affinity M6P binding site (Hancock et al., 2002; Reddy et al., 2004). The receptor-ligand complex is sorted into clathrin coated transport intermediates. The sorting signal for this process resides in the cytosolic tail of the MPRs. The minimal motif consists of DXXLL and is often surrounded by other acidic amino acids. These signals are known as acidic-cluster-dileucine signals (DDSDEDLL" in CI-MPR and EESEERDDHLL" in CD-MPR) (Johnson and Kornfeld, 1992a; Johnson and Kornfeld 1992b; Chen et al., 1997). This motif mediates interaction with clathrin adaptor proteins called GGAs (Puertollano et al., 2001; Zhu et al., 2001; Misra et al., 2002). In addition, the MPRs were shown to interact with AP-1, an adaptor protein found in clathrin-coated vesicles (Mauxion et al., 1996). After the receptor/ligand complex has reached the endosomes, dissociation of the MPR from the acidic hydrolases occurs and the MPR cycles back to the Golgi for another round of transport (Duncan and Kornfeld, 1988). As is

the problem with many lectins, the actual site where receptor and ligand dissociate is not clear. It is still a matter of debate if the MPR/ligand complexes enter early (Ludwig et al., 1991; Press et al., 1998; Waguri et al., 2003) or late endosomes (Bucci et al., 2000) and where the complex finally dissociates. Recycling of the MPR to the Golgi is achieved by TIP47 and the retromer complex. The retromer is a conserved complex of the five proteins Vps35p, 29p, 26p, 17p, and 5p, originally discovered in yeast. The complex is involved in transport from endosomes to the TGN (Seaman et al., 1997; Seaman et al., 1998; Haft et al., 2000). In cells derived from Vps26 knockout mice, the CI-MPR lost its Golgi localization and was found at the plasma membrane (Seaman, 2004). Several other proteins have been implicated in retrograde transport of MPRs like clathrin, AP-1 (Meyer et al., 2000; Meyer et al., 2001) and PACS-1 (Wan et al., 1998; Crump et al., 2001).

In addition to its role in lysosomal enzyme transport the CI-MPR has an important role in the regulation of IGF-II levels. About 10% of the CI-MPR escape the retrieval mechanism back to the TGN and reach the plasma-membrane where it is involved in the endocytosis of IGF-II. After internalization, IGF-II is targeted to lysosomes for degradation. The recognition of IGF-II occurs independently of mannose-phosphate residues (Ghosh et al., 2003). Although the MPRs comprise only two members, several proteins comprise a domain homologous to the MPRs (mannose 6-phosphate receptor homology :MRH) like glucosidase-II, OS-9 and XTP-3.

1.4 Quality control

Quality control of proteins ensures that only correctly folded and correctly assembly newly synthesized proteins can exit the ER. This requires correct co-and posttranslational processing. Problems in this process, either caused by changes in the protein structure due to genetic mutations or by environmental influences like temperature or pH changes, lead to misfolded proteins (Herczenik and Gebbink, 2008).

It is important for cell survival to avoid the formation or at least the longer persistence of misfolded proteins within a cell. Otherwise misfolded proteins form intra-or extracellular deposits and induce cellular toxicity (Broadly and Hartl, 2009). This mechanism is observed in the pathophysiology of many diseases like Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease or Huntington's disease (Herczenik and Gebbink, 2008). Misfolded proteins induce ER stress and this leads to a process called the unfolded protein response (UPR). UPR is an intracellular signalling pathway activated in response to accumulation of unfolded proteins in the ER. This includes transcriptional upregulation of proteins involved in quality control and protein transport (Ng et al., 2000; Nyfeler et al., 2003; Acosta-Alvear et al., 2007), attenuation of

global protein translation to reduce protein load and degradation of unfolded proteins. In case these mechanisms fail to restore the balance in the cell, apoptosis is induced by mitochondriadependent and independent mechanisms (Malhotra and Kaufman, 2007). As a cell wants to avoid all these negative effects, there are a couple of mechanisms involved in quality control of proteins (Ellgaard et al., 1999). Primary quality control affects all newly synthesized proteins in the ER and is therefore usually referred to as ER quality control (Ellgaard and Helenius, 2003). Secondary quality control is only necessary for selected proteins and protein families.

1.4.1 ER quality control

ER quality control was first discovered studying the intracellular transport of viral proteins. Different misfolded viral membrane proteins were shown to be retained at the site of synthesis (Gething et al., 1986; Kreis and Lodish, 1986). ER quality control is controlled by chaperone and co-chaperone proteins.

1.4.1.1 Chaperones

A main role in ER quality control is accomplished by chaperones. Chaperones are necessary to avoid aggregation, promote correct folding and correct assembly of the newly synthesized proteins and lead to their correct membrane translocation. Chaperones were originally defined as a family of unrelated classes of proteins that mediate the correct assembly of other polypeptides, but are not themselves components of the final functional structures (Ellis and Hemmingsen, 1989). In general they bind to protein folding intermediates, but not to correctly folded and assembled proteins. They recognize these folding intermediates via exposed hydrophobic patches or via exposed reactive cysteines. The lectin chaperones like calnexin and calreticulin also recognize sugar groups.

The major part of ER chaperones is made up by three families of heat shock proteins (Hsp) Hsp70, Hsp40 and Hsp90. The Hsp70 family includes BiP (immunoglobulin binding protein) which is also called glucose-regulated protein of 78 kDa (GRP78) and GRP170 (Ellgaard et al., 1999). BiP/Grp78 is one of the most widely studied and most abundant chaperones. It is involved in protein translocation by sealing the Sec61 translocation channel and by binding to freshly synthesized proteins as they leave the translocation channel to prevent them from slipping back (Vogel et al., 1990). BiP also helps in protein folding (Knittler and Haas 1992). Whereas interaction with newly synthesized proteins during the translocation process is only transient, BiP stays covalently bound to unfolded or aggregated proteins (Gething et al., 1986; Marquardt and Helenius, 1992). Two domains are important for BiP's chaperone function: the
N-terminal ATPase domain and the C-terminal substrate binding domain. These domains are conserved among the Hsp70s family members (Saibil, 2008). BiP binds predominantly aliphatic amino acids (Flynn et al., 1991; Blond-Eguindi et al., 1993). Binding as well as the release of the proteins is dependent on binding to and hydrolysis of ATP (Flynn et al., 1989) BiP also regulates the UPR as it binds to the three main proteins involved in ER stress response ATF6 (Shen et al., 2005), IRE1 (Okamura et al., 2000) and PERK (Bertolotti et al., 2000) and keeps them inactive. An increase in amount of folding intermediates will release BiP from ATF6, IRE1 or PERK, thereby increasing their activity and inducing the UPR. Much less is known about GRP170 the other ER localized member of the Hsp70's family. Its yeast homolog Lhs1 was shown to bind Kar2p/BiP where it might serve as a nucleotide exchange factor for Kar2p. Kar2p stimulates ATP hydrolysis of Lhs1p in return (Steel et al., 2004). Whether GRP170 works the same way in mammalian cells has to be investigated. GRP94/gp96 belongs to the Hsp90 family. It was found in a complex with BiP and newly synthesized immunoglobulin chains (Melnick et al., 1992). Later it was shown that the two chaperones work in a consecutive manner. BiP binds to a disulfide intermediate of the newly synthesized immunoglobulin chain. After BiP has released the protein, Grp94 binds to the fully oxidized form of the immunoglobulin chain (Melnick et al.; 1994). Substrates of Grp94 include mutant alpha-1-antitrypsin (Schmidt and Perlmutter, 2005) thyroglobulin (Kuznetsov et al., 1994) and apolipoprotein B (Linnik and Herscoitz, 1998). The ability to bind and hydrolyze ATP is essential for the function of GRP94 (Ostrovsky et al., 2009).

1.4.1.2 Co-chaperones

Chaperones are assisted by Co-chaperones like ERdjs or Sil1/BAP, but also by proline isomerases (PPIases, cyclophilins) or thiol-disuphide oxidoreductases (PDI, Ero1 α and β). ERdjs are members of the Hsp40s/DNAJ family (Qiu et al., 2006). So far seven isoforms have been discovered (Dudek et al., 2009) which all contain a J-domain. They interact with BiP via their J-domain and are able to stimulate ATP hydrolysis in vitro. ERdj3 binds to misfolded and unfolded proteins and recruits BiP (Shen et al., 2005). ERdj5/JPDI has in addition to its J-domain, a PDI-like domain and a thioredoxin domain (Cunnea et al., 2003; Hosoda et al., 2003). Erdj5 cleaves disulfide bonds of misfolded proteins and is involved in ER associated degradation (Ushioda et al., 2008).

Another BiP cofactor is Sil1/BAP. This protein works as a nucleotide exchange factor for BiP (Chung et al., 2002).

Thiol-disulfide-oxidoreductases and peptidyl-prolyl-isomerases are factors that assist chaperones. Thiol-disulfide oxidoreductases catalyse oxidation, isomerisation and reduction

of disulfide bonds. Inter- and intramolecular disulfide bond formation is a rate-limiting step in the process of protein folding (Hatahet and Ruddok, 2007; Creighton, 1979). The protein disulfide isomerase (PDI) family plays an important role in the correct disulfide bond formation. The PDI family comprises 19 members (Appenzeller-Herzog and Ellgaard, 2008). They all share a domain that is homologous to the cytosolic reductase thioredoxin and is therefore called thioredoxin-like domain which is characterized by a CXXC motif (Ellgaard and Ruddock, 2005). During disulfide bond formation the two cysteines in the CXXC motif become reduced and are re-oxidized by the flavoenzyme Ero1. There are two isoforms in humans, Ero 1-L α and Ero 1-L β (Cabibo et al., 2000; Pagani et al., 2000). In addition, PDI is involved in disposal of misfolded proteins via ERAD (Molinari et al., 2002). Another important member of the PDI family is Erp57, an oxidoreductase specialized on glycoproteins (Molinari and Helenius, 1999; Oliver et al., 1999). Erp57 interacts with calnexin and calreticulin (Ellgaard et al., 2001; Frickel et al., 2002; Leach et al., 2002). It is involved in correct folding of several glycoproteins like clusterin and several integrins (Jessop et al., 2007). The activity of Erp57 seems to depend on the lectin activity of calnexin/calreticulin. Treatment with glucosidase inhibitors that inhibit association of glycoproteins with calnexin and calreticulin was found to inhibit also their association with Erp57 (Di Jeso et al., 2005). Thiol-oxidoreductases, especially Erp44 are involved in a process called thiol-mediated retention (Isidoro et al., 1996; Reddy and Corley, 1998; Anelli et al., 2003; Anelli et al., 2007). The thiol-oxidoreductase interacts with free cysteines of the substrate and keeps it thereby in the ER. One example for thiol-mediated retention was shown for IgMs. B-cells usually do not secrete IgM, because thiol-mediated retention inhibits IgM secretion. Mutation of Cys575 in IgM inhibits its thiol-medited retention by Erp44 and therefore IgM becomes secreted (Alberini et al., 1990; Anelli et al., 2003). Erp44 cooperates with ERGIC-53 to allow only export of correctly assembled IgM polymers (Anelli et al., 2007).

Finally, peptidyl-prolyl isomerases catalyze the *cis-trans* isomerisation of peptidyl-prolyl bonds (Gothel and Marahiel, 1999; Chantal et al., 2008). Three main families exist. The cyclophilins, the FK506-binding proteins (FKBP) and the parvulins. Cyclophilins and FKBP interact with chaperones in the ER. Mouse FKBP32 was shown to interact with BiP in a calcium dependent manner and to modulate its ATPase activity (Zhang et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2007). Cyclophilin has been found to be part of a whole ER chaperoning network (Meunier et al., 2002). This network consists of BiP, GRP94, CaBP1, PDI, ERdj3, cyclophilin B, ERp72, GRP170, UDP-glucosyltransferase and SDF2-L1.

1.4.1.3 N-glycan dependent quality control-the calnexin/calreticulin cycle

Glycoproteins undergo a different kind of quality control than non-glycoproteins. This Nglycan dependent quality control was initially postulated by Hammond and Helenius (1994). The initial step in N-glycan dependent quality control is the addition of the 14 saccharide core unit (Glc₃Man₉GlcNAc₂) from a dolichol P-P derivative to an Asn residues in an N-X-S/T motif in a nascent polypeptide chain (Helenius and Aebi, 2004). This glycan chain is then further modified through the action of two glucosidases (glucosidase I and glucosidase II). The resulting Glc₁Man₉GlcNAc₂ chain serves as a substrate for the ER resident lectin chaperones calnexin and calreticulin.

Two different modes have been proposed for CNX and CRT: the lectin-only-model (i.e. only sugar-dependent) and the dual binding model (i.e. sugar- and peptide-dependent). In the lectin-only-model the interaction is mediated primarily by monoglucosylated glycans. CNX and CRT showed the same affinity for monoglucosylated RNAseB irrespective of whether the protein was native or not (Rodan et al., 1996). In this model the lectin substrate is bound while other enzymes/proteins like Erp57 may act on it and influence its dissociation from CNX/CRT (Kornfeld and Kornfeld, 1985; Oliver et al., 1999). The lectin-only model is supported by experiments with the glucosidase inhibitor castanospermine. Castanospermine blocks glucose trimming of the core oligosaccharide preventing binding to CNX or CRT. Treatment with castanospermine inhibited association of tyrosinase with calnexin which resulted in a more rapid folding, but also in an inactive enzyme (Branza-Nichita et al., 1999).

The dual binding model proposes that a combined interaction with the oligosaccharide and the protein backbone occurs (Ihara et al., 1999). In this model CNX/CRT would bind for example hydrophobic patches in non-native glycoproteins and thereby suppress their aggregation (Williams, 2006). A combination of glycans and polypeptide determinants would increase the affinity for a substrate. Zhang et al (1995) proposed a model where the glycans are only important for initial substrate binding. As soon as the complex between calnexin and its substrate is formed the sugar would be less or not important anymore. In this model dissociation would occur after glucose trimming by glucosidase-II combined with a conformational change of the substrate.

If the protein is not correctly folded it is reglucosylated by the UDP-Glc: glycoprotein glucosyltransferase (GT) (Parodi et al., 1984). GT is primarily a soluble ER resident protein, but it also localizes to pre-Golgi intermediates (Zuber et al., 2001). So far two isoforms of GT have been discovered in mammalian cells (Arnold, 2000). They share about 55% sequence identity. But only the isoform GT1 seems to be functional, at least in an in vitro assay. GT utilizes UDP-glucose as a glucosyl donor. GT adds a single glucose to the terminal mannose

of the α (1-3)- α (1-2) branch/A-branch and forms again the Glc₁Man₉GlcNAc₂ chain (Helenius et al., 1997; Van Leeuwen and Kearse, 1997). The activity of GT depends on calcium (Trombetta and Parodi, 1992) and the amount of mannose molecules present in the oligosaccharide side chain of the substrate (usually between seven and nine). GT does not recognize high mannose oligosaccharides alone. The oligosaccharide needs to be attached to incompletely folded proteins where GT interacts with hydrophobic patches (Trombetta and Parodi, 1992; Caramelo et al., 2003). This suggests that GT is involved in a later step in glycoprotein folding. As soon as the glycoprotein is back in its monoglucosylated form, the glycoprotein re-enters the Calnexin/Calreticulin cycle to obtain correct folding (Fig.7). This process is repeated until the correct conformation is achieved (Van Leeuwe and Kearse, 1997; Wada et al., 1997). Some proteins need several turns of this cycle. This is for example true for the human β -secretase BACE 501. In contrast, the VSVG protein needs only one turn for complete folding (Soldá et al., 2007).



Figure 7 Calnexin/Calreticulin cycle: Proteins are translocated into the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum and the core oligosaccharide is added. Upon removal of two glucose residues by glucosidase I and glucosidase II, the glycoprotein enters the calnexin/calreticulin cycle in its monoglucosylated form [1.Calreticulin assists in the folding of the glycoprotein. The glycoprotein is released from CNX/CRT upon the cleavage of the glucose residue by glucosidase II (GluII) [2]. In case the protein is folded correctly it will be targeted for ER export [3b]. Otherwise it becomes reglucosylated by the UDP-glucose-glycoprotein transferase (GT) [3a] and the cycle starts from new [4]. In case the protein is terminally misfolded it will be targeted to ER associated degradation. This process is initiated by ER mannosidase I [3c] that cleaves one mannose residue from the B-branch of the glycoprotein. The protein is then bound by an unknown lectin (perhaps EDEM) and then subjected to degradation.

1.4.2 Secondary quality control

Secondary quality control includes different mechanisms that only apply for a specific set of proteins (Elgaard et al., 1999). Proteins involved in secondary quality control help in the assembly of the proteins or work as escort proteins. Typically these proteins are dedicated to assist only a particular protein. In yeast Vma12p-Vma22p assist the vacuolar H⁺-ATPase in the correct assembly of its subunits (Graham et al., 1998). Escort proteins assist their binding partner in trafficking through the secretory pathway. The receptor associated protein (RAP) binds to the lipoprotein receptor-related protein (LRP). This leads to aggregation of LRP and reduced ligand binding. As soon as the complex reaches the Golgi it dissociates upon pH change. The KDEL receptor binds to the HNEL sequence in the C-terminus of RAP and transports it back to the ER for another round of escort (Bu et al., 1995).

Some proteins need specialized chaperones for their folding. The large protein procollagen needs Hsp47 and prolyl-4-hydroxylase for its correct folding. Prolyl-4-hydroxylase recognizes and retains unfolded procollagen in the ER (Walmsley et al., 1999). Hsp47 seems to bind unfolded as well as correctly folded procollagen. Hsp47 binds to procollagen in the ER and releases it in the Golgi (Satoh et al., 1996).

If all quality control mechanisms fail to provide a correctly folded and correctly assembled protein, this terminally misfolded protein will be targeted to degradation.

1.4.3 ER-associated degradation (ERAD)

Terminally misfolded proteins undergo a degradation process known as ER associated degradation (ERAD). Around 30% of all newly synthesized proteins were shown to undergo this degradation process. Initial evidence for an ER associated degradation pathway came from work on the T-cell receptor complex where the degradation of some subunits could not be inhibited by lysosomal inhibitors. Therefore the idea came up that degradation either occurs in the ER itself or in an unidentified compartment (Chen et al., 1988; Lippincott-Schwartz et al., 1988). It was speculated that an unidentified protease might be involved in this process (Finger et al., 1993). Subsequent work in yeast showed that degradation did not occur in the ER itself. A loss of function mutant of an ubiquitin conjugating enzyme (UBC6) rescued the protein translocation defect induced by a Sec61 mutant (Sommer and Jentsch, 1993). The same results were obtained for the loss of function mutant of another ubiquitin conjugating enzyme (Biederer et al., 1996). These findings implied a role of the proteasome in the ER associated degradation. The first evidence that mammalian cells use a similar mechanism for protein disposal came from work on CFTR. CFTR is a transmembrane protein that works as a chloride channel. The folding of the wild type protein is already very

inefficient. Around 40% of the newly synthesized proteins are degraded (Lukacs et al., 1994). Jensen et al. (1995) found that ER associated degradation could be inhibited with proteasomal inhibitors. Upon proteasomal treatment a polyubiquitinated form of CFTR accumulated, indicating that degradation was dependent on ubiquitination (Ward et al., 1995). Further work showed that this process also applied to soluble proteins. Misfolded carboxypeptidase Y (CPY*) was shown to be degraded in a proteasome-dependent manner by retrotranslocation from the ER (Hiller et al., 1996).

There is a tight connection between chaperones and ERAD. Chaperones maintain solubility of the ERAD substrates. If ERAD substrates aggregate, they are not degraded and accumulate. Lumenal soluble proteins are targeted to the ERAD with the help of BiP (Nishikawa et al., 2001). In mammals BiP substrates subsequently interact with the cytoplasmic protein Herp. Knockdown of Herp affected specifically non-glycosylated BiP substrates, but had no effect on the degradation of glycosylated CNX/CRT-substrates (Okuda-Shimizu and Hendershot, 2007). Herp was found in a complex with derlin1 and the 26S proteasome and could therefore directly link the substrate to the proteasome. Membrane proteins with a large cytosolically localized portion need the help of cytosolic chaperones. Misfolded CFTR associates with cytoplasmic Hsc70. Drug induced dissociation of Hsc70 from the CFTR either by downregulation of Hsc70 or binding competition lead to an increased export of the protein. (Jiang et al., 1998; Rubenstein and Zeitlin, 2000). Certain co-factors help the chaperones to target the substrates to degradation. In the case of CFTR degradation the E3-ubiquitin-protein ligase CHIP acts as a co-factor for Hsc70.

ERAD processes for glycoproteins depend on a different subset of proteins. One of the proteins that play a major role in degradation is ER mannosidase I (Herscovics, 2001). ER mannosidase I is a slow-acting α 1,2-mannosidase. Inhibition of the ER mannosidase I by kifunensine and deoxymannojirimycin inhibits degradation of misfolded glycoproteins (Su et al., 1993). This has been shown for several glycoproteins like misfolded alpha1-antitrypsin (Liu et al., 1999) or ribophorin 1 (Kitzmüller et al., 2003). ER mannosidase I cleaves one mannose residue resulting in Man₈GlcNac₂ isomer B. This serves two purposes. First the affinity of GT for mannose trimmed substrates is much lower and reglucosylation is less likely to occur (Sousa et al., 1992). Second this glycan is the ideal target for the lectin-like proteins EDEMs (ER degradation enhancing α -mannosidase-like proteins) (Hosokawa et al., 2001). It has been proposed that EDEMs accept substrates directly from calnexin and target them to degradation (Molinari et al., 2003; Oda et al., 2003). The cleavage of the mannose residue is therefore a rate limiting step in the degradation process. These observations led to

the mannose timer hypothesis (Su et al., 1993). The slow action of the mannosidase provides a window in which correct folding should occur. If the proteins are terminally misfolded, the ER mannosidase I finally cleaves the mannose residue and the protein is targeted to ERAD. It seems to be important that the mannose residue on the A branch, which serves as an acceptor for the glucose transferred by GT is removed (Foulquier et al., 2002; Frenkel et al., 2003; Kitzmüller et al., 2003; Foulquier et al., 2004). ER mannosidase also cleaves additional mannose residues from the B-branch but very high concentrations are required for this (Herscovics et al., 2002). To achieve such high levels in the cell, it would be necessary to concentrate the enzyme at certain sites. It has been suggested that this occurs in a special compartment termed ER quality control compartment (Kamhi-Nesher et al., 2001; Avezov et al., 2008). This compartment is probably a subcompartment of the ER and referred to as the ER quality control (ERQC) compartment. The ERAD substrate asialoglycoprotein receptor (H2a) accumulated in this compartment together with calnexin and calreticulin after proteasomal inhibition (Kamhi-Nesher et al., 2001). Beside the ER mannosidase also other proteins have been implicated in the process of mannose removal. The lectin-like proteins EDEM1, and EDEM3 were both shown to accelerate mannose removal upon overexpression (Hirao et al., 2006). Whether this is due to a direct or indirect effect remains to be clarified. Based on this we may have to modify the initial timer hypothesis. In this revised model mannose trimming and reglucosylation take turns, until the GT is not able to reglucosylate the protein anymore. Then the protein is targeted to ERAD (Lederkremer and Glickman, 2005). The group of Lederkremer provided a model where part of this process takes place in the ERQC. The ERAD substrate would move into the ERQC for mannose removal and then it recycles back to the peripheral ER for reglucosylation (Kamhi-Nesher et al., 2001).

Beside the oligosaccharide composition, the context of the N-glycan in the protein also contributes to the selection for ERAD (Spear and Ng, 2005; Mbonye et al., 2006; Mbonye et al., 2008). The misfolded protein CPY Δ 1 is recognized by the ER quality control machinery, but not targeted to ERAD. The deletion removed the N-glycosylation site nearest to the C-terminus. Experiments in htm1p deletion strains suggested that this glycan interacts specifically with htm1p and is thereby targeted to ERAD (Spear and Ng, 2005).

Protein retrotranslocation is assumed to occur via a channel. There is growing evidence that the translocation channel Sec61 could fulfill this role in yeast as well as in mammals (Wiertz et al., 1996; Plemper et al., 1997). Mutant Sec61, delayed for example, ERAD of CPY* in yeast (Plemper et al., 1997). However, there is growing evidence that retrotranslocation of misfolded proteins is not only achieved by Sec61, because retrotranslocation still occurs in

Sec61 mutants (Huyer et al., 2004). In addition not all soluble proteins seem to depend on Sec61 for retrotranslocation. In vitro experiments showed that retrotranslocation of nonglycosylated pro-alpha factor was dependent on Der1p (Degradation in the ER) rather than on Sec61 (Wahlman et al., 2007). Other studies support the view that Der1p may constitute part of the retrotranslocation channel in yeast (Knop et al., 1996; Carvalho et al., 2006). Der1p has three homologs in mammals: Derlin-1, Derlin-2 and Derlin-3 (Ye et al., 2004; Oda et al., 2006). There is increasing evidence suggesting that Derlin-1 might also constitute part of a retrotranslocation channel in mammals (Lilley and Ploegh, 2004; Ye et al., 2004; Younger et al., 2006). Beside derlins, the E3 ubiquitin ligases Doa10p and Hrd1 were also proposed to form a translocation channel. Both proteins are multispanning membrane proteins, which would allow intramembrane substrate recognition. They could play a role in degradation of misfolded integral membrane proteins (Nakatsukasa and Brodsky, 2008). Further work is needed to validate this hypothesis.

Retrotranslocated proteins destined for degradation are covalently modified by the attachment of ubiquitin molecules. This polyubiquitin chain may then function in a ratcheting mechanism, preventing the substrate of slipping back into the ER (Riezman, 1997; Tsai et al, 2002). Upon inhibition of ubiquitination proteins do not accumulate in the cytosol, but associate with the lumen of the ER (de Virgilio et al., 1998). This could mean that polyubiquitination is needed for the process of retrotranslocation itself. The polyubiquitin chain could also serve as a targeting signal recognized by ubiquitin binding proteins (Flierman et al., 2003).

Depending on the location of the defect, different ERAD pathways were suggested. ERAD-C is for proteins with a defect in their cytosolic domain, ERAD-M is for proteins with defects in their transmembrane region and ERAD-L is for proteins with defects in their luminal domain (Swanson et al., 2001; Vashist and Ng, 2004; Carvalho et al., 2006; Gauss et al., 2006). ERAD-C requires the ubiquitin ligase Doa10p (Swanson et al., 2001). ERAD-L needs a complex consisting of the transmembrane ubiquitin ligases Hrd1p/Hrd3p, Der1p and Usa1p. This complex associates with the lectin-like protein Yos9p. Hrd1p/Hrd3p is also necessary for ERAD-M, which differens from ERAD-L by being independent of Usa1p and Der1p. In addition to ubiquitination, glycoproteins are deglycosylated by peptide: N-glycanase (PNGase) before degradation (Hirsch et al., 2003; Blom et al., 2004). PNGase is able to distinguish between folded and unfolded proteins. However, PNGase is not essential for glycoprotein degradation.

Proteins belonging to the AAA+ family (ATPases associated with various cellular activities) play and important role in the degradation of misfolded proteins (Dai et al., 1998; Ye et al., 2001; Jarosch et al., 2002). In yeast the cytosolic ATPase complex named Cdc48p fulfils this role. Its mammalian homolog is called valosin containing protein (VCP)/p97. Cdc48/VCP/p97 forms a hexameric ring, which associates with the ER membrane and is thought to pull the ERAD substrate through its central pore out of the ER. Several studies showed that Cdc48p/VCP/p97 recognizes the ubiquitin tag of proteins directly (Dai and Li, 2001; Rape et al., 2001; Rabinovich et al., 2002). A chain of at least four ubiquitins is needed to send the protein to the proteasome (Jarosch et al., 2002). This polyubiquitin-tag is presumably recognized by polyubiqitin binding proteins that escort the substrates to the proteasome (Kim et al., 2004; Medicherla et al., 2004; Richly et al., 2005; Kim et al., 2006; Raasi and Wolf, 2007).

1.4.4 Post ER quality control

There is evidence that quality control continues beyond the ER (Arvan et al., 2002). In case quality control acts at a later step, the misfolded protein is either targeted back to the ER or is sent to the vacuole/lysosome for degradation. Most of this evidence originates from data obtained in yeast. The CPY cargo receptor Erv29p (Belden and Barlowe, 2001) was shown to be involved in degradation of a misfolded mutant of CPY (CPY*). Strains lacking Erv29p showed a stabilization of the misfolded protein, indicating that ER to Golgi transport is somehow involved in the degradation process (Caldwell et al., 2001). This could be possibly due to the need for a modification of the protein in the Golgi prior to degradation. A subsequent study by a different group showed that ER to Golgi transport in general is a prerequisite for ER associated degradation of CPY* (Taxis et al., 2002). Vashist et al (2001) compared degradation of a membrane and a soluble protein. They found that the membrane protein was directly retained in the ER while the soluble protein was transported to the Golgi in a COPII-dependent manner. From the Golgi, the protein is retrieved in COPI vesicles and subjected to ERAD. Post ER quality control was also shown to be present in mammalian cells. A misfolded VSVG mutant was not retained in the ER completely, reached the ERGIC and the cis-Golgi, but was then cycled back to the ER (Hammond an Helenius, 1994). During this transport round BiP remained bound to VSVG the whole time. Misfolding of VSVG which was trapped in ERES (by incubation at 10°C) did not allow exit from the ER. Instead VSVG was re-routed to the reticular ER. In contrast, misfolding of VSVG which was trapped in the ERGIC (by incubation at 15°C), did not result in its retrieval. Instead the protein was transported onward to the Golgi (Mezzacasa and Helenius, 2002). Another example for post

ER quality control was shown for the overexpressed T-cell receptor alpha chain (TCR α). When overexpressed, unassembled TCR α becomes degraded. However, unassembled TCR α cycles between ER and the Golgi. TCR α that escapes the ER remains bound to BiP. BiP is recognized by the KDEL receptor which mediates retrieval of the TCR α -BiP complex back to the ER (Yamamoto et al., 2001). Additional evidence for a post-ER quality came from electron microscopy studies of Zuber et al (2001). They found some of the proteins involved in quality control enriched in the ERGIC namely calreticulin, GT and glucosidaseII.

Beside degradation in the ER, proteins may also be targeted to the vacuole/lysosome for degradation. Again far more is known in yeast than in mammalian cells about this mechanism. Bacterial β-lactamase is targeted from the Golgi apparatus to the vacuole for degradation (Holkeri and Makarow, 1998). A fusion protein between veast invertase and a mutated form of bacterial lambda repressor was also shown to be targeted to the vacuole for degradation. This pathway is saturable, as overexpression of the fusion protein leads to its secretion (Hong et al., 1996; Holkeri and Makarow, 1998). A mutant of the plasma membrane ATPase Pma1p is not subjected to ERAD, but instead transported to the Golgi and finally delivered to the endosomal/vacuolar system for degradation (Chang and Fink, 1995). A mutant arginine permease, Can1^{ts}, and a mutant alpha mating factor receptor Ste2-3 (both membrane proteins) are also subjected to vacuolar degradation. Mutants that block Golgi to vacuole trafficking inhibited degradation of mutant Ste2-3 (Li et al., 1999). A similar disposal pathway has been described for the coronavirus membrane protein E1 in mammalian cells. Wild type E1 localizes to the Golgi, but deletions of membrane spanning sequences or a deletion of a large part of the carboxyl-terminus results in lysosomal degradation (Armstrong et al., 1990). The lysosomal degradation pathway is also used for a lipoprotein lipase mutant. This mutant carries a point mutation that sends the protein to lysosomal degradation. The authors speculated that a different oligosaccharide processing in this mutant caused increased affinity for the mannose-6-phosphate receptor (Buscá et al., 1996). So far supporting experimental evidence for this hypothesis is lacking.

1.5 Alpha-1-antitrypsin

Alpha-1-antitrypsin (α 1-AT) is a member of the serine protease inhibitor superfamily. It is a 52kDa plasma protein with a half life of 4-5 days. The main function of α 1-AT is the inactivation of serine proteases (Travis and Salvesen, 1983), especially of the human neutrophil elastase (Baugh and Travis, 2002). Because several serin proteases are important mediators of inflammation, α 1-AT is critical for inflammation control. In fact, α 1-AT is an

acute phase protein and undergoes a manifold increase after temperature elevation and inflammation.

 α 1-AT is N-glycosylated at the three residues N70, N107 and N271. This numbering includes the signal sequence. In some papers α 1-AT is numbered excluding the signal sequence. The first and the third N-glycosylation sites are occupied in 100% of the cases, while the second was occupied at an average of 99±1,4% under physiological conditions (Hulsmeier et al., 2007). This second glycosylation site seems also to be most affected in several individuals with a congenital disorder of glycosylation type-I (Hulsmeier et al, 2007). Mutation of the second N-glycosylation decreased the secretion of α 1-AT more than a single mutation of the other two N-glycosylation sites (Samandari and Brown, 1993). In accordance with this, Nyfeler et al. (2008) found that mutation of the second glycosylation site of α 1-AT has the strongest impact on the affinity to its transport receptor ERGIC-53. Hepatocytes secrete the highest amount of a1-AT, but also other cells like bronchial epithelial cells (Cichy et al., 1997), type II pneumocytes (Venembre et al., 1994), neutrophile granulocytes (Paakko et al., 1996), and mononuclear phagocytes (Paakko et al., 1996) are able to produce it, although at lower amounts. Different mutations in the α 1-AT gene have been identified that result in a partial or total α 1-AT-deficiency due to secretion problems. This can cause emphysema in the third and fourth life decade. In addition, asthma is significantly more common in people suffering from a1-AT deficiency (Eden et al., 1997). a1-AT deficiency can also cause liver diseases like neonatal hepatitis or hepatic cirrhosis which ultimately leads to the development of hepatocellular carcinoma (Sveger, 1976; Eriksson et al., 1986). Especially the misfolded α1-AT Z variant (PIZ; Q347K) can lead to liver diseases, already early in childhood (Sveger, 1976). One out of 27 of North European populations is heterozygote for this mutation (Gooptu et al., 2009). In homozygotes only 15% of the α 1-AT is secreted, whereas 85% is retained in the ER forming aggregates (Lomas et al., 1992). Several other mutants have been described. The truncation of carboxy terminal amino acids results, for example, in the null Hong-Kong mutant. There is also one mutant which is less efficiently secreted due to a mutation in its first N-glycosylation site (Bristol) (Lovegrove et al., 1997). Antitrypsin was also shown to be closely related to the HIV infectivity outcome. The amount of total and active antitrypsin in the plasma of HIV patients changes during disease progression. Asymptomatic HIV patients show normal α 1-AT levels, but the amount of active α 1-AT is decreased. Symptomatic pre-AIDS HIV patients have normal values of active α 1-AT, but the total amount of antitrypsin is increased (Bristow et al., 2001). α1-AT was shown to have

antiviral effects against the HIV virus. α 1-AT inhibits entry of HIV and its intracellular production (Congote, 2007). Due to the important role of α 1-AT in human pathologies, it is a key to understand its sub-cellular trafficking. A first important contribution has been made by Nyfeler et al (2008) who used yellow fluorescence protein (YFP) protein complementation assay to identify ERGIC-53 as the cargo-receptor for α 1-AT.

1.6 Protein complementation assays

Several methods have been developed to study protein-protein interactions (Tord et al., 2007) including the yeast two hybrid system (Fields and Song, 1989), co-immunoprecipitation, covalent crosslinking (Phizicky and Fields, 1995; Ren et al., 2003) or <u>fluorescence resonance</u> transfer (FRET) (Jares-Erijman and Jovin, 2003) and protein complementation assays (PCA) (Morell et al., 2009).

The pre-requisite for a protein complementation based assay is a protein reporter that can be cleaved into two non-active fragments, which reassemble upon close contact. Each of these fragments is then fused to one of two hypothetical interacting proteins (bait and prey). If the two proteins interact with each other, the attached reporter fragments are brought into close contact and assemble non-covalently to the full reporter. Usually a linker sequence of serines and glycines is introduced between reporter and bait/prey protein to provide flexibility. All protein complementation based methods were developed to trap transient protein-protein interactions. Several proteins were shown to be suited as reporter proteins like ubiqiquitin, dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR), β -lactamase, TEV protease, green fluorescent proteins and variants or luciferase.

Split ubiquitin was the first protein used for protein complementation assays (PCA) (Johnsson and Varshavsky, 1994) (Fig.8). Ubiquitin is usually cleaved very rapidly by intracellular proteases. The split ubiquitin fragments are not targeted by proteases. The N-terminal ubiquitin fragment (Ub_N) is fused to protein A (A- Ub_N). The C-terminal ubiquitin fragment (Ub_C) is fused to protein B (B- Ub_C). In case protein A and protein B interact, the ubiquitin fragments are brought in close contact and form a native-like ubiquitin. Subsequently the native-like ubiquitin is cleaved by ubiquitin proteases. The Ub_C is fused to a small monomeric non-host reporter protein like HA-tagged dihydrofolate reductase. This reporter protein will be released upon cleavage of the ubiquitin. Transcription factors are also suitable as reporter proteins. Upon ubiquitin cleavage the transcription factor is released, moves into the nucleus and activates transcription of reporter genes (Stagljar et al., 1998).



Figure 8 Split-ubiquitin system: Protein A is tagged with the N-terminal part of the ubiquitin (UB_N) and protein B carries the C-terminal part of the ubiquitin (UB_C) . A reporter molecule is attached to the UB_C . If the two proteins interact the fragments of the ubiquitin are brought in close contact and reform the full ubiquitin. Ubiquitin protease cleaves the ubiquitin and releases the reporter molecule from the ubiquitin. The kind of reporter determines the readout.

Murine dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR)-based protein complementation was used to measure protein-protein interaction in bacteria in vivo (Pelletier et al., 1998). The reconstituted mammalian DHFR confers resistance towards the drug trimethoprim that targets bacterial DHFR with high affinity. Upon successful interaction of the two tested proteins, murine DHFR is reconstituted and the bacteria will survive on a trimethoprim containing agar plate. β -lactamase-based protein complementation is suitable to detect protein interactions in vitro, but also in vivo in mammalian cells. Upon complementation of the two β -lactamase fragments its enzymatic activity is reconstituted. A chromogenic substrate added to the in vitro reaction changes its color upon hydrolysis by β -lactamase (Galarneau et al., 2002).

Split tobacco etch virus protease (TEV) is another system that can be used to validate proteinprotein interactions in mammalian cells (Wehr et al., 2006; Wehr et al., 2008). The TEV fragments are coupled to either a transcription factor or to luciferase. Upon reconstitution of the protease activity the transcription factor is released enters into the nucleus and activates a reporter gene. In case of using luciferase as reporter gene lucferin has to be added to visualize it.

The bimolecular fluorescent complementation assay is based on the reconstitution of green fluorescent protein (GFP) or one of its variants. So far ten fluorescent proteins are suitable to support fluorescence complementation (Shyu and Hu, 2008). Reconstitution of the two non-fluorescent fragments results in a fluorescent signal that can be measured by a plate reader or can be visualized by fluorescence microscopy. In case of using yellow fluorescent protein (YFP) as a reporter the N-terminal part N-YFP/YFP1 harbors amino acid 1-158 and the C-terminal part C-YFP/YFP2 harbors amino acid 159-239 (Fig.9).



YFP1

MVSKGEELFTGVVPILVELDGDVNGHKFSVSGEGEGDATYGKLTLKFICTTGKLPVPWPTLVTTFGYGL QCFARYPDHMKQHDFFKSAMPEGYVQERTIFFKDDGNYKTRAEVKFEGDTLVNRIELKGIDFKEDGNIL GHKLEYNYNSHNVYIMADKQ

YFP2

$\label{eq:kngikvnfkirhniedgsvqladhyqqntpigdgpvllpdnhylsyqsalsk \\ DPNEKRDHMVLLEFVTAAGITLGMDELYK$

Figure 9: Basic principle of fluorescence complementation. Protein A is fused to the Nterminal fragment of YFP (YFP1/N-YFP) and protein B is fused to the C-terminal fragment of the YFP protein (YFP2/C-YFP). In case protein A and protein B interact with each other the two fragments complement and YFP is reconstituted. Adapted from Morell et al., 2007 In the lower panel the protein sequences of YFP1 (orange) and YFP2 (green) are indicated.

The intensity of the fluorescent signal is highly dependent on the interaction of the bait and prey protein to which the fragments are fused (Morell et al., 2007). In most studies the reconstituted YFP complex was irreversible (Kerppola, 2008), although there are a few studies that claimed the interaction to be at least partially reversible (Guo et al., 2005; Cole et al., 2007). Bimolecular fluorescent complementation has been used successfully in bacteria, yeast, C. elegans and in mammalian cells (Hu et al., 2002; Cole et al., 2007; Min et al., 2007). The first study that showed the proof of principle for fluorescent complementation was performed in E.coli. GFP was split into two fragments and fused to two artificial interacting proteins, showing a high affinity (Ghosh et al., 2000). Shortly after YFP fragments were used in mammalian cells to visualize the Ca²⁺dependent interactions between calmodulin and its target peptide M13 (Nagai et al., 2001). Several other applications to study protein interactions in mammalian cells followed, like oligomerization of receptors (Vidi et al., 2008), interaction between components of the splicosom (Ali et al., 2008), interaction between components of the nucleosome (Cherukuri et al., 2008) and interaction between the cargo receptor ERGIC-53 and its secretory cargo (Nyfeler et al., 2005; Nyfeler et al., 2008). YFP-PCA based approaches were further used to visualize post-translational modifications, protein folding and protein aggregation (Shyu and Hu, 2008).

The multicolor BiFC assay allows the visualization of multiple protein interactions (Fig. 10). The N-terminal fragments of two different fluorescent proteins are fused to two proteins (*e.g.* protein A fused to N-YFP, protein B fused to N-CFP). The C-terminal fragment (*e.g.* C-CFP) that is able to complement with both N-termini and reconstitute a fluorescent protein X results in complemented YFP and a yellow fluorescent signal is measured. Interaction of protein B with protein X results in complemented CFP and in a blue fluorescent signal. This approach allows to study efficiencies of complex formation between different interaction partners (Hu and Kerppola, 2003). The multicolor BiFc assay was used to study the competing interaction of seven different γ -subunits of G-proteins with the same β 1-subunit (Mervine et al., 2006).



Figure 10 Multicolor BiFc: Protein X is tagged with the C-terminal fragment of CFP (C-CFP). C-CFP interacts with the N-terminal YFP fragment (N-YFP) to reconstitute the YFP protein. Interaction with the N-terminal fragment of CFP (N-CFP) results in a reconstituted CFP. Therefore interaction of protein X with protein A results in a YFP signal and interaction of protein X with protein B results in a CFP signal.

A BiFc assay combined with a FRET assay allows even to monitor formation of ternary complexes (Shyu et al., 2008) (Fig.11). Two interacting proteins (A and B) are fused to the two fragments of YFP and a third protein (X) is fused to CFP. The interaction of protein A and protein B reconstitutes YFP. This complemented YFP is a good FRET partner for CFP. If proteins A, B and X trimerize, YFP will be complemented and a FRET signal will be measurable. The association of a ternary transcription factor complex was monitored by this technique (Shyu et al., 2008).



Figure 11 **BiFc-FRET**: Protein A fused to N-YFP interacts with protein B fused to C-YFP. Upon interaction the YFP is reconstituted. Subsequently protein A bound to protein B interacts with protein X fused to full length CFP. Excitation of CFP leads to the emission of blue light (blue arrow) which excites the reconstituted YFP. Upon excitation YFP emits yellow light (yellow arrow) which indicates interaction of all three proteins.

Overall bimolecular fluorescent complementation assays have several advantages. The readout is direct (no enzymatic assay is needed for it). The intracellular compartment where the interaction takes place can be visualized by fluorescent microscopy. The assay detects even weak and transient interactions (Morell et al., 2007). One disadvantage of the fluorescent complementation is that the irreversibility of the interaction precludes studies of dynamic interactions between proteins. A luciferase based complementation assay provides a solution for this problem, as this interaction is reversible (Luker et al., 2004; Remy and Michnick, 2006).

1.7 References

- Acosta-Alvear, D., Zhou, Y., Blais, A., Tsikitis, M., Lents, N. H., Arias, C., Lennon, C. J., Kluger, Y. and Dynlacht, B. D. (2007). XBP1 Controls Diverse Cell Type- and Condition-Specific Transcriptional Regulatory Networks. <u>Mol Cell</u> 27(1): 53-66.
- Alberini, C. M., Bet, P., Milstein, C. and Sitia, R. (1990). Secretion of immunoglobulin M assembly intermediates in the presence of reducing agents. <u>Nature</u> **347**(6292): 485-7.
- Ali, G. S., Prasad, K. V., Hanumappa, M. and Reddy, A. S. (2008). Analyses of in vivo interaction and mobility of two spliceosomal proteins using FRAP and BiFC. <u>PLoS One</u> **3**(4): e1953.
- Anel, A. M. D. and Malhotra, V. (2005). PKCη is required for β1γ2/β 3γ2- and PKD-mediated transport to the cell surface and the organization of the Golgi apparatus. J Cell Biol **169**(1): 83-91.
- Anelli, T., Alessio, M., Bachi, A., Bergamelli, L., Bertoli, G., Camerini, S., Mezghrani, A., Ruffato, E., Simmen, T. and Sitia, R. (2003). Thiol-mediated protein retention in the endoplasmic reticulum: the role of ERp44. <u>EMBO J</u> 22(19): 5015-5022.
- Anelli, T., Ceppi, S., Bergamelli, L., Cortini, M., Masciarelli, S., Valetti, C. and Sitia, R. (2007). Sequential steps and checkpoints in the early exocytic compartment during secretory IgM biogenesis. <u>EMBO J</u> 26(19): 4177-4188.
- Andersson, H., Kappeler, F. and Hauri, H.-P. (1999). Protein Targeting to Endoplasmic Reticulum by Dilysine Signals Involves Direct Retention in Addition to Retrieval. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 274(21): 15080-15084.
- Antonny, B., Madden, D., Hamamoto, S., Orci, L. and Schekman, R. (2001). Dynamics of the COPII coat with GTP and stable analogues. <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> **3**(6): 531-537.
- Appenzeller-Herzog, C. and Ellgaard, L. (2008). The human PDI family: Versatility packed into a single fold. <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> 1783(4): 535-548.

- Appenzeller-Herzog, C. and Hauri, H.-P. (2006). The ER-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC): in search of its identity and function. J Cell Sci 119(11): 2173-2183.
- Appenzeller-Herzog, C., Nyfeler, B., Burkhard, P., Santamaria, I., Lopez-Otin, C. and Hauri, H.-P. (2005). Carbohydrate- and Conformation-dependent Cargo Capture for ER-Exit. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 16(3): 1258-1267.
- Appenzeller-Herzog, C., Roche, A.-C., Nufer, O. and Hauri, H.-P. (2004). pH-induced Conversion of the Transport Lectin ERGIC-53 Triggers Glycoprotein Release. J. Biol. Chem. **279**(13): 12943-12950.
- Appenzeller, C., Andersson, H., Kappeler, F. and Hauri, H. P. (1999). The lectin ERGIC-53 is a cargo transport receptor for glycoproteins. <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> 1(6): 330-4.
- Apweiler, R., Hermjakob, H. and Sharon, N. (1999). On the frequency of protein glycosylation, as deduced from analysis of the SWISS-PROT database. <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1473**(1): 4-8.
- Arar, C., Carpentier, V., Le Caer, J.-P., Monsigny, M., Legrand, A. and Roche, A.-C. (1995). ERGIC-53, a Membrane Protein of the Endoplasmic Reticulum-Golgi Intermediate Compartment, Is Identical to MR60, an Intracellular Mannose-specific Lectin of Myelomonocytic Cells. J Biol Chem 270(8): 3551-3553.
- Armstrong, J., Patel, S. and Riddle, P. (1990). Lysosomal sorting mutants of coronavirus E1 protein, a Golgi membrane protein. <u>J Cell Sci</u> 95(2): 191-197.
- Arnold, S. M., Fessler, L. I., Fessler, J. H. and Kaufman, R. J. (2000). Two homologues encoding human UDPglucose:glycoprotein glucosyltransferase differ in mRNA expression and enzymatic activity. <u>Biochemistry</u> 39(9): 2149-63.
- Arvan, P., Zhao, X., Ramos-Castaneda, J. and Chang, A. (2002). Secretory pathway quality control operating in Golgi, plasmalemmal, and endosomal systems. <u>Traffic</u> 3(11): 771-80.
- Avezov, E., Frenkel, Z., Ehrlich, M., Herscovics, A. and Lederkremer, G. Z. (2008). Endoplasmic Reticulum (ER) Mannosidase I Is Compartmentalized and Required for N-Glycan Trimming to Man5 6GlcNAc2 in Glycoprotein ER-associated Degradation. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 19(1): 216-225.
- Balch, W. E., Elliott, M. M. and Keller, D. S. (1986). ATP-coupled transport of vesicular stomatitis virus G protein between the endoplasmic reticulum and the Golgi. <u>J Biol Chem</u> **261**(31): 14681-9.
- Balch, W. E., McCaffery, J. M., Plutner, H. and Farquhar, M. G. (1994). Vesicular stomatitis virus glycoprotein is sorted and concentrated during export from the endoplasmic reticulum. <u>Cell</u> **76**(5): 841-852.
- Bannykh, S. I. and Balch, W. E. (1997). Membrane Dynamics at the Endoplasmic Reticulum-Golgi Interface. J Cell Biol **138**(1): 1-4.
- Bannykh, S. I., Rowe, T. and Balch, W. E. (1996). The organization of endoplasmic reticulum export complexes. J Cell Biol **135**(1): 19-35.
- Barinaga-Rementeria Ramirez, I. and Lowe, M. (2009). Golgins and GRASPs: Holding the Golgi together. Semin Cell Dev Biol 20(7): 770-779.
- Barlowe, C. and Schekman, R. (1993). SEC12 encodes a guanine-nucleotide-exchange factor essential for transport vesicle budding from the ER. <u>Nature</u> **365**(6444): 347-9.
- Barr, F. A., Nakamura, N. and Warren, G. (1998). Mapping the interaction between GRASP65 and GM130, components of a protein complex involved in the stacking of Golgi cisternae. <u>EMBO J</u> **17**(12): 3258-3268.
- Barr, F. A., Puype, M., Vandekerckhove, J. and Warren, G. (1997). GRASP65, a Protein Involved in the Stacking of Golgi Cisternae. <u>Cell</u> **91**(2): 253-262.
- Baugh, R. J. and Travis, J. (2002). Human leukocyte granule elastase: rapid isolation and characterization. <u>Biochemistry</u> 15(4): 836-841.
- Belden, W. J. and Barlowe, C. (2001). Role of Erv29p in Collecting Soluble Secretory Proteins into ER-Derived Transport Vesicles. <u>Science</u> **294**(5546): 1528-1531.
- Ben-Tekaya, H., Miura, K., Pepperkok, R. and Hauri, H.-P. (2005). Live imaging of bidirectional traffic from the ERGIC. J Cell Sci 118(2): 357-367.
- Berger, E. G. and Rohrer, J. (2008). Golgi glycosylation enzymes. <u>The Golgi Apparatus</u>. A. A. Mironov Jr and M. Pavelka, Springer: 161-189.
- Bertolotti, A., Zhang, Y., Hendershot, L. M., Harding, H. P. and Ron, D. (2000). Dynamic interaction of BiP and ER stress transducers in the unfolded-protein response. <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> **2**(6): 326-32.
- Bhamidipati, A., Denic, V., Quan, E. M. and Weissman, J. S. (2005). Exploration of the Topological Requirements of ERAD Identifies Yos9p as a Lectin Sensor of Misfolded Glycoproteins in the ER Lumen. <u>Mol Cell</u> 19(6): 741-751.
- Bi, X., Mancias, J. D. and Goldberg, J. (2007). Insights into COPII Coat Nucleation from the Structure of Sec23-Sar1 Complexed with the Active Fragment of Sec31. <u>Dev Cell</u> **13**(5): 635-645.
- Biederer, T., Volkwein, C. and Sommer, T. (1996). Degradation of subunits of the Sec61p complex, an integral component of the ER membrane, by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. <u>Embo J</u> **15**(9): 2069-76.
- Bielli, A., Haney, C. J., Gabreski, G., Watkins, S. C., Bannykh, S. I. and Aridor, M. (2005). Regulation of Sar1 NH2 terminus by GTP binding and hydrolysis promotes membrane deformation to control COPII vesicle fission. J Cell Biol 171(6): 919-924.
- Blom, D., Hirsch, C., Stern, P., Tortorella, D. and Ploegh, H. L. (2004). A glycosylated type I membrane protein becomes cytosolic when peptide: N-glycanase is compromised. <u>EMBO J</u> 23(3): 650-658.

- Blond-Elguindi, S., Cwirla, S. E., Dower, W. J., Lipshutz, R. J., Sprang, S. R., Sambrook, J. F. and Gething, M.-J. H. (1993). Affinity panning of a library of peptides displayed on bacteriophages reveals the binding specificity of BiP. <u>Cell</u> 75(4): 717-728.
- Bonfanti, L., Mironov Jr, A. A., Martínez-Menárguez, J. A., Martella, O., Fusella, A., Baldassarre, M., Buccione, R., Geuze, H. J., Mironov Jr, A. A. and Luini, A. (1998). Procollagen Traverses the Golgi Stack without Leaving the Lumen of Cisternae: Evidence for Cisternal Maturation. <u>Cell</u> 95(7): 993-1003.
- Boyadjiev, S. A., Fromme, J. C., Ben, J., Chong, S. S., Nauta, C., Hur, D. J., Zhang, G., Hamamoto, S., Schekman, R., Ravazzola, M., Orci, L. and Eyaid, W. (2006). Cranio-lenticulo-sutural dysplasia is caused by a SEC23A mutation leading to abnormal endoplasmic-reticulum-to-Golgi trafficking. <u>Nat Genet</u> 38(10): 1192-1197.
- Branza-Nichita, N., Petrescu, A. J., Dwek, R. A., Wormald, M. R., Platt, F. M. and Petrescu, S. M. (1999). Tyrosinase Folding and Copper Loading in Vivo: A Crucial Role for Calnexin and [alpha]-Glucosidase II. <u>Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications</u> 261(3): 720-725.
- Braulke, T. and Bonifacino, J. S. (2009). Sorting of lysosomal proteins. <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1793**(4): 605-614.
- Bristow, C. L., Patel, H. and Arnold, R. R. (2001). Self Antigen Prognostic for Human Immunodeficiency Virus Disease Progression. <u>Clin Diagn Lab Immunol</u> **8**(5): 937-942.
- Broadley, S. A. and Hartl, F. U. (2009). The role of molecular chaperones in human misfolding diseases. <u>FEBS</u> Lett **583**(16): 2647-2653.
- Brockhausen, I., Narasimhan, S. and Schachter, H. (1988). The biosynthesis of highly branched N-glycans: studies on the sequential pathway and functional role of N-actylglucosaminyltransferases I, II, III, IV, V and VI. <u>Biochimie</u> **70**(11): 1521-1533.
- Bu, G., Geuze, H. J., Strous, G. J. and Schwartz, A. L. (1995). 39 kDa receptor-associated protein is an ER resident protein and molecular chaperone for LDL receptor-related protein. <u>Embo J</u> 14(10): 2269-80.
- Bucci, C., Thomsen, P., Nicoziani, P., McCarthy, J. and van Deurs, B. (2000). Rab7: A Key to Lysosome Biogenesis. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **11**(2): 467-480.
- Buscà, R., Martinez, M., Vilella, E., Pognonec, P., Deeb, S., Auwerx, J., Reina, M. and Vilaró, S. (1996). The Mutation Gly Glu in Human Lipoprotein Lipase Produces a Missorted Protein That Is Diverted to Lysosomes. J Biol Chem 271(4): 2139-2146.
- Buschhorn, B. A., Kostova, Z., Medicherla, B. and Wolf, D. H. (2004). A genome-wide screen identifies Yos9p as essential for ER-associated degradation of glycoproteins. <u>FEBS Lett</u> **577**(3): 422-426.
- Cabibbo, A., Pagani, M., Fabbri, M., Rocchi, M., Farmery, M. R., Bulleid, N. J. and Sitia, R. (2000). ERO1-L, a Human Protein That Favors Disulfide Bond Formation in the Endoplasmic Reticulum. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 275(7): 4827-4833.
- Cai, H., Yu, S., Menon, S., Cai, Y., Lazarova, D., Fu, C., Reinisch, K., Hay, J. C. and Ferro-Novick, S. (2007). TRAPPI tethers COPII vesicles by binding the coat subunit Sec23. <u>Nature</u> **445**(7130): 941-944.
- Caldwell, S. R., Hill, K. J. and Cooper, A. A. (2001). Degradation of Endoplasmic Reticulum (ER) Quality Control Substrates Requires Transport between the ER and Golgi. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 276(26): 23296-23303.
- Caramelo, J. J., Castro, O. A., Alonso, L. G., de Prat-Gay, G. and Parodi, A. J. (2003). UDP-Glc:glycoprotein glucosyltransferase recognizes structured and solvent accessible hydrophobic patches in molten globule-like folding intermediates. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **100**(1): 86-91.
- Carvalho, P., Goder, V. and Rapoport, T. A. (2006). Distinct Ubiquitin-Ligase Complexes Define Convergent Pathways for the Degradation of ER Proteins. <u>Cell</u> **126**(2): 361-373.
- Ceroni, A., Dell, A. and Haslam, S. (2007). The GlycanBuilder: a fast, intuitive and flexible software tool for building and displaying glycan structures. <u>Source Code Biol Med</u> **2**(1): 3.
- Chang, A. and Fink, G. R. (1995). Targeting of the yeast plasma membrane [H+]ATPase: a novel gene AST1 prevents mislocalization of mutant ATPase to the vacuole. J Cell Biol **128**(1): 39-49.
- Chantal, C., Nicolette, H. L. and Ineke, B. (2008). Protein folding includes oligomerization-examples from the endoplasmic reticulum and cytosol <u>FEBS J</u> **275**(19): 4700-4727.
- Chavrier, P., Parton, R. G., Hauri, H. P., Simons, K. and Zerial, M. (1990). Localization of low molecular weight GTP binding proteins to exocytic and endocytic compartments. Cell **62**(2): 317-329.
- Chen, H. J., Yuan, J. and Lobel, P. (1997). Systematic Mutational Analysis of the Cation-independent Mannose 6-Phosphate/Insulin-like Growth Factor II Receptor Cytoplasmic Domain. J Biol Chem 272(11): 7003-7012.
- Chen, C., Bonifacino, J. S., Yuan, L. C. and Klausner, R. D. (1988). Selective degradation of T cell antigen receptor chains retained in a pre-Golgi compartment. <u>J Cell Biol</u> **107**(6 Pt 1): 2149-61.
- Cherukuri, S., Hock, R., Ueda, T., Catez, F., Rochman, M. and Bustin, M. (2008). Cell Cycle-dependent Binding of HMGN Proteins to Chromatin. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **19**(5): 1816-1824.
- Christianson, J. C., Shaler, T. A., Tyler, R. E. and Kopito, R. R. (2008). OS-9 and GRP94 deliver mutant [alpha]1-antitrypsin to the Hrd1-SEL1L ubiquitin ligase complex for ERAD. <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> **10**(3): 272-282.
- Chung, K. T., Shen, Y. and Hendershot, L. M. (2002). BAP, a Mammalian BiP-associated Protein, Is a Nucleotide Exchange Factor That Regulates the ATPase Activity of BiP. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 277(49): 47557-47563.

- Cichy, J., Potempa, J. and Travis, J. (1997). Biosynthesis of alpha 1-Proteinase Inhibitor by Human Lungderived Epithelial Cells. J Biol Chem 272(13): 8250-8255.
- Cluett, E. B. and Brown, W. J. (1992). Adhesion of Golgi cisternae by proteinaceous interactions: intercisternal bridges as putative adhesive structures. J Cell Sci **103**(3): 773-784.
- Cole, K. C., McLaughlin, H. W. and Johnson, D. I. (2007). Use of Bimolecular Fluorescence Complementation To Study In Vivo Interactions between Cdc42p and Rdi1p of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. <u>Eukaryot Cell</u> **6**(3): 378-387.
- Congote, L. F. (2007). Serpin A1 and CD91 as host instruments against HIV-1 infection: Are extracellular antiviral peptides acting as intracellular messengers? <u>Virus Res</u> **125**(2): 119-134.
- Corbett, E. F., Michalak, K. M., Oikawa, K., Johnson, S., Campbell, I. D., Eggleton, P., Kay, C. and Michalak, M. (2000). The Conformation of Calreticulin Is Influenced by the Endoplasmic Reticulum Luminal Environment. <u>J Biol Chem.</u> 275(35): 27177-27185.
- Cosson, P., Amherdt, M. n., Rothman, J. E. and Orci, L. (2002). A resident Golgi protein is excluded from peri-Golgi vesicles in NRK cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99(20): 12831-12834.
- Cosson, P. and Letourneur, F. (1994). Coatomer interaction with di-lysine endoplasmic reticulum retention motifs. <u>Science</u> **263**(5153): 1629-1631.
- Creighton, T. E. (1979). Intermediates in the refolding of reduced ribonuclease A. J Mol Biol 129(3): 411-431.
- Cruciat, C.-M., Hassler, C. and Niehrs, C. (2006). The MRH Protein Erlectin Is a Member of the Endoplasmic Reticulum Synexpression Group and Functions in N-Glycan Recognition. J Biol Chem 281(18): 12986-12993.
- Crump, C. M., Xiang, Y., Thomas, L., Gu, F., Austin, C., Tooze, S. A. and Thomas, G. (2001). PACS-1 binding to adaptors is required for acidic cluster motif-mediated protein traffic. <u>EMBO J</u> 20(9): 2191-2201.
- Cunnea, P. M., Miranda-Vizuete, A., Bertoli, G., Simmen, T., Damdimopoulos, A. E., Hermann, S., Leinonen, S., Huikko, M. P., Gustafsson, J.A., Sitia, R. and Spyrou, G. (2003). ERdj5, an Endoplasmic Reticulum (ER)-resident Protein Containing DnaJ and Thioredoxin Domains, Is Expressed in Secretory Cells or following ER Stress. J Biol Chem 278(2): 1059-1066.
- Dahm, T., White, J., Grill, S., Füllekrug, J. and Stelzer, E. H. (2001). Quantitative ER <--> Golgi transport kinetics and protein separation upon Golgi exit revealed by vesicular integral membrane protein 36 dynamics in live cells. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 12(5): 1481-98.
- Dahms, N. M. and Hancock, M. K. (2002). P-type lectins. Biochim Biophys Acta 1572(2-3): 317-340.
- Dai, R. M. and Li, C.-C. H. (2001). Valosin-containing protein is a multi-ubiquitin chain-targeting factor required in ubiquitin-proteasome degradation. <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> **3**(8): 740-744.
- Dai, R.-M., Chen, E., Longo, D. L., Gorbea, C. M. and Li, C.-C. H. (1998). Involvement of Valosin-containing Protein, an ATPase Co-purified with IκBα and 26 S Proteasome, in Ubiquitin-Proteasome-mediated Degradation of IκBα. J Biol Chem 273(6): 3562-3573.
- de Virgilio, M., Weninger, H. and Ivessa, N. E. (1998). Ubiquitination Is Required for the Retro-translocation of a Short-lived Luminal Endoplasmic Reticulum Glycoprotein to the Cytosol for Degradation by the Proteasome. J Biol Chem. 273(16): 9734-9743.
- Degen, E. and Williams, D. B. (1991). Participation of a novel 88-kD protein in the biogenesis of murine class I histocompatibility molecules. J Cell Biol 112(6): 1099-1115.
- Di Jeso, B., Park, Y.-n., Ulianich, L., Treglia, A. S., Urbanas, M. L., High, S. and Arvan, P. (2005). Mixed-Disulfide Folding Intermediates between Thyroglobulin and Endoplasmic Reticulum Resident Oxidoreductases ERp57 and Protein Disulfide Isomerase. <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 25(22): 9793-9805.
- Dodd, R. B. and Drickamer, K. (2001). Lectin-like proteins in model organisms: implications for evolution of carbohydrate-binding activity. <u>Glycobiology</u> **11**(5): 71R-79.
- Dominguez, M., Dejgaard, K., Fullekrug, J., Dahan, S., Fazel, A., Paccaud, J.-P., Thomas, D. Y., Bergeron, J. J. M. and Nilsson, T. (1998). gp25L/emp24/p24 Protein Family Members of the cis-Golgi Network Bind Both COP I and II Coatomer. J Cell Biol 140(4): 751-765.
- Drin G, Morello V, Casella J-F, Gounon P, Antonny B (2008). Asymmetric Tethering of Flat and Curved Lipid Membranes by a Golgin. <u>Science</u> **320**(5876):670-673.
- Dudek, J., Benedix, J., Cappel, S., Greiner, M., Jalal, C., Muller, L. and Zimmermann, R. (2009). Functions and pathologies of BiP and its interaction partners. <u>Cell Mol Life Sci 66(9)</u>: 1556-69.
- Duncan, J. R. and Kornfeld, S. (1988). Intracellular movement of two mannose 6-phosphate receptors: return to the Golgi apparatus. J Cell Biol **106**(3): 617-628.
- Dunphy, W. G., Brands, R. and Rothman, J. E. (1985). Attachment of terminal N-acetylglucosamine to asparagine-linked oligosaccharides occurs in central cisternae of the golgi stack. <u>Cell</u> **40**(2): 463-472.
- Eden, E., Mitchell, D., Mehlman, B., Khouli, H., Nejat, M., Grieco, Michael H. and Turino, Gerard M. (1997). Atopy, Asthma, and Emphysema in Patients with Severe alpha -1-Antitrypysin Deficiency. <u>Am J. Respir</u> <u>Crit Care Med</u> 156(1): 68-74.
- Elbein, A. D. (1979). The Role of Lipid-Linked Saccharides in the Biosynthesis of Complex Carbohydrates. <u>Annu Rev Plant Physiol</u> **30**(1): 239-272.

- Ellgaard, L. and Helenius, A. (2003). Quality control in the endoplasmic reticulum. <u>Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> **4**(3): 181-191.
- Ellgaard, L., Molinari, M. and Helenius, A. (1999). Setting the Standards: Quality Control in the Secretory Pathway. <u>Science</u> **286**(5446): 1882-1888.
- Ellgaard, L. and Helenius, A. (2001). ER quality control: towards an understanding at the molecular level. Curr Opin Cell Biol **13**(4): 431-437.
- Ellgaard, L. and Ruddock, L. W. (2005). The human protein disulphide isomerase family: substrate interactions and functional properties. <u>EMBO Rep</u> 6(1): 28-32.
- Ellis, R. J. and Hemmingsen, S. M. (1989). Molecular chaperones: proteins essential for the biogenesis of some macromolecular structures. <u>Trends Biochem Sci</u> 14(8): 339-42.
- Emr, S., Glick, B. S., Linstedt, A. D., Lippincott-Schwartz, J., Luini, A., Malhotra, V., Marsh, B. J., Nakano, A., Pfeffer, S. R., Rabouille, C., Rothman, J. E., Warren, G. and Wieland, F. T. (2009). Journeys through the Golgi--taking stock in a new era. J Cell Biol 187(4): 449-453.
- Eriksson, S., Carlson, J. and Velez, R. (1986). Risk of cirrhosis and primary liver cancer in alpha 1-antitrypsin deficiency. <u>N Engl J Med</u> **314**(12): 736-739.
- Farhan, H., Reiterer, V., Korkhov, V. M., Schmid, J. A., Freissmuth, M. and Sitte, H. H. (2007). Concentrative Export from the Endoplasmic Reticulum of the Î³-Aminobutyric Acid Transporter 1 Requires Binding to SEC24D. J Biol Chem 282(10): 7679-7689.
- Feinstein, T. N. and Linstedt, A. D. (2008). GRASP55 Regulates Golgi Ribbon Formation. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 19(7): 2696-2707.
- Fiedler, K., Parton, R. G., Kellner, R., Etzold, T. and Simons, K. (1994). VIP36, a novel component of glycolipid rafts and exocytic carrier vesicles in epithelial cells. <u>Embo J</u> 13(7): 1729-40.
- Fiedler, K. and Simons, K. (1996). Characterization of VIP36, an animal lectin homologous to leguminous lectins. J Cell Sci 109 (Pt 1): 271-6.
- Fiedler, K., Veit, M., Stamnes, M. A. and Rothman, J. E. (1996). Bimodal interaction of coatomer with the p24 family of putative cargo receptors. <u>Science</u> **273**(5280): 1396-9.
- Fields, S. and Song, O. (1989). A novel genetic system to detect protein-protein interactions. <u>Nature</u> **340**(6230): 245-6.
- Finger, A., Knop, M. and Wolf, D. H. (1993). Analysis of two mutated vacuolar proteins reveals a degradation pathway in the endoplasmic reticulum or a related compartment of yeast. <u>Eur J Biochem</u> **218**(2): 565-74.
- Flierman, D., Ye, Y., Dai, M., Chau, V. and Rapoport, T. A. (2003). Polyubiquitin Serves as a Recognition Signal, Rather than a Ratcheting Molecule, during Retrotranslocation of Proteins across the Endoplasmic Reticulum Membrane. J Biol Chem. 278(37): 34774-34782.
- Flynn, G. C., Chappell, T. G. and Rothman, J. E. (1989). Peptide binding and release by proteins implicated as catalysts of protein assembly. <u>Science</u> 245(4916): 385-90.
- Flynn, G. C., Pohl, J., Flocco, M. T. and Rothman, J. E. (1991). Peptide-binding specificity of the molecular chaperone BiP. <u>Nature</u> 353(6346): 726-30.
- Foulquier, F., Harduin-Lepers, A., Duvet, S., Marchal, I., Mir, A. M., Delannoy, P., Chirat, F. and Cacan, R. (2002). The unfolded protein response in a dolichyl phosphate mannose-deficient Chinese hamster ovary cell line points out the key role of a demannosylation step in the quality-control mechanism of Nglycoproteins. Biochem J 362(Pt 2): 491-8.
- Franke, W. W., Kartenbeck, J., Krien, S., VanderWoude, W. J., Scheer, U. and Morre, D. J. (1972). Inter- and intracisternal elements of the Golgi apparatus. A system of membrane-to-membrane cross-links. <u>Z</u> <u>Zellforsch Mikrosk Anat</u> 132(3): 365-80.
- Frenkel, Z., Gregory, W., Kornfeld, S. and Lederkremer, G. Z. (2003). Endoplasmic Reticulum-associated Degradation of Mammalian Glycoproteins Involves Sugar Chain Trimming to Man6â€5GlcNAc2. J Biol Chem 278(36): 34119-34124.
- Frickel, E.-M., Riek, R., Jelesarov, I., Helenius, A., Wüthrich, K. and Ellgaard, L. (2002). TROSY-NMR reveals interaction between ERp57 and the tip of the calreticulin P-domain. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 99(4): 1954-1959.
- Fromme, J. C., Ravazzola, M., Hamamoto, S., Al-Balwi, M., Eyaid, W., Boyadjiev, S. A., Cosson, P., Schekman, R. and Orci, L. (2007). The Genetic Basis of a Craniofacial Disease Provides Insight into COPII Coat Assembly. <u>Dev Cell</u> 13(5): 623-634.
- Fujiwara, T., Oda, K., Yokota, S., Takatsuki, A. and Ikehara, Y. (1988). Brefeldin A causes disassembly of the Golgi complex and accumulation of secretory proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 263(34): 18545-18552.
- Füllekrug, J., Scheiffele, P. and Simons, K. (1999). VIP36 localisation to the early secretory pathway. <u>J Cell Sci</u> 112 (Pt 17): 2813-21.
- Galarneau, A., Primeau, M., Trudeau, L.E. and Michnick, S.W. (2002) Betalactamase protein fragment complementation assays as in vivo and in vitro sensors of protein protein interactions. <u>Nat Biotechnol</u> 20, 619–622.

- Gauss, R., Sommer, T. and Jarosch, E. (2006). The Hrd1p ligase complex forms a linchpin between ER-lumenal substrate selection and Cdc48p recruitment. <u>Embo J</u> 25(9): 1827-35.
- Gething, M.-J., McCammon, K. and Sambrook, J. (1986). Expression of wild-type and mutant forms of influenza hemagglutinin: The role of folding in intracellular transport. <u>Cell</u> **46**(6): 939-950.
- Geuze, H. J., Slot, J. W., Strous, G. J., Hasilik, A. and von Figura, K. (1985). Possible pathways for lysosomal enzyme delivery. J Cell Biol **101**(6): 2253-2262.
- Ghosh, I., Hamilton, A. D. and Regan, L. (2000). Antiparallel Leucine Zipper-Directed Protein Reassembly: Application to the Green Fluorescent ProteinJ Am Chem Soc **122**(23): 5658-5659.
- Ghosh, P., Dahms, N. M. and Kornfeld, S. (2003). Mannose 6-phosphate receptors: new twists in the tale. <u>Nat</u> <u>Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> 4(3): 202-213.
- Giraudo, C. G. and Maccioni, H. J. F. (2003). Endoplasmic Reticulum Export of Glycosyltransferases Depends on Interaction of a Cytoplasmic Dibasic Motif with Sar1. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **14**(9): 3753-3766.
- Glick, B. S., Elston, T. and Oster, G. (1997). A cisternal maturation mechanism can explain the asymmetry of the Golgi stack. <u>FEBS Letters</u> **414**(2): 177-181.
- Goldberg, J. (2000). Decoding of Sorting Signals by Coatomer through a GTPase Switch in the COPI Coat Complex. <u>Cell</u> **100**(6): 671-679.
- Golling, G., Amsterdam, A., Sun, Z., Antonelli, M., Maldonado, E., Chen, W., Burgess, S., Haldi, M., Artzt, K., Farrington, S., Lin, S. Y., Nissen, R. M. and Hopkins, N. (2002). Insertional mutagenesis in zebrafish rapidly identifies genes essential for early vertebrate development. <u>Nat Genet</u> 31(2): 135-40.
- Gonzalez, D. S., Karaveg, K., Vandersall-Nairn, A. S., Lal, A. and Moremen, K. W. (1999). Identification, Expression, and Characterization of a cDNA Encoding Human Endoplasmic Reticulum Mannosidase I, the Enzyme That Catalyzes the First Mannose Trimming Step in Mammalian Asn-linked Oligosaccharide Biosynthesis. J Biol Chem 274(30): 21375-21386.
- Gooptu, B., Ekeowa, U. I. and Lomas, D. A. (2009). Mechanisms of emphysema in {alpha}1-antitrypsin deficiency: molecular and cellular insights. <u>Eur Respir J</u> 34(2): 475-488.
- Gothel, S. F. and Marahiel, M. A. (1999). Peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerases, a superfamily of ubiquitous folding catalysts. Cell Mol Life Sci 55(3): 423-36.
- Graham, L. A., Hill, K. J. and Stevens, T. H. (1998). Assembly of the yeast vacuolar H+-ATPase occurs in the endoplasmic reticulum and requires a Vma12p/Vma22p assembly complex. J Cell Biol 142(1): 39-49.
- Griffiths, G., Ericsson, M., Krijnse-Locker, J., Nilsson, T., Goud, B., Soling, H. D., Tang, B. L., Wong, S. H. and Hong, W. (1994). Localization of the Lys, Asp, Glu, Leu tetrapeptide receptor to the Golgi complex and the intermediate compartment in mammalian cells. J Cell Biol 127(6): 1557-1574.
- Griffiths, G., Hoflack, B., Simons, K., Mellman, I. and Kornfeld, S. (1988). The mannose 6-phosphate receptor and the biogenesis of lysosomes. <u>Cell</u> **52**(3): 329-341.
- Guo, Q., Vasile, E. and Krieger, M. (1994). Disruptions in Golgi structure and membrane traffic in a conditional lethal mammalian cell mutant are corrected by epsilon-COP. J Cell Biol **125**(6): 1213-1224.
- Guo, Y., Rebecchi, M. and Scarlata, S. (2005). Phospholipase Cbeta2 binds to and inhibits phospholipase Cdelta1. J Biol Chem 280(2): 1438-1447.
- Haft, C. R., Sierra, M. d. I. L., Bafford, R., Lesniak, M. A., Barr, V. A. and Taylor, S. I. (2000). Human Orthologs of Yeast Vacuolar Protein Sorting Proteins Vps26, 29, and 35: Assembly into Multimeric Complexes. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 11(12): 4105-4116.
- Haltiwanger, R. S. and Lowe, J. B. (2004). Role of glycosylation in develpment. <u>Annu Rev Biochem</u> **73**(1): 491-537.
- Hammond, C., Braakman, I. and Helenius, A. (1994). Role of N-linked oligosaccharide recognition, glucose trimming, and calnexin in glycoprotein folding and quality control. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **91**(3): 913-7.
- Hammond, C. and Helenius, A. (1994). Folding of VSV G protein: sequential interaction with BiP and calnexin. Science 266(5184): 456-8.
- Hammond, C. and Helenius, A. (1994). Quality control in the secretory pathway: retention of a misfolded viral membrane glycoprotein involves cycling between the ER, intermediate compartment, and Golgi apparatus. J <u>Cell Biol</u> 126(1): 41-52.
- Hancock, M. K., Haskins, D. J., Sun, G. and Dahms, N. M. (2002). Identification of Residues Essential for Carbohydrate Recognition by the Insulin-like Growth Factor II/Mannose 6-Phosphate Receptor. J Biol Chem 277(13): 11255-11264.
- Hara-Kuge, S., Ohkura, T., Ideo, H., Shimada, O., Atsumi, S. and Yamashita, K. (2002). Involvement of VIP36 in intracellular transport and secretion of glycoproteins in polarized Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells. J Biol Chem 277(18): 16332-9.
- Hara-Kuge, S., Ohkura, T., Seko, A. and Yamashita, K. (1999). Vesicular-integral membrane protein, VIP36, recognizes high-mannose type glycans containing alpha1-->2 mannosyl residues in MDCK cells. <u>Glycobiology</u> 9(8): 833-9.
- Hara-Kuge, S., Seko, A., Shimada, O., Tosaka-Shimada, H. and Yamashita, K. (2004). The binding of VIP36 and alpha-amylase in the secretory vesicles via high-mannose type glycans. <u>Glycobiology</u> 14(8): 739-44.

- Hatahet, F. and Ruddock, L. W. (2007). Substrate recognition by the protein disulfide isomerases. <u>Febs J</u> **274**(20): 5223-34.
- Hebert, D. N., Zhang, J.-X., Chen, W., Foellmer, B. and Helenius, A. (1997). The Number and Location of Glycans on Influenza Hemagglutinin Determine Folding and Association with Calnexin and Calreticulin. J <u>Cell Biol</u> 139(3): 613-623.
- Helenius, A. and Aebi, M. (2001). Intracellular Functions of N-Linked Glycans. Science 291(5512): 2364-2369.
- Helenius, A. and Aebi, M. (2004). Roles of N-linked glycans in the endoplasmic reticulum. <u>Annu Rev Biochem</u> **73**(1): 1019.
- Helenius, A., Trombetta, E. S., Hebert, D. N. and Simons, J. F. (1997). Calnexin, calreticulin and the folding of glycoproteins. <u>Trends Cell Biol</u> 7(5): 193-200.
- Hennet, T. (2002). The galactosyltransferase family. Cell Mol Life Sci 59(7): 1081-95.
- Herczenik, E. and Gebbink, M. F. B. G. (2008). Molecular and cellular aspects of protein misfolding and disease. <u>FASEB J</u> 22(7): 2115-2133.
- Herscovics, A. (2001). Structure and function of Class I [alpha]1,2-mannosidases involved in glycoprotein synthesis and endoplasmic reticulum quality control. <u>Biochimie</u> **83**(8): 757-762.
- Herscovics, A., Romero, P. A. and Tremblay, L. O. (2002). The specificity of the yeast and human class I ER alpha 1,2-mannosidases involved in ER quality control is not as strict previously reported. <u>Glycobiology</u> 12(4): 14G-15G.
- Herscovics, A., Schneikert, J., Athanassiadis, A. and Moremen, K. W. (1994). Isolation of a mouse Golgi mannosidase cDNA, a member of a gene family conserved from yeast to mammals. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 269(13): 9864-9871.
- Hiller, M. M., Finger, A., Schweiger, M. and Wolf, D. H. (1996). ER degradation of a misfolded luminal protein by the cytosolic ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. <u>Science</u> **273**(5282): 1725-8.
- Hirao, K., Natsuka, Y., Tamura, T., Wada, I., Morito, D., Natsuka, S., Romero, P., Sleno, B., Tremblay, L. O., Herscovics, A., Nagata, K. and Hosokawa, N. (2006). EDEM3, a Soluble EDEM Homolog, Enhances Glycoprotein Endoplasmic Reticulum-associated Degradation and Mannose Trimming. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 281(14): 9650-9658.
- Hirsch, C., Blom, D. and Ploegh, H. L. (2003). A role for N-glycanase in the cytosolic turnover of glycoproteins. <u>EMBO J</u> 22(5): 1036-1046.
- Hochstenbach, F., David, V., Watkins, S. and Brenner, M. B. (1992). Endoplasmic reticulum resident protein of 90 kilodaltons associates with the T- and B-cell antigen receptors and major histocompatibility complex antigens during their assembly. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 89(10): 4734-8.
- Hoflack, B. and Kornfeld, S. (1985). Purification and characterization of a cation-dependent mannose 6phosphate receptor from murine P388D1 macrophages and bovine liver. J Biol Chem 260(22): 12008-12014.
- Holkeri, H. and Makarow, M. (1998). Different degradation pathways for heterologous glycoproteins in yeast. <u>FEBS Lett 429(2)</u>: 162-166.
- Hong, E., Davidson, A. R. and Kaiser, C. A. (1996). A pathway for targeting soluble misfolded proteins to the yeast vacuole. <u>J Cell Biol</u> 135(3): 623-633.
- Honke, K. and Taniguchi, N. (2002). Sulfotransferases and sulfated oligosaccharides. <u>Med Res Rev</u> 22(6): 637-54.
- Hosoda, A., Kimata, Y., Tsuru, A. and Kohno, K. (2003). JPDI, a Novel Endoplasmic Reticulum-resident Protein Containing Both a BiP-interacting J-domain and Thioredoxin-like Motifs. J Biol Chem 278(4): 2669-2676.
- Hosokawa, N., Kamiya, Y., Kamiya, D., Kato, K. and Nagata, K. (2009). Human OS-9, a Lectin Required for Glycoprotein Endoplasmic Reticulum-associated Degradation, Recognizes Mannose-trimmed N-Glycans. J <u>Biol Chem</u> 284(25): 17061-17068.
- Hosokawa, N., Wada, I., Hasegawa, K., Yorihuzi, T., Tremblay, L. O., Herscovics, A. and Nagata, K. (2001). A novel ER alpha-mannosidase-like protein accelerates ER-associated degradation. <u>EMBO Rep</u> **2**(5): 415-22.
- Hosokawa, N., Wada, I., Nagasawa, K., Moriyama, T., Okawa, K. and Nagata, K. (2008). Human XTP3-B Forms an Endoplasmic Reticulum Quality Control Scaffold with the HRD1-SEL1L Ubiquitin Ligase Complex and BiP. J Biol Chem 283(30): 20914-20924.
- Hosokawa, N., Wada, I., Natsuka, Y. and Nagata, K. (2006). EDEM accelerates ERAD by preventing aberrant dimer formation of misfolded alpha1-antitrypsin. <u>Genes Cells</u> **11**(5): 465-76.
- Hu, C.-D., Chinenov, Y. and Kerppola, T. K. (2002). Visualization of Interactions among bZIP and Rel Family Proteins in Living Cells Using Bimolecular Fluorescence Complementation. <u>Mol Cell</u> 9(4): 789-798.
- Hu, C.-D. and Kerppola, T. K. (2003). Simultaneous visualization of multiple protein interactions in living cells using multicolor fluorescence complementation analysis. <u>Nat Biotech</u> **21**(5): 539-545.
- Hulsmeier, A. J., Paesold-Burda, P. and Hennet, T. (2007). N-glycosylation site occupancy in serum glycoproteins using multiple reaction monitoring liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. <u>Mol Cell</u> <u>Proteomics</u> 6(12): 2132-8.

- Huyer, G., Piluek, W. F., Fansler, Z., Kreft, S. G., Hochstrasser, M., Brodsky, J. L. and Michaelis, S. (2004). Distinct Machinery Is Required in Saccharomyces cerevisiae for the Endoplasmic Reticulum-associated Degradation of a Multispanning Membrane Protein and a Soluble Luminal Protein. J Biol Chem 279(37): 38369-38378.
- Ihara, Y., Cohen-Doyle, M. F., Saito, Y. and Williams, D. B. (1999). Calnexin Discriminates between Protein Conformational States and Functions as a Molecular Chaperone In Vitro. <u>Mol Cell</u> **4**(3): 331-341.
- Ireland, B. S., Brockmeier, U., Howe, C. M., Elliott, T. and Williams, D. B. (2008). Lectin-deficient Calreticulin Retains Full Functionality as a Chaperone for Class I Histocompatibility Molecules. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 19(6): 2413-2423.
- Isidoro, C., Maggioni, C., Demoz, M., Pizzagalli, A., Fra, A. M. and Sitia, R. (1996). Exposed Thiols Confer Localization in the Endoplasmic Reticulum by Retention Rather than Retrieval. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 271(42): 26138-26142.
- Itin, C., Roche, A. C., Monsigny, M. and Hauri, H. P. (1996). ERGIC-53 is a functional mannose-selective and calcium-dependent human homologue of leguminous lectins. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 7(3): 483-493.
- Jackson, C. L. (2009). Mechanisms of transport through the Golgi complex. J Cell Sci 122(4): 443-452.
- Jackson, M. R., Nilsson, T. and Peterson, P. A. (1990). Identification of a consensus motif for retention of transmembrane proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum. <u>Embo J 9(10)</u>: 3153-62.
- Jakob, C. A., Bodmer, D., Spirig, U., Battig, P., Marcil, A., Dignard, D., Bergeron, J. J., Thomas, D. Y. and Aebi, M. (2001). Htm1p, a mannosidase-like protein, is involved in glycoprotein degradation in yeast. <u>EMBO Rep</u> 2(5): 423-30.
- Jakob, C. A., Burda, P., Roth, J. and Aebi, M. (1998). Degradation of misfolded endoplasmic reticulum glycoproteins in Saccharomyces cerevisiae is determined by a specific oligosaccharide structure. <u>J Cell Biol</u> 142(5): 1223-33.
- Jares-Erijman, E. A. and Jovin, T. M. (2003). FRET imaging. Nat Biotechnol 21(11): 1387-95.
- Jarosch, E., Taxis, C., Volkwein, C., Bordallo, J., Finley, D., Wolf, D. H. and Sommer, T. (2002). Protein dislocation from the ER requires polyubiquitination and the AAA-ATPase Cdc48. <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> 4(2): 134-139.
- Jensen, T. J., Loo, M. A., Pind, S., Williams, D. B., Goldberg, A. L. and Riordan, J. R. (1995). Multiple proteolytic systems, including the proteasome, contribute to CFTR processing. <u>Cell</u> **83**(1): 129-35.
- Jessop, C. E., Chakravarthi, S., Garbi, N., Hammerling, G. J., Lovell, S. and Bulleid, N. J. (2007). ERp57 is essential for efficient folding of glycoproteins sharing common structural domains. <u>Embo J</u> **26**(1): 28-40.
- Jiang, C., Fang, S. L., Xiao, Y.-F., O'Connor, S. P., Nadler, S. G., Lee, D. W., Jefferson, D. M., Kaplan, J. M., Smith, A. E. and Cheng, S. H. (1998). Partial restoration of cAMP-stimulated CFTR chloride channel activity in Delta F508 cells by deoxyspergualin. <u>Am J Physiol Cell Physiol</u> 275(1): C171-178.
- Jin, M., Sahagian, G. G. and Snider, M. D. (1989). Transport of surface mannose 6-phosphate receptor to the Golgi complex in cultured human cells. J Biol Chem **264**(13): 7675-7680.
- Johnson, K. F. and Kornfeld, S. (1992a). A His-Leu-Leu sequence near the carboxyl terminus of the cytoplasmic domain of the cation-dependent mannose 6-phosphate receptor is necessary for the lysosomal enzyme sorting function. J Biol Chem 267(24): 17110-17115.
- Johnson, K. F. and Kornfeld, S. (1992b). The cytoplasmic tail of the mannose 6-phosphate/insulin-like growth factor-II receptor has two signals for lysosomal enzyme sorting in the Golgi. J Cell Biol **119**(2): 249-257.
- Johnsson, N. and Varshavsky, A. (1994). Split ubiquitin as a sensor of protein interactions in vivo. <u>Proc Natl</u> <u>Acad Sci U S A</u> 91(22): 10340-10344.
- Kamhi-Nesher, S., Shenkman, M., Tolchinsky, S., Fromm, S. V., Ehrlich, R. and Lederkremer, G. Z. (2001). A Novel Quality Control Compartment Derived from the Endoplasmic Reticulum. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 12(6): 1711-1723.
- Kamiya, Y., Kamiya, D., Yamamoto, K., Nyfeler, B., Hauri, H. P. and Kato, K. (2008). Molecular basis of sugar recognition by the human L-type lectins ERGIC-53, VIPL, and VIP36. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 283(4): 1857-61.
- Kamiya, Y., Yamaguchi, Y., Takahashi, N., Arata, Y., Kasai, K., Ihara, Y., Matsuo, I., Ito, Y., Yamamoto, K. and Kato, K. (2005). Sugar-binding properties of VIP36, an intracellular animal lectin operating as a cargo receptor. J Biol Chem 280(44): 37178-82.
- Kappeler, F., Klopfenstein, D. R. C., Foguet, M., Paccaud, J.-P. and Hauri, H.-P. (1997). The Recycling of ERGIC-53 in the Early Secretory Pathway. ERGIC-53 carries a cytosolic endoplasmic reticulum exit determinant interacting with COPII carries a cytosolic endoplasmic reticulum-exit determinant interacting with COPII. J Biol Chem 272(50): 31801-31808.
- Keller, S. H., Lindstrom, J. and Taylor, P. (1998). Inhibition of Glucose Trimming with Castanospermine Reduces Calnexin Association and Promotes Proteasome Degradation of the alpha -Subunit of the Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 273(27): 17064-17072.
- Kerppola, T. K. (2008). Bimolecular Fluorescence Complementation (BiFC) Analysis as a Probe of Protein Interactions in Living Cells. <u>Annu Rev Biophys</u> 37(1): 465-487.

- Kim, J. H., Lingwood, C. A., Williams, D. B., Furuya, W., Manolson, M. F. and Grinstein, S. (1996). Dynamic measurement of the pH of the Golgi complex in living cells using retrograde transport of the verotoxin receptor. J Cell Biol 134(6): 1387-1399.
- Kim, I., Ahn, J., Liu, C., Tanabe, K., Apodaca, J., Suzuki, T. and Rao, H. (2006). The Png1-Rad23 complex regulates glycoprotein turnover. <u>J Cell Biol</u> **172**(2): 211-219.
- Kim, W., Spear, E. D. and Ng, D. T. W. (2005). Yos9p Detects and Targets Misfolded Glycoproteins for ER-Associated Degradation. <u>Mol Cell</u> 19(6): 753-764.
- Kim, I., Mi, K. and Rao, H. (2004). Multiple Interactions of Rad23 Suggest a Mechanism for Ubiquitylated Substrate Delivery Important in Proteolysis. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 15(7): 3357-3365.
- Kitzmüller, C., Caprini, A., Moore, S. E. H., Frénoy, J.-P., Schwaiger, E., Kellermann, O., Ivessa, N. E. and Ermonval, M. (2003). Processing of N-linked glycans during endoplasmic-reticulum-associated degradation of a short-lived variant of ribophorin I. <u>Biochem J 376</u>(3): 687-696.
- Klumperman, J., Schweizer, A., Clausen, H., Tang, B. L., Hong, W., Oorschot, V. and Hauri, H. P. (1998). The recycling pathway of protein ERGIC-53 and dynamics of the ER-Golgi intermediate compartment. <u>J Cell</u> <u>Sci</u> 111(22): 3411-3425.
- Knittler, M. R. and Haas, I. G. (1992). Interaction of BiP with newly synthesized immunoglobulin light chain molecules: cycles of sequential binding and release. <u>Embo J</u> **11**(4): 1573-81.
- Knop, M., Finger, A., Braun, T., Hellmuth, K. and Wolf, D. H. (1996). Der1, a novel protein specifically required for endoplasmic reticulum degradation in yeast. <u>Embo J</u> 15(4): 753-63.
- Koegler, E., Bonnon, C., Waldmeier, L., Mitrovic, S., Halbeisen, R. and Hauri, H.-P. (2009). p28, A Novel ERGIC/cis Golgi Protein, Required for Golgi Ribbon Formation. <u>Traffic</u> 11(1):70-89
- Kornfeld, R. and Kornfeld, S. (1985). Assembly of Asparagine-Linked Oligosaccharides. <u>Annu Rev Biochem</u> **54**(1): 631-664.
- Kreis, T. E. and Lodish, H. F. (1986). Oligomerization is essential for transport of vesicular stomatitis viral glycoprotein to the cell surface. <u>Cell</u> **46**(6): 929-937.
- Krijnse-Locker, J., Ericsson, M., Rottier, P. J. and Griffiths, G. (1994). Characterization of the budding compartment of mouse hepatitis virus: evidence that transport from the RER to the Golgi complex requires only one vesicular transport step. J Cell Biol 124(1): 55-70.
- Kurihara, T., Hamamoto, S., Gimeno, R. E., Kaiser, C. A., Schekman, R. and Yoshihisa, T. (2000). Sec24p and Iss1p function interchangeably in transport vesicle formation from the endoplasmic reticulum in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 11(3): 983-98.
- Kuznetsov, G., Chen, L. B. and Nigam, S. K. (1994). Several endoplasmic reticulum stress proteins, including ERp72, interact with thyroglobulin during its maturation. J Biol Chem 269(37): 22990-22995.
- Kyle, J. W., Nolan, C. M., Oshima, A. and Sly, W. S. (1988). Expression of human cation-independent mannose 6-phosphate receptor cDNA in receptor-negative mouse P388D1 cells following gene transfer. <u>J Biol Chem.</u> 263(31): 16230-16235.
- Lackie, P. M. and Adam, E. C. (2006). Sweet talking-cellular carbohydrates and epithelial repair. <u>Clin Exp</u> <u>Allergy</u> **36**(5): 560-2.
- Lahtinen, U., Svensson, K. and Pettersson, R. F. (1999). Mapping of structural determinants for the oligomerization of p58, a lectin-like protein of the intermediate compartment and cis-Golgi. <u>Eur J Biochem</u> 260(2): 392-7.
- Lal, A., Schutzbach, J. S., Forsee, W. T., Neame, P. J. and Moremen, K. W. (1994). Isolation and expression of murine and rabbit cDNAs encoding an alpha 1,2-mannosidase involved in the processing of asparaginelinked oligosaccharides. J Biol Chem. 269(13): 9872-9881.
- Lazzarino, D. A. and Gabel, C. A. (1989). Mannose processing is an important determinant in the assembly of phosphorylated high mannose-type oligosaccharides. J. Biol. Chem. **264**(9): 5015-5023.
- Leach, M. R. and Williams, D. B. (2004). Lectin-deficient Calnexin Is Capable of Binding Class I Histocompatibility Molecules in Vivo and Preventing Their Degradation. J Biol Chem 279(10): 9072-9079.
- Leach, M. R., Cohen-Doyle, M. F., Thomas, D. Y. and Williams, D. B. (2002). Localization of the Lectin, ERp57 Binding, and Polypeptide Binding Sites of Calnexin and Calreticulin. <u>J Biol. Chem</u> 277(33): 29686-29697.
- Lederkremer, G. Z. and Glickman, M. H. (2005). A window of opportunity: timing protein degradation by trimming of sugars and ubiquitins. <u>Trends Biochem Sci</u> **30**(6): 297-303.
- Lewis, M. J., Mazzarella, R. A. and Green, M. (1985). Structure and assembly of the endoplasmic reticulum. The synthesis of three major endoplasmic reticulum proteins during lipopolysaccharide- induced differentiation of murine lymphocytes. J Biol Chem 260(5): 3050-3057.
- Lewis, M. J. and Pelham, H. R. B. (1992). Ligand-induced redistribution of a human KDEL receptor from the Golgi complex to the endoplasmic reticulum. <u>Cell</u> **68**(2): 353-364.
- Li, Y., Kane, T., Tipper, C., Spatrick, P. and Jenness, D. D. (1999). Yeast Mutants Affecting Possible Quality Control of Plasma Membrane Proteins. <u>Mol Cell Biol.</u> **19**(5): 3588-3599.

- Lievens, P. M. J., De Servi, B., Garofalo, S., Lunstrum, G. P., Horton, W. A. and Liboi, E. (2008). Transient dimerization and interaction with ERGIC-53 occur in the fibroblast growth factor receptor 3 early secretory pathway. <u>Int J Biochem Cell Biol</u> 40(11): 2649-2659.
- Lilley, B. N. and Ploegh, H. L. (2004). A membrane protein required for dislocation of misfolded proteins from the ER. <u>Nature</u> **429**(6994): 834-840.
- Linnik, K. M. and Herscovitz, H. (1998). Multiple Molecular Chaperones Interact with Apolipoprotein B during Its Maturation. J Biol Chem 273(33): 21368-21373.
- Lippincott-Schwartz, J., Yuan, L. C., Bonifacino, J. S. and Klausner, R. D. (1989). Rapid redistribution of Golgi proteins into the ER in cells treated with brefeldin A: Evidence for membrane cycling from Golgi to ER. <u>Cell</u> 56(5): 801-813.
- Lippincott-Schwartz, J., Bonifacino, J. S., Yuan, L. C. and Klausner, R. D. (1988). Degradation from the endoplasmic reticulum: Disposing of newly synthesized proteins. <u>Cell</u> **54**(2): 209-220.
- Liu, Y., Choudhury, P., Cabral, C. M. and Sifers, R. N. (1999). Oligosaccharide Modification in the Early Secretory Pathway Directs the Selection of a Misfolded Glycoprotein for Degradation by the Proteasome. J <u>Biol Chem</u> 274(9): 5861-5867.
- Lomas, D. A., Evans, D. L., Finch, J. T. and Carrell, R. W. (1992). The mechanism of Z alpha 1-antitrypsin accumulation in the liver. <u>Nature</u> **357**(6379): 605-7.
- Love, H. D., Lin, C.-C., Short, C. S. and Ostermann, J. (1998). Isolation of Functional Golgi-derived Vesicles with a Possible Role in Retrograde Transport. J Cell Biol 140(3): 541-551.
- Lovegrove, J. U., Jeremiah, S., Gillett, G. T., Temple, I. K., Povey, S. and Whitehouse, D. B. (1997). A new alpha 1-antitrypsin mutation, Thr-Met 85, (PI Zbristol) associated with novel electrophoretic properties. <u>Ann Hum Genet</u> **61**(05): 385-391.
- Ludwig, T., Griffiths, G. and Hoflack, B. (1991). Distribution of newly synthesized lysosomal enzymes in the endocytic pathway of normal rat kidney cells. J Cell Biol **115**(6): 1561-1572.
- Lukacs, G. L., Mohamed, A., Kartner, N., Chang, X. B., Riordan, J. R. and Grinstein, S. (1994). Conformational maturation of CFTR but not its mutant counterpart (delta F508) occurs in the endoplasmic reticulum and requires ATP. <u>Embo J 13</u>(24): 6076-86.
- Luker, K. E., Smith, M. C. P., Luker, G. D., Gammon, S. T., Piwnica-Worms, H. and Piwnica-Worms, D. (2004). Kinetics of regulated protein-protein interactions revealed with firefly luciferase complementation imaging in cells and living animals. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 101(33): 12288-12293.
- Ma, D., Zerangue, N., Lin, Y.-F., Collins, A., Yu, M., Jan, Y. N. and Jan, L. Y. (2001). Role of ER Export Signals in Controlling Surface Potassium Channel Numbers. <u>Science</u> **291**(5502): 316-319.
- Macer, D. R. and Koch, G. L. (1988). Identification of a set of calcium-binding proteins in reticuloplasm, the luminal content of the endoplasmic reticulum. J Cell Sci **91**(1): 61-70.
- Malhotra, J. D. and Kaufman, R. J. (2007). The endoplasmic reticulum and the unfolded protein response. <u>Semin</u> <u>Cell Dev Biol</u> 18(6): 716-731.
- Malkus, P., Jiang, F. and Schekman, R. (2002). Concentrative sorting of secretory cargo proteins into COPIIcoated vesicles. <u>J Cell Biol</u> 159(6): 915-921.
- Malsam, J., Gommel, D., Wieland, F. T. and Nickel, W. (1999). A role for ADP ribosylation factor in the control of cargo uptake during COPI-coated vesicle biogenesis. <u>FEBS Lett</u> **462**(3): 267-272.
- Mancias, J. D. and Goldberg, J. (2008). Structural basis of cargo membrane protein discrimination by the human COPII coat machinery. <u>EMBO J</u> 27(21): 2918-2928.
- Marquardt, T. and Helenius, A. (1992). Misfolding and aggregation of newly synthesized proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum. J Cell Biol **117**(3): 505-513.
- Marth, J. D. and Grewal, P. K. (2008). Mammalian glycosylation in immunity. <u>Nat Rev Immunol</u> **8**(11): 874-887.
- Mast, S. W., Diekman, K., Karaveg, K., Davis, A., Sifers, R. N. and Moremen, K. W. (2005). Human EDEM2, a novel homolog of family 47 glycosidases, is involved in ER-associated degradation of glycoproteins. <u>Glycobiology</u> 15(4): 421-436.
- Mauxion, F., Borgne, R. L., Munier-Lehmann, H. l. n. and Hoflack, B. (1996). A Casein Kinase II Phosphorylation Site in the Cytoplasmic Domain of the Cation-dependent Mannose 6-Phosphate Receptor Determines the High Affinity Interaction of the AP-1 Golgi Assembly Proteins with Membranes. J Biol Chem 271(4): 2171-2178.
- Mbonye, U. R., Wada, M., Rieke, C. J., Tang, H.-Y., DeWitt, D. L. and Smith, W. L. (2006). The 19-amino Acid Cassette of Cyclooxygenase-2 Mediates Entry of the Protein into the Endoplasmic Reticulum-associated Degradation System. J Biol Chem 281(47): 35770-35778.
- Mbonye, U. R., Yuan, C., Harris, C. E., Sidhu, R. S., Song, I., Arakawa, T. and Smith, W. L. (2008). Two Distinct Pathways for Cyclooxygenase-2 Protein Degradation. J Bio. Chem 283(13): 8611-8623.
- Medicherla, B., Kostova, Z., Schaefer, A. and Wolf, D. H. (2004). A genomic screen identifies Dsk2p and Rad23p as essential components of ER-associated degradation. <u>EMBO Rep</u> 5(7): 692-7.
- Mellman, I. and Simons, K. (1992). The Golgi complex: In vitro veritas? Cell 68(5): 829-840.

- Melnick, J., Aviel, S. and Argon, Y. (1992). The endoplasmic reticulum stress protein GRP94, in addition to BiP, associates with unassembled immunoglobulin chains. J Biol Chem **267**(30): 21303-21306.
- Melnick, J., Dul, J. L. and Argon, Y. (1994). Sequential interaction of the chaperones BiP and GRP94 with immunoglobulin chains in the endoplasmic reticulum. <u>Nature</u> **370**(6488): 373-5.
- Mervine, S. M., Yost, E. A., Sabo, J. L., Hynes, T. R. and Berlot, C. H. (2006). Analysis of G Protein βγ Dimer Formation in Live Cells Using Multicolor Bimolecular Fluorescence Complementation Demonstrates Preferences of β1 for Particular γ Subunits. <u>Mol Pharmacol</u> **70**(1): 194-205.
- Meunier, L., Usherwood, Y.-K., Chung, K. T. and Hendershot, L. M. (2002). A Subset of Chaperones and Folding Enzymes Form Multiprotein Complexes in Endoplasmic Reticulum to Bind Nascent Proteins. <u>Mol</u> <u>Biol Cell</u> 13(12): 4456-4469.
- Meyer, C., Eskelinen, E.-L., Guruprasad, M. R., von Figura, K. and Schu, P. (2001). {micro}1A deficiency induces a profound increase in MPR300/IGF-II receptor internalization rate. J Cell Sci 114(24): 4469-4476.
- Meyer, C., Zizioli, D., Lausmann, S., Eskelinen, E.-L., Hamann, J., Saftig, P., von Figura, K. and Schu, P. (2000). [mu]1A-adaptin-deficient mice: lethality, loss of AP-1 binding and rerouting of mannose 6phosphate receptors. <u>EMBO J</u> 19(10): 2193-2203.
- Mezzacasa, A. and Helenius, A. (2002). The Transitional ER Defines a Boundary for Quality Control in the Secretion of tsO45 VSV Glycoprotein. <u>Traffic</u> **3**(11): 833-849.
- Michelsen, K., Schmid, V., Metz, J., Heusser, K., Liebel, U., Schwede, T., Spang, A. and Schwappach, B. (2007). Novel cargo-binding site in the {beta} and {delta} subunits of coatomer. <u>J Cell Biol</u> 179(2): 209-217.
- Min, J., Park, P.-g., Ko, E., Choi, E. and Lee, H. (2007). Identification of Rad51 regulation by BRCA2 using Caenorhabditis elegans BRCA2 and bimolecular fluorescence complementation analysis. <u>Biochem Biophys</u> <u>Res Commun</u> 362(4): 958-964.
- Mironov, A. A., Beznoussenko, G. V., Nicoziani, P., Martella, O., Trucco, A., Kweon, H.-S., Di Giandomenico, D., Polishchuk, R. S., Fusella, A., Lupetti, P., Berger, E. G., Geerts, W. J. C., Koster, A. J., Burger, K. N. J. and Luini, A. (2001). Small cargo proteins and large aggregates can traverse the Golgi by a common mechanism without leaving the lumen of cisternae. J Cell Biol 155(7): 1225-1238.
- Mironov, A. A., Mironov Jr, A. A., Beznoussenko, G. V., Trucco, A., Lupetti, P., Smith, J. D., Geerts, W. J. C., Koster, A. J., Burger, K. N. J., Martone, M. E., Deerinck, T. J., Ellisman, M. H. and Luini, A. (2003). ERto-Golgi Carriers Arise through Direct En Bloc Protrusion and Multistage Maturation of Specialized ER Exit Domains. <u>Dev Cell</u> 5(4): 583-594.
- Misra, S., Puertollano, R., Kato, Y., Bonifacino, J. S. and Hurley, J. H. (2002). Structural basis for acidic-clusterdileucine sorting-signal recognition by VHS domains. <u>Nature</u> **415**(6874): 933-937.
- Mitrovic, S., Ben-Tekaya, H., Koegler, E., Gruenberg, J. and Hauri, H.-P. (2008). The Cargo Receptors Surf4, Endoplasmic Reticulum-Golgi Intermediate Compartment (ERGIC)-53, and p25 Are Required to Maintain the Architecture of ERGIC and Golgi. Mol Biol Cell **19**(5): 1976-1990.
- Molinari, M., Calanca, V., Galli, C., Lucca, P. and Paganetti, P. (2003). Role of EDEM in the Release of Misfolded Glycoproteins from the Calnexin Cycle. <u>Science</u> **299**(5611): 1397-1400.
- Molinari, M., Galli, C., Piccaluga, V., Pieren, M. and Paganetti, P. (2002). Sequential assistance of molecular chaperones and transient formation of covalent complexes during protein degradation from the ER. <u>J Cell</u> <u>Biol</u> 158(2): 247-257.
- Molinari, M. and Helenius, A. (1999). Glycoproteins form mixed disulphides with oxidoreductases during folding in living cells. <u>Nature</u> **402**(6757): 90-93.
- Morell, M., Espargaro, A., Aviles, F. X. and Ventura, S. (2007). Detection of transient protein-protein interactions by bimolecular fluorescence complementation: the Abl-SH3 case. <u>Proteomics</u> 7(7): 1023-36.
- Morell, M., Ventura, S. and Avilés, F. X. (2009). Protein complementation assays: Approaches for the in vivo analysis of protein interactions. <u>FEBS Lett</u> **583**(11): 1684-1691.
- Moremen, K. W. (2002). Golgi [alpha]-mannosidase II deficiency in vertebrate systems: implications for asparagine-linked oligosaccharide processing in mammals. Biochim Biophys Acta **1573**(3): 225-235.
- Mossessova, E., Bickford, L. C. and Goldberg, J. (2003). SNARE Selectivity of the COPII Coat. Cell 114(4): 483-495.
- Muller, J. and Johnsson, N. (2008). Split-ubiquitin and the split-protein sensors: chessman for the endgame. <u>Chembiochem</u> 9(13): 2029-38.
- Muniz, M., Nuoffer, C., Hauri, H.-P. and Riezman, H. (2000). The Emp24 Complex Recruits a Specific Cargo Molecule into Endoplasmic Reticulum-derived Vesicles. J Cell Biol 148(5): 925-930.
- Munro, S. and Pelham, H. R. B. (1987). A C-terminal signal prevents secretion of luminal ER proteins. <u>Cell</u> **48**(5): 899-907.
- Nagai, T., Sawano, A., Park, E. S. and Miyawaki, A. (2001). Circularly permuted green fluorescent proteins engineered to sense Ca2+. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **98**(6): 3197-3202.
- Nakatsukasa, K. and Brodsky, J. L. (2008). The recognition and retrotranslocation of misfolded proteins from the endoplasmic reticulum. <u>Traffic</u> 9(6): 861-70.

- Nakayama, K. (1997). Furin: a mammalian subtilisin/Kex2p-like endoprotease involved in processing of a wide variety of precursor proteins. <u>Biochem J</u> **327** (Pt 3): 625-35.
- Narasimhan, S. (1982). Control of glycoprotein synthesis. UDP-GlcNAc:glycopeptide beta 4-Nacetylglucosaminyltransferase III, an enzyme in hen oviduct which adds GlcNAc in beta 1-4 linkage to the beta-linked mannose of the trimannosyl core of N-glycosyl oligosaccharides. J Biol Chem 257(17): 10235-10242.
- Nawa, D., Shimada, O., Kawasaki, N., Matsumoto, N. and Yamamoto, K. (2007). Stable interaction of the cargo receptor VIP36 with molecular chaperone BiP. <u>Glycobiology</u> 17(9): 913-21.
- Neve, E. P., Svensson, K., Fuxe, J. and Pettersson, R. F. (2003). VIPL, a VIP36-like membrane protein with a putative function in the export of glycoproteins from the endoplasmic reticulum. <u>Exp Cell Res</u> **288**(1): 70-83.
- Neve, E. P. A., Lahtinen, U. and Pettersson, R. F. (2005). Oligomerization and Interacellular Localization of the Glycoprotein Receptor ERGIC-53 is Independent of Disulfide Bonds. J Mol Biol **354**(3): 556-568.
- Ng, D. T. W., Spear, E. D. and Walter, P. (2000). The Unfolded Protein Response Regulates Multiple Aspects of Secretory and Membrane Protein Biogenesis and Endoplasmic Reticulum Quality Control. <u>J Cell Biol</u> **150**(1): 77-88.
- Nichols, W. C., Seligsohn, U., Zivelin, A., Terry, V. H., Hertel, C. E., Wheatley, M. A., Moussalli, M. J., Hauri, H.-P., Ciavarella, N., Kaufman, R. J. and Ginsburg, D. (1998). Mutations in the ER-Golgi Intermediate Compartment Protein ERGIC-53 Cause Combined Deficiency of Coagulation Factors V and VIII. <u>Cell</u> 93(1): 61-70.
- Nilsson, T., Au, C. E. and Bergeron, J. J. M. (2009). Sorting out glycosylation enzymes in the Golgi apparatus. <u>FEBS Lett</u> **583**(23):3764-3769.
- Nilsson, T., Pypaert, M., Hoe, M. H., Slusarewicz, P., Berger, E. G. and Warren, G. (1993). Overlapping distribution of two glycosyltransferases in the Golgi apparatus of HeLa cells. J Cell Biol **120**(1): 5-13.
- Nishikawa, S. I., Fewell, S. W., Kato, Y., Brodsky, J. L. and Endo, T. (2001). Molecular chaperones in the yeast endoplasmic reticulum maintain the solubility of proteins for retrotranslocation and degradation. <u>J Cell Biol</u> **153**(5): 1061-70.
- Nishimura, N. and Balch, W. E. (1997). A Di-Acidic Signal Required for Selective Export from the Endoplasmic Reticulum. <u>Science</u> 277(5325): 556-558.
- Nufer, O., Guldbrandsen, S., Degen, M., Kappeler, F., Paccaud, J.-P., Tani, K. and Hauri, H.-P. (2002). Role of cytoplasmic C-terminal amino acids of membrane proteins in ER export. <u>J Cell Sci 115(3)</u>: 619-628.
- Nufer, O., Kappeler, F., Guldbrandsen, S. and Hauri, H.-P. (2003). ER export of ERGIC-53 is controlled by cooperation of targeting determinants in all three of its domains. J Cell Sci **116**(21): 4429-4440.
- Nufer, O., Mitrovic, S. and Hauri, H.-P. (2003). Profile-based Data Base Scanning for Animal L-type Lectins and Characterization of VIPL, a Novel VIP36-like Endoplasmic Reticulum Protein. J Biol Chem 278(18): 15886-15896.
- Nyfeler, B., Reiterer, V., Wendeler, M. W., Stefan, E., Zhang, B., Michnick, S. W. and Hauri, H.-P. (2008). Identification of ERGIC-53 as an intracellular transport receptor of {alpha}1-antitrypsin. <u>J Cell Biol</u> **180**(4): 705-712.
- Nyfeler, B., Zhang, B., Ginsburg, D., Kaufman, R. J. and Hauri, H. P. (2006). Cargo selectivity of the ERGIC-3/MCFD2 transport receptor complex. <u>Traffic</u> 7(11): 1473-81.
- Nyfeler, B., Michnick, S. W. and Hauri, H. P. (2005). Capturing protein interactions in the secretory pathway of living cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(18): 6350-5.
- Nyfeler, B., Nufer, O., Matsui, T., Mori, K. and Hauri, H. P. (2003). The cargo receptor ERGIC-53 is a target of the unfolded protein response. <u>Biochem Biophys Res Commun</u> **304**(4): 599-604.
- Oda, Y., Hosokawa, N., Wada, I. and Nagata, K. (2003). EDEM as an acceptor of terminally misfolded glycoproteins released from calnexin. <u>Science</u> **299**(5611): 1394-1397.
- Okamura, K., Kimata, Y., Higashio, H., Tsuru, A. and Kohno, K. (2000). Dissociation of Kar2p/BiP from an ER Sensory Molecule, Ire1p, Triggers the Unfolded Protein Response in Yeast. <u>Biochem Biophys Res Commun</u> 279(2): 445-450.
- Okuda-Shimizu, Y. and Hendershot, L. M. (2007). Characterization of an ERAD Pathway for Nonglycosylated BiP Substrates, which Require Herp. <u>Mol Cell</u> 28(4): 544-554.
- Olivari, S., Cali, T., Salo, K. E. H., Paganetti, P., Ruddock, L. W. and Molinari, M. (2006). EDEM1 regulates ER-associated degradation by accelerating de-mannosylation of folding-defective polypeptides and by inhibiting their covalent aggregation. <u>Biochem Biophys Res Commun</u> 349(4): 1278-1284.
- Olivari, S., Galli, C., Alanen, H., Ruddock, L. and Molinari, M. (2005). A Novel Stress-induced EDEM Variant Regulating Endoplasmic Reticulum-associated Glycoprotein Degradation. J Biol Chem 280(4): 2424-2428.
- Olivari, S. and Molinari, M. (2007). Glycoprotein folding and the role of EDEM1, EDEM2 and EDEM3 in degradation of folding-defective glycoproteins. <u>FEBS Lett</u> **581**(19): 3658-3664.
- Oliver, J. D., Roderick, H. L., Llewellyn, D. H. and High, S. (1999). ERp57 Functions as a Subunit of Specific Complexes Formed with the ER Lectins Calreticulin and Calnexin. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **10**(8): 2573-2582.

Oppenheimer, C. L., Eckhardt, A. E. and Hill, R. L. (1981). The nonidentity of porcine Nacetylglucosaminyltransferases I and II. <u>J Biol Chem</u> **256**(22): 11477-11482.

- Orci, L., Ravazzola, M., Meda, P., Holcomb, C., Moore, H. P., Hicke, L. and Schekman, R. (1991). Mammalian Sec23p homologue is restricted to the endoplasmic reticulum transitional cytoplasm. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S</u> <u>A</u> 88(19): 8611-5.
- Orci, L., Ravazzola, M., Volchuk, A., Engel, T., Gmachl, M., Amherdt, M., Perrelet, A., Söllner, T. H. and Rothman, J. E. (2000). Anterograde flow of cargo across the Golgi stack potentially mediated via bidirectional percolating COPI vesicles. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 97(19): 10400-10405.
- Orci, L., Stamnes, M., Ravazzola, M., Amherdt, M., Perrelet, A., Söllner, T. H. and Rothman, J. E. (1997). Bidirectional Transport by Distinct Populations of COPI-Coated Vesicles. <u>Cell</u> **90**(2): 335-349.
- Ostrovsky, O., Makarewich, C. A., Snapp, E. L. and Argon, Y. (2009). An essential role for ATP binding and hydrolysis in the chaperone activity of GRP94 in cells. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **106**(28): 11600-11605.
- Ostwald, T. J. and MacLennan, D. H. (1974). Isolation of a High Affinity Calcium-binding Protein from Sarcoplasmic Reticulum. J Biol Chem 249(3): 974-979.
- Otte, S. and Barlowe, C. (2002). The Erv41p-Erv46p complex: multiple export signals are required in trans for COPII-dependent transport from the ER. Embo J 21(22): 6095-104.
- Ou, W.-J., Bergeron, J. J. M., Li, Y., Kang, C. Y. and Thomas, D. Y. (1995). Conformational Changes Induced in the Endoplasmic Reticulum Luminal Domain of Calnexin by Mg-ATP and Ca. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 270(30): 18051-18059.
- Paakko, P., Kirby, M., du Bois, R. M., Gillissen, A., Ferrans, V. J. and Crystal, R. G. (1996). Activated neutrophils secrete stored alpha 1-antitrypsin. <u>Am J Respir Crit Care Med</u> **154**(6): 1829-1833.
- Paccaud, J. P., Reith, W., Carpentier, J. L., Ravazzola, M., Amherdt, M., Schekman, R. and Orci, L. (1996). Cloning and functional characterization of mammalian homologues of the COPII component Sec23. <u>Mol</u> <u>Biol Cell</u> 7(10): 1535-1546.
- Pagani, M., Fabbri, M., Benedetti, C., Fassio, A., Pilati, S., Bulleid, N. J., Cabibbo, A. and Sitia, R. (2000). Endoplasmic Reticulum Oxidoreductin 1-lbeta (ERO1-Lbeta), a Human Gene Induced in the Course of the Unfolded Protein Response. J Biol Chem 275(31): 23685-23692.
- Pagano, A., Letourneur, F., Garcia-Estefania, D., Carpentier, J. L., Orci, L. and Paccaud, J. P. (1999). Sec24 proteins and sorting at the endoplasmic reticulum. J Biol Chem 274(12): 7833-40.
- Parodi, A. J., Mendelzon, D. H., Lederkremer, G. Z. and Martin-Barrientos, J. (1984). Evidence that transient glucosylation of protein-linked Man9GlcNAc2, Man8GlcNAc2, and Man7GlcNAc2 occurs in rat liver and Phaseolus vulgaris cells. J Biol Chem 259(10): 6351-6357.
- Patterson, G. H., Hirschberg, K., Polishchuk, R. S., Gerlich, D., Phair, R. D. and Lippincott-Schwartz, J. (2008). Transport through the Golgi Apparatus by Rapid Partitioning within a Two-Phase Membrane System. <u>Cell</u> 133(6): 1055-1067.
- Pelham, H. R. B. and Rothman, J. E. (2000). The Debate about Transport in the Golgi--Two Sides of the Same Coin? <u>Cell</u> **102**(6): 713-719.
- Pelletier, J. N., Campbell-Valois, F. X. and Michnick, S. W. (1998). Oligomerization domain-directed reassembly of active dihydrofolate reductase from rationally designed fragments. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 95(21): 12141-12146.
- Pepperkok, R., Scheel, J., Horstmann, H., Hauri, H. P., Griffiths, G. and Kreis, T. E. (1993). Beta-COP is essential for biosynthetic membrane transport from the endoplasmic reticulum to the Golgi complex in vivo. <u>Cell</u> 74(1): 71-82.
- Pernet-Gallay, K., Antony, C., Johannes, L., Bornens, M., Goud, B. and Rios, R. M. (2002). The overexpression of GMAP-210 blocks anterograde and retrograde transport between the ER and the Golgi apparatus. <u>Traffic</u> 3(11): 822-32.
- Phizicky, E. M. and Fields, S. (1995). Protein-protein interactions: methods for detection and analysis. <u>Microbiol</u> <u>Rev</u> 59(1): 94-123.
- Pimpaneau, V., Midoux, P., Monsigny, M. and Roche, A. C. (1991). Characterization and isolation of an intracellular -mannose-specific receptor from human promyelocytic HL60 cells. <u>Carbohydrate Research</u> 213: 95-108.
- Pipe, S. W., Morris, J. A., Shah, J. and Kaufman, R. J. (1998). Differential Interaction of Coagulation Factor VIII and Factor V with Protein Chaperones Calnexin and Calreticulin. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 273(14): 8537-8544.
- Plemper, R. K., Bohmler, S., Bordallo, J., Sommer, T. and Wolf, D. H. (1997). Mutant analysis links the translocon and BiP to retrograde protein transport for ER degradation. <u>Nature</u> **388**(6645): 891-895.
- Presley, J. F., Cole, N. B., Schroer, T. A., Hirschberg, K., Zaal, K. J. M. and Lippincott-Schwartz, J. (1997). ERto-Golgi transport visualized in living cells. <u>Nature</u> 389(6646): 81-85.
- Presley, J. F., Ward, T. H., Pfeifer, A. C., Siggia, E. D., Phair, R. D. and Lippincott-Schwartz, J. (2002). Dissection of COPI and Arf1 dynamics in vivo and role in Golgi membrane transport. <u>Nature</u> 417(6885): 187-193.

- Press, B., Feng, Y., Hoflack, B. and Wandinger-Ness, A. (1998). Mutant Rab7 Causes the Accumulation of Cathepsin D and Cation-independent Mannose 6-Phosphate Receptor in an Early Endocytic Compartment. J <u>Cell Biol</u> 140(5): 1075-1089.
- Puertollano, R., Aguilar, R. C., Gorshkova, I., Crouch, R. J. and Bonifacino, J. S. (2001). Sorting of Mannose 6-Phosphate Receptors Mediated by the GGAs. <u>Science</u> **292**(5522): 1712-1716.
- Puthenveedu, M. A., Bachert, C., Puri, S., Lanni, F. and Linstedt, A. D. (2006). GM130 and GRASP65dependent lateral cisternal fusion allows uniform Golgi-enzyme distribution. Nat Cell Biol 8(3): 238-248.
- Puthenveedu, M. A. and Linstedt, A. D. (2001). Evidence that Golgi structure depends on a p115 activity that is independent of the vesicle tether components giantin and GM130. J Cell Biol **155**(2): 227-238.
- Ren, L., Emery, D., Kaboord, B., Chang, E. and Qoronfleh, M. W. (2003). Improved immunomatrix methods to detect protein:protein interactions. Journal of Biochemical and Biophysical Methods 57(2): 143-157.
- Oliver, J. D., Roderick, H. L., Llewellyn, D. H. and High, S. (1999). ERp57 Functions as a Subunit of Specific Complexes Formed with the ER Lectins Calreticulin and Calnexin. Mol Biol Cell **10**(8): 2573-2582.
- Qiu, X. B., Shao, Y. M., Miao, S. and Wang, L. (2006). The diversity of the DnaJ/Hsp40 family, the crucial partners for Hsp70 chaperones. <u>Cell Mol Life Sci</u> 63(22): 2560-70.
- Raasi, S. and Wolf, D. H. (2007). Ubiquitin receptors and ERAD: A network of pathways to the proteasome. Semin Cell Dev Biol **18**(6): 780-791.
- Rabinovich, E., Kerem, A., Frohlich, K.-U., Diamant, N. and Bar-Nun, S. (2002). AAA-ATPase p97/Cdc48p, a Cytosolic Chaperone Required for Endoplasmic Reticulum-Associated Protein Degradation. <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 22(2): 626-634.
- Rabouille, C., Hui, N., Hunte, F., Kieckbusch, R., Berger, E. G., Warren, G. and Nilsson, T. (1995). Mapping the distribution of Golgi enzymes involved in the construction of complex oligosaccharides. <u>J Cell Sci</u> 108(4): 1617-1627.
- Rajagopalan, S., Xu, Y. and Brenner, M. B. (1994). Retention of unassembled components of integral membrane proteins by calnexin. <u>Science</u> **263**(5145): 387-90.
- Rambourg, A., Clermont, Y., Hermo, L. and Segretain, D. (1987). Tridimensional structure of the Golgi apparatus of nonciliated epithelial cells of the ductuli efferentes in rat: an electron microscope stereoscopic study. <u>Biol Cell</u> 60(2): 103-15.
- Rambourg, A. and Clermont, Y. (1990). Three-dimensional electron microscopy: structure of the Golgi apparatus. <u>Eur J Cell Biol</u> **51**(2): 189-200.
- Rape, M., Hoppe, T., Gorr, I., Kalocay, M., Richly, H. and Jentsch, S. (2001). Mobilization of Processed, Membrane-Tethered SPT23 Transcription Factor by CDC48UFD1/NPL4, a Ubiquitin-Selective Chaperone. <u>Cell</u> 107(5): 667-677.
- Reddy, S. T., Chai, W., Childs, R. A., Page, J. D., Feizi, T. and Dahms, N. M. (2004). Identification of a Low Affinity Mannose 6-Phosphate-binding Site in Domain 5 of the Cation-independent Mannose 6-Phosphate Receptor. J Biol Chem 279(37): 38658-38667.
- Reddy, P. S. and Corley, R. B. (1998). Assembly, sorting, and exit of oligomeric proteins from the endoplasmic reticulum. <u>Bioessays</u> **20**(7): 546-54.
- Richly, H., Rape, M., Braun, S., Rumpf, S., Hoege, C. and Jentsch, S. (2005). A Series of Ubiquitin Binding Factors Connects CDC48/p97 to Substrate Multiubiquitylation and Proteasomal Targeting. <u>Cell</u> 120(1): 73-84.
- Remy, I. and Michnick, S. W. (2006). A highly sensitive protein-protein interaction assay based on Gaussia luciferase. <u>Nat Methods</u> 3(12): 977-9.
- Riezman, H. (1997). The Ins and Outs of Protein Translocation. Science 278(5344): 1728-1729.
- Rios, R. M., SanchIs, A., Tassin, A. M., Fedriani, C. and Bornens, M. (2004). GMAP-210 Recruits [gamma]-Tubulin Complexes to cis-Golgi Membranes and is Required for Golgi Ribbon Formation. <u>Cell</u> 118(3): 323-335.
- Roberg, K. J., Crotwell, M., Espenshade, P., Gimeno, R. and Kaiser, C. A. (1999). LST1 is a SEC24 homologue used for selective export of the plasma membrane ATPase from the endoplasmic reticulum. <u>J Cell Biol</u> 145(4): 659-72.
- Rodan, A. R., Simons, J. F., Trombetta, E. S. and Helenius, A. (1996). N-linked oligosaccharides are necessary and sufficient for association of glycosylated forms of bovine RNase with calnexin and calreticulin. <u>Embo J</u> 15(24): 6921-30.
- Rogalski, A. A., Bergmann, J. E. and Singer, S. J. (1984). Effect of microtubule assembly status on the intracellular processing and surface expression of an integral protein of the plasma membrane. <u>J Cell Biol</u> 99(3): 1101-1109.
- Rojo, M., Emery, G., Marjomaki, V., McDowall, A. W., Parton, R. G. and Gruenberg, J. (2000). The transmembrane protein p23 contributes to the organization of the Golgi apparatus. <u>J Cell Sci</u> 113(6): 1043-1057.
- Roth, J. (2002). Protein N-Glycosylation along the Secretory Pathway: Relationship to Organelle Topography and Function, Protein Quality Control, and Cell Interactions. <u>Chem Rev</u> **102**(2): 285-304.

Roth, J. and Berger, E. G. (1982). Immunocytochemical localization of galactosyltransferase in HeLa cells: codistribution with thiamine pyrophosphatase in trans-Golgi cisternae. J Cell Biol **93**(1): 223-229.

Rothman, J. E. and Wieland, F. T. (1996). Protein sorting by transport vesicles. <u>Science</u> 272(5259): 227-34.
Rubenstein, R. C. and Zeitlin, P. L. (2000). Sodium 4-phenylbutyrate downregulates Hsc70: implications for intracellular trafficking of Delta F508-CFTR. <u>Am J Physiol Cell Physiol</u> 278(2): C259-267.

Rudd, P. M., Elliott, T., Cresswell, P., Wilson, I. A. and Dwek, R. A. (2001). Glycosylation and the Immune System. Science **291**(5512): 2370-2376.

Sadasivan, B., Lehner, P. J., Ortmann, B., Spies, T. and Cresswell, P. (1996). Roles for Calreticulin and a Novel Glycoprotein, Tapasin, in the Interaction of MHC Class I Molecules with TAP. Immunity 5(2): 103-114.

- Sahagian, G. G., Distler, J. and Jourdian, G. W. (1981). Characterization of a membrane-associated receptor from bovine liver that binds phosphomannosyl residues of bovine testicular beta-galactosidase. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 78(7): 4289-93.
- Saibil, H. R. (2008). Chaperone machines in action. Current Opinion in Structural Biology 18(1): 35-42.
- Samandari, T. and Brown, J. L. (1993). A study of the effects of altering the sites for N-glycosylation in alpha-1-proteinase inhibitor variants M and S. <u>Protein Sci</u> 2(9): 1400-10.
- Saraste, J. and Kuismanen, E. (1984). Pre- and post-golgi vacuoles operate in the transport of semliki forest virus membrane glycoproteins to the cell surface. Cell **38**(2): 535-549.
- Saraste, J., Palade, G. E. and Farquhar, M. G. (1987). Antibodies to rat pancreas Golgi subfractions: identification of a 58- kD cis-Golgi protein. J Cell Biol **105**(5): 2021-2029.
- Saraste, J. and Svensson, K. (1991). Distribution of the intermediate elements operating in ER to Golgi transport. J Cell Sci 100(3): 415-430.
- Satoh, M., Hirayoshi, K., Yokota, S., Hosokawa, N. and Nagata, K. (1996). Intracellular interaction of collagenspecific stress protein HSP47 with newly synthesized procollagen. J Cell Biol **133**(2): 469-483.
- Satoh, T., Cowieson, N. P., Hakamata, W., Ideo, H., Fukushima, K., Kurihara, M., Kato, R., Yamashita, K. and Wakatsuki, S. (2007). Structural basis for recognition of high mannose type glycoproteins by mammalian transport lectin VIP36. J Biol Chem 282(38): 28246-55.
- Satoh, T., Cowieson, N. P., Hakamata, W., Ideo, H., Fukushima, K., Kurihara, M., Kato, R., Yamashita, K. and Wakatsuki, S. (2007). Structural Basis for Recognition of High Mannose Type Glycoproteins by Mammalian Transport Lectin VIP36. J Biol Chem 282(38): 28246-28255.
- Scales, S. J., Pepperkok, R. and Kreis, T. E. (1997). Visualization of ER-to-Golgi Transport in Living Cells Reveals a Sequential Mode of Action for COPII and COPI. <u>Cell</u> **90**(6): 1137-1148.
- Schachter, H. (1984). Coordination between enzyme specificity and intracellular compartmentation in the control of protein-bound oligosaccharide biosynthesis. <u>Biol Cell</u> **51**(2): 133-45.
- Schimmoller, F., Singer-Kruger, B., Schroder, S., Kruger, U., Barlowe, C. and Riezman, H. (1995). The absence of Emp24p, a component of ER-derived COPII-coated vesicles, causes a defect in transport of selected proteins to the Golgi. <u>Embo J</u> 14(7): 1329-39.
- Schmidt, B. Z. and Perlmutter, D. H. (2005). Grp78, Grp94, and Grp170 interact with {alpha}1-antitrypsin mutants that are retained in the endoplasmic reticulum. <u>Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol</u> 289(3): G444-455.
- Schweizer, A., Fransen, J. A., Bachi, T., Ginsel, L. and Hauri, H. P. (1988). Identification, by a monoclonal antibody, of a 53-kD protein associated with a tubulo-vesicular compartment at the cis-side of the Golgi apparatus. J Cell Biol 107(5): 1643-1653.
- Schweizer, A., Fransen, J. A., Matter, K., Kreis, T. E., Ginsel, L. and Hauri, H. P. (1990). Identification of an intermediate compartment involved in protein transport from endoplasmic reticulum to Golgi apparatus. <u>Eur</u> <u>J Cell Biol</u> 53(2): 185-96.
- Schweizer, A., Matter, K., Ketcham, C. M. and Hauri, H. P. (1991). The isolated ER-Golgi intermediate compartment exhibits properties that are different from ER and cis-Golgi. J. Cell Biol. 113(1): 45-54.
- Seaman, M. N. J. (2004). Cargo-selective endosomal sorting for retrieval to the Golgi requires retromer. <u>J Cell</u> <u>Biol</u> 165(1): 111-122.
- Seaman, M. N. J., Marcusson, E. G., Cereghino, J. L. and Emr, S. D. (1997). Endosome to Golgi Retrieval of the Vacuolar Protein Sorting Receptor, Vps10p, Requires the Function of the VPS29, VPS30, and VPS35 Gene Products. J Cell Biol 137(1): 79-92.
- Seaman, M. N. J., Michael McCaffery, J. and Emr, S. D. (1998). A Membrane Coat Complex Essential for Endosome-to-Golgi Retrograde Transport in Yeast. J Cell Biol 142(3): 665-681.
- Shailubhai, K., Pukazhenthi, B. S., Saxena, E. S., Varma, G. M. and Vijay, I. K. (1991). Glucosidase I, a transmembrane endoplasmic reticular glycoprotein with a luminal catalytic domain. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 266(25): 16587-16593.
- Shapiro, J., Sciaky, N., Lee, J., Bosshart, H., Angeletti, R. H. and Bonifacino, J. S. (1997). Localization of Endogenous Furin in Cultured Cell Lines. J Histochem Cytochem 45(1): 3-12.
- Sharon, N. and Lis, H. (1990). Legume lectins--a large family of homologous proteins. <u>FASEB J</u> 4(14): 3198-3208.

- Shen, J., Snapp, E. L., Lippincott-Schwartz, J. and Prywes, R. (2005). Stable binding of ATF6 to BiP in the endoplasmic reticulum stress response. <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 25(3): 921-32.
- Shen, Y. and Hendershot, L. M. (2005). ERdj3, a Stress-inducible Endoplasmic Reticulum DnaJ Homologue, Serves as a CoFactor for BiP's Interactions with Unfolded Substrates. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **16**(1): 40-50.
- Shental-Bechor, D. and Levy, Y. (2009). Folding of glycoproteins: toward understanding the biophysics of the glycosylation code. <u>Curr Opin Struct Biol</u> **19**(5): 524-533.
- Shestakova, A., Zolov, S. and Lupashin, V. (2006). COG complex-mediated recycling of Golgi glycosyltransferases is essential for normal protein glycosylation. <u>Traffic</u> 7(2): 191-204.
- Shima, D. T., Scales, S. J., Kreis, T. E. and Pepperkok, R. (1999). Segregation of COPI-rich and anterogradecargo-rich domains in endoplasmic-reticulum-to-Golgi transport complexes. <u>Curr Biol</u> 9(15): 821-824, S1-S3.
- Shimada, O., Hara-Kuge, S., Yamashita, K., Tosaka-Shimada, H., Yanchao, L., Einan, L., Atsumi, S. and Ishikawa, H. (2003b). Localization of VIP36 in the post-Golgi secretory pathway also of rat parotid acinar cells. J Histochem Cytochem 51(8): 1057-63.
- Shimada, O., Hara-Kuge, S., Yamashita, K., Tosaka-Shimada, H., Yanchao, L., Yongnan, L., Atsumi, S. and Ishikawa, H. (2003a). Clusters of VIP-36-positive vesicles between endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi apparatus in GH3 cells. <u>Cell Struct Funct</u> 28(3): 155-63.
- Short, B. and Barr, F. A. (2003). Membrane Traffic: A Glitch in the Golgi Matrix. <u>Current Biology</u> **13**(8): R311-R313.
- Short, B., Haas, A. and Barr, F. A. (2005). Golgins and GTPases, giving identity and structure to the Golgi apparatus. <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> 1744(3): 383-395.
- Shorter, J., Watson, R., Giannakou, M.-E., Clarke, M., Warren, G. and Barr, F. A. (1999). GRASP55, a second mammalian GRASP protein involved in the stacking of Golgi cisternae in a cell-free system. <u>EMBO J</u> 18(18): 4949-4960.
- Shyu, Y. J. and Hu, C.-D. (2008). Fluorescence complementation: an emerging tool for biological research. <u>Trends in Biotechnology</u> **26**(11): 622-630.
- Shyu, Y. J., Suarez, C. D. and Hu, C.-D. (2008). Visualization of AP-1â€NF-ΰB ternary complexes in living cells by using a BiFC-based FRET. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **105**(1): 151-156.
- Shyu, Y. J., Suarez, C. D. and Hu, C.-D. (2008). Visualization of ternary complexes in living cells by using a BiFC-based FRET assay. <u>Nat. Protocols</u> **3**(11): 1693-1702.
- Sinka, R., Gillingham, A. K., Kondylis, V. and Munro, S. (2008). Golgi coiled-coil proteins contain multiple binding sites for Rab family G proteins. J. Cell Biol. **183**(4): 607-615.
- Sitia, R. and Meldolesi, J. (1992). Endoplasmic reticulum: a dynamic patchwork of specialized subregions. <u>Mol</u> <u>Biol Cell</u> **3**(10): 1067-72.
- Skropeta, D. (2009). The effect of individual N-glycans on enzyme activity. <u>Bioorg Med Chem</u> **17**(7): 2645-2653.
- Slusarewicz, P., Nilsson, T., Hui, N., Watson, R. and Warren, G. (1994). Isolation of a matrix that binds medial Golgi enzymes. <u>J Cell Biol</u> 124(4): 405-413.
- Smith, M. J. and Koch, G. L. (1989). Multiple zones in the sequence of calreticulin (CRP55, calregulin, HACBP), a major calcium binding ER/SR protein. Embo J 8(12): 3581-6.
- Soldà, T., Galli, C., Kaufman, R. J. and Molinari, M. (2007). Substrate-Specific Requirements for UGT1-Dependent Release from Calnexin. <u>Mol. Cell</u> **27**(2): 238-249.
- Sommer, T. and Jentsch, S. (1993). A protein translocation defect linked to ubiquitin conjugation at the endoplasmic reticulum. <u>Nature</u> **365**(6442): 176-9.
- Sonnichsen, B., Fullekrug, J., Nguyen Van, P., Diekmann, W., Robinson, D. G. and Mieskes, G. (1994). Retention and retrieval: both mechanisms cooperate to maintain calreticulin in the endoplasmic reticulum. J <u>Cell Sci</u> **107**(10): 2705-2717.
- Sousa, M. C., Ferrero-Garcia, M. A. and Parodi, A. J. (1992). Recognition of the oligosaccharide and protein moieties of glycoproteins by the UDP-Glc:glycoprotein glucosyltransferase. <u>Biochemistry</u> **31**(1): 97-105.
- Spear, E. D. and Ng, D. T. W. (2005). Single, context-specific glycans can target misfolded glycoproteins for ER-associated degradation. J Cell Biol **169**(1): 73-82.
- Spiro, R. G. (2004). Role of N-linked polymannose oligosaccharides in targeting glycoproteins for endoplasmic reticulum-associated degradation. Cell Mol Life Sci **61**(9): 1025-41.
- Stagljar, I., Korostensky, C., Johnsson, N. and te Heesen, S. (1998). A genetic system based on split-ubiquitin for the analysis of interactions between membrane proteins in vivo. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 95(9): 5187-5192.
- Stanley, P., Schachter, H. and Taniguchi, N. (2008). N-glycans. <u>Essentials of Glycobiology</u>. A. Varki, R. D. Cummings, J. D. Eskoet al. Plainview (NY), Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press: available under http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/bookshelf/br.fcgi?book=glyco2&part=ch8.
- Steel, G. J., Fullerton, D. M., Tyson, J. R. and Stirling, C. J. (2004). Coordinated Activation of Hsp70 Chaperones. <u>Science</u> 303(5654): 98-101.

- Stephens, D. J., Lin-Marq, N., Pagano, A., Pepperkok, R. and Paccaud, J. P. (2000). COPI-coated ER-to-Golgi transport complexes segregate from COPII in close proximity to ER exit sites. <u>J Cell Sci</u> 113(12): 2177-2185.
- Stinchcombe, J. C., Nomoto, H., Cutler, D. F. and Hopkins, C. R. (1995). Anterograde and retrograde traffic between the rough endoplasmic reticulum and the Golgi complex. J Cell Biol 131(6): 1387-1401.
- Su, K., Stoller, T., Rocco, J., Zemsky, J. and Green, R. (1993). Pre-Golgi degradation of yeast prepro-alphafactor expressed in a mammalian cell. Influence of cell type-specific oligosaccharide processing on intracellular fate. J Biol. Chem 268(19): 14301-14309.
- Su, Y. A., Hutter, C. M., Trent, J. M. and Meltzer, P. S. (1996). Complete sequence analysis of a gene (OS-9) ubiquitously expressed in human tissues and amplified in sarcomas. <u>Mol Carcinog</u> **15**(4): 270-5.
- Sveger, T. (1976). Liver disease in alpha1-antitrypsin deficiency detected by screening of 200,000 infants. <u>N</u> Engl J Med **294**(24): 1316-1321.
- Swanson, R., Locher, M. and Hochstrasser, M. (2001). A conserved ubiquitin ligase of the nuclear envelope/endoplasmic reticulum that functions in both ER-associated and Matalpha2 repressor degradation. <u>Genes Dev</u> 15(20): 2660-2674.
- Szathmary, R., Bielmann, R., Nita-Lazar, M., Burda, P. and Jakob, C. A. (2005). Yos9 Protein Is Essential for Degradation of Misfolded Glycoproteins and May Function as Lectin in ERAD. <u>Mol Cell</u> 19(6): 765-775.
- Takahashi, M., Kuroki, Y., Ohtsubo, K. and Taniguchi, N. (2009). Core fucose and bisecting GlcNAc, the direct modifiers of the N-glycan core: their functions and target proteins. <u>Carbohydr Res 344</u>(12): 1387-1390.
- Taxis, C., Vogel, F. and Wolf, D. H. (2002). ER-Golgi Traffic Is a Prerequisite for Efficient ER Degradation. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **13**(6): 1806-1818.
- Teasdale, R. D. and Jackson, M. R. (1996). Signal-mediated sorting of membrane proteins between the endoplasmic reticulum and the golgi apparatus. <u>Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol</u> 12(1): 27-54.
- Thorne-Tjomsland, G., Dumontier, M. and Jamieson, J. C. (1998). 3D topography of noncompact zone Golgi tubules in rat spermatids: a computer-assisted serial section reconstruction study. <u>Anat Rec</u> **250**(4): 381-96.
- Tisdale, E. J., Plutner, H., Matteson, J. and Balch, W. E. (1997). p53/58 binds COPI and is required for selective transport through the early secretory pathway. J Cell Biol **137**(3): 581-93.
- Tord, B., Sara, L. and Peter, J. (2007). Methods for the detection and analysis of protein-protein interactions. <u>Proteomics</u> **7**(16): 2833-2842.
- Travis, J. and Salvesen, G. S. (1983). Human Plasma Proteinase Inhibitors. Annu Rev Biochem 52(1): 655-709.
- Tremblay, L. O. and Herscovics, A. (2000). Characterization of a cDNA Encoding a Novel Human Golgi α1,2-Mannosidase (IC) Involved in N-Glycan Biosynthesis. J Biol Chem **275**(41): 31655-31660.
- Trombetta, E. S., Simons, J. F. and Helenius, A. (1996). Endoplasmic Reticulum Glucosidase II Is Composed of a Catalytic Subunit, Conserved from Yeast to Mammals, and a Tightly Bound Noncatalytic HDELcontaining Subunit. J Biol Chem 271(44): 27509-27516.
- Trombetta, S. E. and Parodi, A. J. (1992). Purification to apparent homogeneity and partial characterization of rat liver UDP-glucose:glycoprotein glucosyltransferase. J Biol Chem 267(13): 9236-9240.
- Trucco, A., Polishchuk, R. S., Martella, O., Pentima, A. D., Fusella, A., Giandomenico, D. D., Pietro, E. S., Beznoussenko, G. V., Polishchuk, E. V., Baldassarre, M., Buccione, R., Geerts, W. J. C., Koster, A. J., Burger, K. N. J., Mironov, A. A. and Luini, A. (2004). Secretory traffic triggers the formation of tubular continuities across Golgi sub-compartments. <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> 6(11): 1071-1081.
- Tsai, B., Ye, Y. and Rapoport, T. A. (2002). Retro-translocation of proteins from the endoplasmic reticulum into the cytosol. <u>Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> **3**(4): 246-255.
- Tulsiani, D. R., Hubbard, S. C., Robbins, P. W. and Touster, O. (1982). alpha-D-Mannosidases of rat liver Golgi membranes. Mannosidase II is the GlcNAcMAN5-cleaving enzyme in glycoprotein biosynthesis and mannosidases Ia and IB are the enzymes converting Man9 precursors to Man5 intermediates. J Biol Chem 257(7): 3660-8.
- Ujita, M., McAuliffe, J., Suzuki, M., Hindsgaul, O., Clausen, H., Fukuda, M. N. and Fukuda, M. (1999). Regulation of I-Branched Poly-N-Acetyllactosamine Synthesis. J Biol Chem **274**(14): 9296-9304.
- Uozumi, N., Yanagidani, S., Miyoshi, E., Ihara, Y., Sakuma, T., Gao, C.-X., Teshima, T., Fujii, S., Shiba, T. and Taniguchi, N. (1996). Purification and cDNA Cloning of Porcine Brain GDP-L-Fuc:N-acetyl-beta-Dglucosaminide alpha1-->6fucosyltransferase. J Biol Chem 271(44): 27810-27817.
- Ushioda, R., Hoseki, J., Araki, K., Jansen, G., Thomas, D. Y. and Nagata, K. (2008). ERdj5 Is Required as a Disulfide Reductase for Degradation of Misfolded Proteins in the ER. Science **321**(5888): 569-572.
- Vagin, O., Kraut, J. A. and Sachs, G. (2009). Role of N-glycosylation in trafficking of apical membrane proteins in epithelia. <u>Am J Physiol Renal Physiol</u> 296(3): F459-469.
- Van Leeuwen, J. E. M. and Kearse, K. P. (1997). Reglucosylation of N-linked glycans is critical for calnexin assembly with T cell receptor (TCR) alpha proteins but not TCRbeta proteins. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 272(7): 4179-4186.
- Vashist, S., Kim, W., Belden, W. J., Spear, E. D., Barlowe, C. and Ng, D. T. W. (2001). Distinct retrieval and retention mechanisms are required for the quality control of endoplasmic reticulum protein folding. <u>J Cell</u> <u>Biol</u> 155(3): 355-368.

- Vashist, S. and Ng, D. T. W. (2004). Misfolded proteins are sorted by a sequential checkpoint mechanism of ER quality control. J Cell Biol 165(1): 41-52.
- Vasile, E., Perez, T., Nakamura, N. and Krieger, M. (2003). Structural integrity of the Golgi is temperature sensitive in conditional-lethal mutants with no detectable GM130. Traffic **4**(4): 254-72.
- Velasco, A., Hendricks, L., Moremen, K. W., Tulsiani, D. R., Touster, O. and Farquhar, M. G. (1993). Cell typedependent variations in the subcellular distribution of alpha- mannosidase I and II. <u>J Cell Biol</u> 122(1): 39-51.
- Venembre, P., Boutten, A., Seta, N., Dehoux, M. S., Crestani, B., Aubier, M. and Durand, G. (1994). Secretion of [alpha]1-antitrypsin by alveolar epithelial cells. <u>FEBS Lett</u> 346(2-3): 171-174.
- Vidi, P.-A., Chen, J., Irudayaraj, J. M. K. and Watts, V. J. (2008). Adenosine A2A receptors assemble into higher-order oligomers at the plasma membrane. <u>FEBS Lett</u> 582(29): 3985-3990.
- Vogel, J. P., Misra, L. M. and Rose, M. D. (1990). Loss of BiP/GRP78 function blocks translocation of secretory proteins in yeast. <u>J Cell Biol</u> 110(6): 1885-1895.
- Volchuk, A., Amherdt, M., Ravazzola, M., Brügger, B., Rivera, V. M., Clackson, T., Perrelet, A., Söllner, T. H., Rothman, J. E. and Orci, L. (2000). Megavesicles Implicated in the Rapid Transport of Intracisternal Aggregates across the Golgi Stack. <u>Cell</u> **102**(3): 335-348.
- Vollenweider, F., Kappeler, F., Itin, C. and Hauri, H.-P. (1998). Mistargeting of the Lectin ERGIC-53 to the Endoplasmic Reticulum of HeLa Cells Impairs the Secretion of a Lysosomal Enzyme. <u>J Cell Biol</u> 142(2): 377-389.
- Votsmeier, C. and Gallwitz, D. (2001). An acidic sequence of a putative yeast Golgi membrane protein binds COPII and facilitates ER export. <u>EMBO J</u> **20**(23): 6742-6750.
- Wada, I., Kai, M., Imai, S., Sakane, F. and Kanoh, H. (1997). Promotion of transferrin folding by cyclic interactions with calnexin and calreticulin. <u>EMBO J</u> 16(17): 5420-32.
- Wada, I., Rindress, D., Cameron, P. H., Ou, W. J., Doherty, J. J. d., Louvard, D., Bell, A. W., Dignard, D., Thomas, D. Y. and Bergeron, J. J. (1991). SSR alpha and associated calnexin are major calcium binding proteins of the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. J Biol Chem 266(29): 19599-19610.
- Waguri, S., Dewitte, F., Le Borgne, R., Rouille, Y., Uchiyama, Y., Dubremetz, J.-F. and Hoflack, B. (2003). Visualization of TGN to Endosome Trafficking through Fluorescently Labeled MPR and AP-1 in Living Cells. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 14(1): 142-155.
- Wahlman, J., DeMartino, G. N., Skach, W. R., Bulleid, N. J., Brodsky, J. L. and Johnson, A. E. (2007). Realtime fluorescence detection of ERAD substrate retrotranslocation in a mammalian in vitro system. <u>Cell</u> 129(5): 943-955.
- Waisman, D. M., Salimath, B. P. and Anderson, M. J. (1985). Isolation and characterization of CAB-63, a novel calcium-binding protein. <u>J. Biol. Chem.</u> 260(3): 1652-1660.
- Walmsley, A. R., Batten, M. R., Lad, U. and Bulleid, N. J. (1999). Intracellular Retention of Procollagen within the Endoplasmic Reticulum Is Mediated by Prolyl 4-Hydroxylase. J Biol Chem 274(21): 14884-14892.
- Wan, L., Molloy, S. S., Thomas, L., Liu, G., Xiang, Y., Rybak, S. L. and Thomas, G. (1998). PACS-1 Defines a Novel Gene Family of Cytosolic Sorting Proteins Required for trans-Golgi Network Localization. <u>Cell</u> 94(2): 205-216.
- Wang, Y., Han, R., Wu, D., Li, J., Chen, C., Ma, H. and Mi, H. (2007). The binding of FKBP23 to BiP modulates BiP's ATPase activity with its PPIase activity. <u>Biochem Biophys Res Commun</u> 354(1): 315-320.
- Wang, Y., Seemann, J., Pypaert, M., Shorter, J. and Warren, G. (2003). A direct role for GRASP65 as a mitotically regulated Golgi stacking factor. <u>EMBO J</u> 22(13): 3279-3290.
- Ward, C. L., Omura, S. and Kopito, R. R. (1995). Degradation of CFTR by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. <u>Cell</u> 83(1): 121-7.
- Wehr, M. C., Laage, R., Bolz, U., Fischer, T. M., Grunewald, S., Scheek, S., Bach, A., Nave, K. A. and Rossner, M. J. (2006). Monitoring regulated protein-protein interactions using split TEV. <u>Nat Methods</u> 3(12): 985-93.
- Wehr, M. C., Reinecke, L., Botvinnik, A. and Rossner, M. J. (2008). Analysis of transient phosphorylationdependent protein-protein interactions in living mammalian cells using split-TEV. BMC Biotechnol 8: 55.
- Wendeler, M. W., Paccaud, J. P. and Hauri, H. P. (2007). Role of Sec24 isoforms in selective export of membrane proteins from the endoplasmic reticulum. <u>EMBO Rep</u> 8(3): 258-64.
- Wieland, F. T., Gleason, M. L., Serafini, T. A. and Rothman, J. E. (1987). The rate of bulk flow from the endoplasmic reticulum to the cell surface. <u>Cell</u> **50**(2): 289-300.
- Williams, D. B. (2006). Beyond lectins: the calnexin/calreticulin chaperone system of the endoplasmic reticulum. J Cell Sci 119(4): 615-623.
- Wopereis, S., Lefeber, D. J., Morava, E. and Wevers, R. A. (2006). Mechanisms in Protein O-Glycan Biosynthesis and Clinical and Molecular Aspects of Protein O-Glycan Biosynthesis Defects: A Review. <u>Clin Chem</u> 52(4): 574-600.
- Wu, M. M., Grabe, M., Adams, S., Tsien, R. Y., Moore, H.-P. H. and Machen, T. E. (2001). Mechanisms of pH Regulation in the Regulated Secretory Pathway. J Biol Chem 276(35): 33027-33035.
- Xu, D. and Hay, J. C. (2004). Reconstitution of COPII vesicle fusion to generate a pre-Golgi intermediate compartment. <u>J Cell Biol</u> 167(6): 997-1003.

- Xu, Y., Martin, S., James, D. E. and Hong, W. (2002). GS15 Forms a SNARE Complex with Syntaxin 5, GS28, and Ykt6 and Is Implicated in Traffic in the Early Cisternae of the Golgi Apparatus. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **13**(10): 3493-3507.
- Yamaguchi, D., Hu, D., Matsumoto, N. and Yamamoto, K. (2010). Human XTP3-B binds to {alpha}1antitrypsin variant nullHong Kong via the C-terminal MRH domain in a glycan-dependent manner. <u>Glycobiology</u>:20(3):348-55.
- Yamaguchi, D., Kawasaki, N., Matsuo, I., Totani, K., Tozawa, H., Matsumoto, N., Ito, Y. and Yamamoto, K. (2007). VIPL has sugar-binding activity specific for high-mannose-type N-glycans, and glucosylation of the alpha1,2 mannotriosyl branch blocks its binding. <u>Glycobiology</u> 17(10): 1061-9.
- Yamamoto, K., Fujii, R., Toyofuku, Y., Saito, T., Koseki, H., Hsu, V. W. and Aoe, T. (2001). The KDEL receptor mediates a retrieval mechanism that contributes to quality control at the endoplasmic reticulum. <u>Embo J</u> 20(12): 3082-91.
- Ye, Y., Shibata, Y., Yun, C., Ron, D. and Rapoport, T. A. (2004). A membrane protein complex mediates retrotranslocation from the ER lumen into the cytosol. <u>Nature</u> **429**(6994): 841-847.
- Ye, Y., Meyer, H. H. and Rapoport, T. A. (2001). The AAA ATPase Cdc48/p97 and its partners transport proteins from the ER into the cytosol. <u>Nature</u> **414**(6864): 652-656.
- Yerushalmi, N., Keppler-Hafkemeyer, A., Vasmatzis, G., Liu, X. F., Olsson, P., Bera, T. K., Duray, P., Lee, B. and Pastan, I. (2001). ERGL, a novel gene related to ERGIC-53 that is highly expressed in normal and neoplastic prostate and several other tissues. <u>Gene</u> 265(1-2): 55-60.
- Younger, J. M., Chen, L., Ren, H.-Y., Rosser, M. F. N., Turnbull, E. L., Fan, C.-Y., Patterson, C. and Cyr, D. M. (2006). Sequential Quality-Control Checkpoints Triage Misfolded Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator. <u>Cell</u> 126(3): 571-582.
- Zeuschner, D., Geerts, W. J. C., van Donselaar, E., Humbel, B. M., Slot, J. W., Koster, A. J. and Klumperman, J. (2006). Immuno-electron tomography of ER exit sites reveals the existence of free COPII-coated transport carriers. <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> 8(4): 377-383.
- Zhang, B., Cunningham, M. A., Nichols, W. C., Bernat, J. A., Seligsohn, U., Pipe, S. W., McVey, J. H., Schulte-Overberg, U., de Bosch, N. B., Ruiz-Saez, A., White, G. C., Tuddenham, E. G., Kaufman, R. J. and Ginsburg, D. (2003). Bleeding due to disruption of a cargo-specific ER-to-Golgi transport complex. <u>Nat</u> <u>Genet</u> 34(2): 220-5.
- Zhang, B., Kaufman, R. J. and Ginsburg, D. (2005). LMAN1 and MCFD2 Form a Cargo Receptor Complex and Interact with Coagulation Factor VIII in the Early Secretory Pathway. J Biol Chem 280(27): 25881-25886.
- Zhang, Q., Tector, M. and Salter, R. D. (1995). Calnexin Recognizes Carbohydrate and Protein Determinants of Class I Major Histocompatibility Complex Molecules. J Biol Chem 270(8): 3944-3948.
- Zhang, X., Wang, Y., Li, H., Zhang, W., Wu, D. and Mi, H. (2004). The mouse FKBP23 binds to BiP in ER and the binding of C-terminal domain is interrelated with Ca2+ concentration. <u>FEBS Lett</u> **559**(1-3): 57-60.
- Zhao, Y., Sato, Y., Isaji, T., Fukuda, T., Matsumoto, A., Miyoshi, E., Gu, J. and Taniguchi, N. (2008). Branched N-glycans regulate the biological functions of integrins and cadherins. <u>Febs J</u> **275**(9): 1939-48.
- Zhu, Y., Doray, B., Poussu, A., Lehto, V.-P. and Kornfeld, S. (2001). Binding of GGA2 to the Lysosomal Enzyme Sorting Motif of the Mannose 6-Phosphate Receptor. Science **292**(5522): 1716-1718.
- Zuber, C., Fan, J.-y., Guhl, B., Parodi, A., Fessler, J. H., Parker, C. and Roth, J. r. (2001). Immunolocalization of UDP-glucose:glycoprotein glucosyltransferase indicates involvement of pre-Golgi intermediates in protein quality control. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 98(19): 10710-10715.

2 Aim of the thesis

Screening for a VIP36 interaction partner and elucidating the function of VIP36 in the secretory pathway

Several studies demonstrated the importance of the L-type lectin ERGIC-53 in intracellular transport of glycoproteins. Much less is known about the function of the homologous L-type lectin, VIP36. We have information about the localization, 3D-structure and sugar binding affinity of VIP36. However, we have no information about the biological/cellular role of VIP36. Some studies suggested a role as a cargo receptor in intracellular transport, but it is not clear at which level of the secretory pathway VIP36 operates. VIP36 has also been proposed to act in quality control, but no experimental evidence supports this hypothesis so far. The aim of my project was to identify an interaction partner for VIP36, which should then enable me to draw further conclusion about its cellular function. Therefore, I used a YFP-fragmentation-complementation assay (YFP-PCA) based approach to screen a human liver library for luminal VIP36 interaction partners. The YFP-PCA shows a lot of advantages compared to other methods. One important aspect is that it allows trapping very weak interactions because of the irreversibility of the YFP complementation. This is important, as the carbohydrate based interaction between mammalian lectins and their glycoprotein interaction partners is usually of weak affinity. After completing the screen, I validated the interaction biochemically. YFP-PCA further allows visualizing the subcellular localization of complex formation. Again, knowing the localization of VIP36 and its potential client protein could give a hint about its function. I determined the effect of depletion of VIP36 (by siRNA mediated knockdown) on the identified interaction partner for VIP36. In addition, the effect of VIP36 knockdown on the morphology and function of the secretory pathway was determined. Taken together the results of this study should provide a deeper insight into the function of VIP36.

3 Results

3.1 Role of the lectin VIP36 in post-ER quality control of human α1-antitrypsin

Submitted to Traffic March 2010
Role of the lectin VIP36 in post-ER quality control of human α 1-antitrypsin

Veronika Reiterer, Beat Nyfeler¹ and Hans-Peter Hauri*

Biozentrum, University of Basel, Klingelbergstrasse 50/70, CH-4056 Basel, Switzerland

* Corresponding author:

E-mail	Hans-Peter.Hauri@unibas.ch
Tel.	+41 61 267 22 22
Fax	+41 61 267 22 08

Running title: VIP36 binds α-1-antitrypsin

Key words: Endoplasmic reticulum, Golgi, kifunensine, L-type lectins, membrane traffic, recycling, yellow fluorescent protein fragment complementation, BiP

¹ Current address: Novartis Institutes for BioMedical Research, Cambridge MA, 02115, USA

ABSTRACT

The L-type lectin VIP36 localizes to the Golgi apparatus and cycles early in the secretory pathway. In vitro, VIP36 binds high mannose glycans with a pH optimum of 6.5, a value similar to the luminal pH of the Golgi apparatus. Although the sugar binding properties of VIP36 in vitro have been characterized in detail, the function of VIP36 in the intact cell remains unclear since no convincing glycoprotein cargo has been identified. Here we used yellow fluorescent protein (YFP) fragment complementation to identify luminal interaction partners of VIP36. By screening a human liver cDNA library, we identified the glycoprotein alpha-1-antitrypsin (α 1-AT) as a cargo of VIP36. The VIP36/ α 1-AT complex localized to Golgi and ER. In the living cell, VIP36 bound exclusively to the high-mannose form of α 1-AT. The binding was increased when complex glycosylation was prevented by kifunensine and abolished when the glycosylation sites of α 1-AT were inactivated by mutagenesis. Silencing VIP36 accelerated α 1-AT transport, arguing against a role of VIP36 in anterograde traffic. The complex formed by VIP36 and α 1-AT in the Golgi recycled back to the ER. The combined data are most consistent with a function of VIP36 in post-ER quality control of α 1-AT.

INTRODUCTION

N-glycosylation is one of the most common protein modifications in the cell (1). Two third of all proteins present in the SWISS-PROT protein sequence data bank have at least one potential N-glycosylation consensus site. N-glycosylation plays an important role in numerous cellular functions including development (2), wound repair (3), and innate immunity (4). In addition, N-glycosylation is important for quality control and transport of glycoproteins in the secretory pathway (5-8). These processes require interaction of the glycans with different lectins. The major lectins involved in ER quality control are the chaperone proteins calnexin and calreticulin. Other lectins, such as ERGIC-53, act as cargo receptors involved in intracellular protein transport. ERGIC-53 is the best characterized anterograde cargo receptor in higher eukaryotic cells (9, 10). ERGIC-53 is a member of the leguminous type (L-type) lectin family which also comprises ERGL, VIP36 and VIPL (11-13). L-type lectins are type 1 membrane proteins with a large luminal domain possessing the carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD) and a short cytosolic domain that mediates sorting within the early secretory pathway. ERGIG-53 localizes mainly to the ER-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC) and to the ER (14, 15) and cycles between these two compartments. This lectin is involved in ER export of several glycoproteins, including cathepsin C, cathepsin Z, blood coagulation factors V and VIII, alpha 1-antitrypsin (α1-AT) and immunoglobulin M (16-20) by binding to high mannose glycans in a Ca^{2+} and pH-dependent manner (21, 22).

VIP36 was discovered in a screen for proteins involved in apical sorting from the trans-Golgi network (23). VIP36 cycles between Golgi and ER (24). Its CRD exhibits 46% similarity to the CRD of ERGIC-53. Although sharing some similarities with ERGIC-53, VIP36 has several features that differ. In contrast to the unglycosylated ERGIC-53, VIP36 has one N-glycosylation site and acquires complex glycosylation (25). While ERGIC-53 forms homodimers and homohexameres (16), VIP36 does not oligomerize (25, 26). Moreover, VIP36 localizes mainly to the Golgi and only to some extent to the ERGIC (27). Other studies found VIP36 to also localize to post-Golgi secretory vesicles and to the plasma-membrane (28, 29). VIP36 interacts with high mannose glycans most efficiently at pH of 6.5 (30). Such a pH is characteristic for the Golgi apparatus, and it has been postulated that VIP36 may bind glycoproteins in the Golgi rather than the ER (31). Although the sugar binding properties of VIP36 have been elucidated in quite some detail, the biological function of VIP36 has remained an enigma. VIP36 was suggested to interact with rat α -amylase (32) and clusterin (28), and hence a role in post-Golgi anterograde transport was postulated. By contrast, a role

for VIP36 in quality control was proposed based on the finding that BiP can bind to complexglycosylated VIP36 in the ER, but no corresponding glycoprotein cargo was identified (33).

We reasoned that the identification of a convincing cargo glycoprotein may provide insight into the function of VIP36 in the secretory pathway. A major problem in identifying cargo glycoproteins of animal lectins is their low affinity and transient binding, but yellow fluorescent (YFP) protein fragment complementation (PCA) is a promising emerging technique to overcome these limitations (34, 35). Here we used a previously established YFP PCA-based screening approach (19) to identify new VIP36 interaction partners. By screening a human liver DNA library we identified α 1-AT as a cargo glycoprotein of VIP36 and provide evidence for a role of VIP36 in post-ER quality control of α 1-AT.

RESULTS

YFP PCA-based screening approach

In our search for VIP36 interaction partners we adopted a previously developed screening strategy that is based on a YFP protein complementation assay (YFP-PCA; (19)). YFP-PCA is well suited to detect weak interactions in the secretory pathway, as the complementation of YFP is irreversible (35, 36). This feature is important, because carbohydrate-based interactions of mammalian L-type lectins are of low affinity. To be suitable for YFP-PCAbased screening, the VIP36 construct should meet two principal requirements: correct localization in the secretory pathway and lectin activity. We cloned VIP36 without its signal sequence into a vector containing the signal sequence of calreticulin and the C-terminal fragment of YFP (YFP2)-fragment (YFP2-VIP36). The signal sequence of calreticulin ensures efficient translocation of the construct into the ER. The YFP2-VIP36 construct was expressed in HeLa cells to determine its localization (Figure 1 A-C). In cells with low to medium expression, YFP2-VIP36 mainly localized to the Golgi apparatus, identified by staining for the cis-Golgi marker GM130 and the medial Golgi marker giantin, and to a lesser extent to peripheral punctate structures identified as ERGIC (Figure 1A-C). This localization is identical to that described for endogenous VIP36 (27). To test if the construct has mannose lectin activity like wild-type VIP36 (37, 38), YFP2-VIP36 was expressed in HeLa cells and the cells were labeled with FITC-tagged mannose-BSA (22). As shown in Figure 1D, mannose-BSA bound to the Golgi region of YFP2-VIP36-expressing cells. Non-transfected cells gave no specific signal, most likely due to the only low amount of endogenous VIP36

and other endogenous mannose-binding lectins. The combined data indicate that our YFP-VIP36 probe fulfills the criteria required for use as functional bait in a DNA library screen.

Identification of α 1-antitrypsin as interaction partner of VIP36

For the YFP PCA-based screening we co-expressed YFP2-VIP36 and a C-terminally-tagged human liver cDNA library in COS cells. COS cells were chosen because they express the large T antigen and can thus replicate transfected plasmids carrying the SV40 eukaryotic origin of replication. This ensures that the transfected plasmids are amplified and enough prey is provided for an interaction with the bait and allows for recovery of prey plasmids. Upon YFP complementation, YFP positive cells were isolated by fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS). Cells co-transfected with YFP2-VIP36 and the YFP1-tagged human liver cDNA library exhibited more YFP-positive cells than cells transfected with YFP2-VIP36 alone (Figure 2A). 166 positive cells were sorted (Figure 2A, right panel), and library plasmids were isolated and transformed into bacteria. We recovered more colonies than sorted cells, as each cell contained several library plasmids. The colonies were then screened for the presence of an insert by PCR (Figure 2B). By this we wanted to make sure that we evaluated colonies that contained an insert and not only empty vectors. Nearly all tested colonies contained inserts, their size ranging from 750bp to 4000bp. Although COS cells are preferable for the initial screening due to high expression levels, false positive clones can arise under these conditions. We therefore retested the primary hits in HeLa cells. cDNAs encoding the potential interaction partners were co-transfected with YFP2-VIP36 and the signal obtained by fluorescence complementation was measured (Figure 2C) and compared to the negative control (YFP2-VIP36 alone). Interestingly, the plasmids leading to the highest fluorescence complementation with VIP36 encoded α 1-antitrypsin (α 1-AT). The YFP signal resulting from the interaction of YFP2-VIP36 and a1-AT-YFP1 was 30%-40% higher than the negative control. α 1-AT-YFP1 appeared three times among 200 plasmids tested.

 α 1-AT is a 52 kDa soluble secretory glycoprotein. Its main role is inactivation of serine proteases in blood plasma (39). α 1-AT deficiency, one of the most common genetic human diseases, results from the lack or misfolding of this protein. Misfolded α 1-AT leads to liver cirrhosis and lung emphysema (40). We focused our further analysis on a characterization of the VIP36/ α 1-AT interaction.

Characterization of the interaction between VIP36 and α 1-AT in the cell

We first visualized the VIP36/ α 1-AT interaction in HeLa cells by YFP PCA. YFP1-VIP36 and YFP2- α 1-AT were co-expressed in HeLa cells, and the YFP signal resulting from the

complementation was visualized by fluorescence microscopy (Figure 3A). The YFP signal exhibited a Golgi- and ER-pattern. We confirmed the Golgi localization of the YFP complex by co-staining with the cis-Golgi marker GM130. Although this analysis does not indicate where the initial interaction takes place, it clearly shows that the YFP1-VIP36/YFP2- α 1-AT complex is restricted to the early secretory pathway where the initial interaction of VIP36 and α 1-AT can be expected to occur. As a negative control we used albumin-YFP2, a secretory protein that is not glycosylated. VIP36 showed no fluorescence complementation with albumin (Figure 3B). Of note, the expression levels of albumin-YFP2 and YFP2- α 1-AT were similar. The reason for the low albumin signal in the cells is that it does not interact with VIP36 and is therefore rapidly secreted into the culture medium (Figure 3B).

To test if the interaction with α 1-AT is sugar dependent, we used an N-glycosylation deficient α 1-AT mutant in which all three N-glycosylation sites were mutated to alanine termed triple mutant" (19). YFP PCA experiments showed a markedly reduced interaction of VIP36 with the triple mutant compared to wild type α 1-AT (Figure 3B). We also tested a potential interaction of VIP36 with the two misfolded and ER-retained α 1-AT variants Z-mutant and Null Hong-Kong mutant (NHK). The Z-mutant has a glutamic acid to leucine point mutation at position 342. The NHK mutant is a truncated variant. A dinucleotide deletion in the leucine at position 318 leads to a premature stop-codon. VIP36 interacted poorly with both the Z-mutant and the NHK mutant in the intact cell. These results are very similar to those previously reported for ERGIC-53 (19) but require different interpretations (see Discussion).

VIP36 interacts with the high mannose form of a1-AT in vivo

To test if in the intact cell the VIP36/ α 1-AT interaction occurs before or after the medial-Golgi, we co-expressed YFP1- α 1-AT and YFP2-VIP36 in HeLa or COS cells for complementation and immunoprecipitated the complex from cell lysates with anti-YFP2 (Figure 4A,B). Digestion of the immunoprecipitated complex with endo-H showed that co-immunoprecipitated α 1-AT was endoH-sensitive in both cell lines. This result indicates that VIP36 binds high-mannose and not complex-glycosylated α 1-AT in the cell, hence the interaction occurs before the medial-Golgi. As a consequence, increasing the amount of high mannose α 1-AT should result in an increase in fluorescence complementation of VIP36 with α 1-AT. We tested this prediction by pre-treating the cells with kifunensine. Kifunensine inhibits Golgi mannosidase-I by 100% and ER mannosidase by 57% and thereby prevents

complex glycosylation (41). Treatment with kifunensine overnight increased the interaction with α 1-AT by 41% (Figure 4C). α 1-AT was still secreted from kifunensine-treated cells (Figure S1), and the intracellular localization of the VIP36/ α 1-AT complex was unchanged (Figure 4D). Since VIP36 is complex-glycosylated, we had to exclude the possibility that the increased α 1-AT binding in response to kifunensine was due to a change in VIP36 glycosylation. To this end, we mutated the asparagine of the N-glycosylation consensus site to alanine (N183A). The resulting non-glycosylated VIP36-N183A still localized to Golgi and ERGIC (Figure 4E) and exhibited unchanged binding properties in the YFP PCA (Figure 4F). Clearly, the change in the glycosylation status of VIP36 is not responsible for the kifunensine effect. The preference for the high-mannose form excludes initial VIP36/ α 1-AT binding in medial- and trans-Golgi.

VIP36 silencing accelerates α1-AT transport

The interaction between VIP36 and α 1-AT suggests an involvement of VIP36 in the intracellular transport of α 1-AT. Provided VIP36 operates in anterograde transport one would expect that its knockdown inhibits the intracellular transport of α 1-AT in a similar way as has been reported for ERGIC-53 (19). We tested this possibility in HepG2 cells that express α 1-AT and VIP36 endogenously. In HepG2 cells VIP36 localizes to Golgi and ERGIC like in other cells (Figure 5A). Knockdown of VIP36 by siRNA was very efficient and reduced endogenous VIP36 levels to less then 10% (Figure 5B). We focused on early events of α 1-AT secretion, because the complex of α 1-AT and VIP36 localized to the ER-Golgi system. The cells were pulse-labeled with ³⁵S-methionine for 10 min and chased for 0, 15, and 30 min in the presence of unlabeled methionine in excess. After a 30 min chase, more than 50% of the labeled α 1-AT was complex glycosylated, thus had passed the medial Golgi (Figure 5C). We calculated the percentage of complex glycosylated to total α 1-AT as an indicator for transport efficiency. Remarkably, VIP36 knockdown accelerated α 1-AT transport compared to control cells. After a 30 min chase, the amount of complex glycosylated α 1-AT was increased by 12% and this increase was statistically significant. To rule out that a general acceleration of intracellular transport occurred, we followed the secretion of endogenously-expressed albumin over the same time period (Figure 5D). VIP36 silencing did not affect albumin secretion. The data indicate that VIP36 retards the intracellular transport of α 1-AT.

Evidence for recycling of the VIP36/a1-AT complex from Golgi to ER

One possibility consistent with the result in this study would be a function of VIP36 in retrograde traffic, whereby a fraction of high-mannose α 1-AT would be recycled from Golgi-to-ER. We addressed this notion by YFP-PCA. Visualizing the α 1-AT-VIP36 complex should allow us to follow the route of transport when de novo protein synthesis is blocked. To study the fate of the α 1-AT/VIP36 complex we expressed YFP2- α 1-AT and YFP1-VIP36 in HeLa cells and treated them with cycloheximide to block protein synthesis. If VIP36 binds α 1-AT in the Golgi and recycles it to the ER, the Golgi signal due to complex formation should decrease in favor of an increasing ER signal. This was indeed observed. 5 h after the addition of cycloheximide, the YFP fluorescence exhibited an ER rather than a Golgi pattern in most cells (Figure 6A). The percentage of cells with Golgi localization of the YFP signal decreased from 52% to 17% in response to cycloheximide (Figure 6B). The structure of the Golgi was unchanged, however, as indicated by the unchanged pattern of GM130 (Figure 6A). Similar results were obtained by a shorter 3 h cycloheximide treatment (not shown). It is noteworthy that cycloheximide has no effect on the bidirectional ER to Golgi traffic itself (42). This result indicates that VIP36 is involved in retrograde transport.

Why would VIP36 recycle a protein destined for secretion from the Golgi back to the ER? The most likely explanation is that VIP36 recognizes a fraction of α 1-AT that escaped the ER quality control. It has been reported that VIP36 interacts with BiP (33). We wondered if the α 1-AT/VIP36 complex formed in the Golgi interacts with BiP. To this end we expressed YFP2-VIP36, YFP2- α 1-AT or YFP2.-VIP36 together with YFP1- α 1-AT in Hela cells and immunoprecipitated YFP2. Figure 6C shows co-immunoprecipitation of BiP with the VIP36 construct. The amount of co-immunoprecipitated BiP was identical for singly expressed VIP36 and VIP36 co-expressed with the α 1-AT/VIP36 complex. Collectively, our results indicate that the α 1-AT/VIP36 complex formed in the Golgi contains BiP and recycles to the ER where it is obviously trapped.

DISCUSSION

In the current work we have identified by YFP PCA α 1-AT as cargo glycoprotein for the mammalian L-type lectin VIP36. The YFP signals after complementation were lower than those previously obtained for ERGIC-53 when identical expression levels were compared.

Together with the fact that all follow-up experiments confirmed that the VIP36/ α 1-AT interaction was specific, this difference indicates that a smaller fraction of α 1-AT interacts with VIP36 than with ERGIC-53.

Our YFP PCA analysis of the VIP36/ α 1-AT interaction gave results seemingly similar to those previously obtained for the ERGIC-53/ α 1-AT interaction (19). In both cases no complementation occurred when the lectin was co-expressed with misfolded mutants or a glycosylation deficient mutant of α 1-AT. However, an interpretation of these results has to take into account the pH optimum for glycan binding and the compartmentalization of the secretory pathway. VIP36 has a pH optimum of 6.5 (37) corresponding to the luminal pH of the cis/medial Golgi cisternae (43-45). By contrast, ERGIC-53 has a pH optimum of 7.4, the pH of the ER (21). Predictably, VIP36 cannot bind its cargo in the ER. Since the misfolded Zmutant and NHK mutant of α 1-AT are trapped in the ER and fail to be transported to the Golgi (46, 47) they do not meet VIP36 in an acidic compartment that allows glycan binding. Therefore, the lack of YFP complementation does not necessarily indicate that VIP36 cannot bind misfolded α 1-AT. The case is different for the triple glycan mutant of α 1-AT. A sizable fraction of this variant is secreted (48) and therefore meets VIP36 in the Golgi. The considerably reduced YFP PCA signal for the triple mutant therefore indicates that VIP36 is unable to recognize the non-glycosylated α 1-AT.

Another key finding of our study is that silencing of VIP36 accelerates intracellular transport of α 1-AT as opposed to silencing of ERGIC-53 which slows α 1-AT transport. Importantly, albumin transport was unaffected, indicating that a VIP36 knockdown does not lead to a general acceleration of protein transport. These results argue against a cargo receptor function of VIP36 in the anterograde direction. Clearly, the presence of VIP36 slows intracellular transport of α 1-AT1. We believe that VIP36 transiently retains only a small fraction of α 1-AT1 because the YFP signal produced in the YFP PCA assay is considerably lower for the VIP36/ α 1-AT1 interaction than for the ERGIC-53/ α 1-AT1 interaction. By contrast, as expected for a cargo receptor mediating ER export, ERGIC-53 interacts with a large fraction (if not all) newly synthesized α 1-AT1 (19).

What then is the function of VIP36 in α 1-AT1 traffic? Since VIP36 shows highest binding to largely untrimmed high-mannose glycans in vitro (30, 37), and since the trimming inhibitor kifunensine increases the VIP36/ α 1-AT1 interaction, VIP36 may bind α 1-AT1 molecules that fail to be trimmed in the Golgi and may recycle them to the ER. Although high-mannose glycoproteins are efficiently secreted, they have a considerably reduced half life in the blood stream because they are rapidly endocytosed by the mannose receptor (49, 50). Thus, complex glycosylation is definitively required for protein stability in the organism. One of our results, however, is inconsistent with a role of VIP36 in mannose trimming. If VIP36 was involved in quality control at the level of mannose trimming in the Golgi, its knockdown should increase the fraction of high-mannose α 1-AT1, but such an effect was not observed.

We propose that VIP36 acts in post-ER quality control in the Golgi by binding incompletely folded α 1-AT1 that inadvertently escaped ER quality control and by recycling it back to the ER for an additional round of quality control. Consistent with a retrieval action, we observed a redistribution of the VIP36/a1-AT1 complex from Golgi to ER when de novo synthesis of VIP36 was blocked by cycloheximide. But why would the complex remain trapped in ER after recycling? A likely possibility is that due to the irreversible YFP complementation the VIP36/ α 1-AT1 complex forms larger assemblies with chaperones in the ER that cannot exit the ER anymore. Kifunensine not only prevents high mannose trimming, but also inhibits ER associated degradation (ERAD). Inhibition of ERAD allows misfolded α 1-AT to escape the ER quality control and to be secreted (51). Therefore, we believe that the increased YFP PCA signal in response to kifunensine reflects complex formation of VIP36 with an increased amount of incompletely folded a1-AT that escaped ER quality control. How would VIP36 discriminate between folded and incompletely-folded a1-AT? One possibility is that the VIP36/ α 1-AT interaction requires both glycan and protein-protein interaction whereby the protein-protein interaction would only occur with incompletely-folded α 1-AT. Glycan interaction alone would be insufficient to retain α 1-AT in the Golgi. There is evidence that Ltype lectins may not recognize solely glycans. Efficient binding of ERGIC-53 to its cargo cathepsin Z requires a combined carbohydrate/peptide motif (52). With ERGIC-53, however, the protein-protein interaction occurs only with the folded cargo. As an alternative possibility, the post-ER quality control of α 1-AT by VIP36 may involve the chaperone BiP. BiP has indeed been shown to interact with complex-glycosylated VIP36 (33). We now show that BiP associates with the VIP36/ α 1-AT complex. In this scenario one could imagine the following events in quality control and transport of α 1-AT. Newly synthesized α 1-AT undergoes ER quality control in the ER involving the calnexin/calreticulin cycle (53, 54). Folded α 1-AT can bind to ERGIC-53 and is exported actively from the ER (19). Some incompletely-folded α 1-AT escapes ER quality control and reaches ERGIC and Golgi by default where it is bound to both VIP-36 and BiP under slightly acid conditions. BiP is known to have in part access to

post-ER compartments (55). The α 1-AT/VIP36/BiP complex then recycles to the ER where α 1-AT dissociates due to the increased pH and undergoes another round of folding.

In conclusion, the successful identification of α 1-AT as a cargo glycoprotein of VIP36 has provided new insight into the function of VIP36. Our data, in combination with known features of VIP36, are most consistent with a glycan dependent quality control function in the Golgi. Molecular details of this mechanism, and whether this mechanism applies primarily to α 1-AT or to additional glycoproteins, remain to be determined.

METHODS

Antibodies and inhibitors

The following antibodies were used: monoclonal mouse antibody (mAb) against BiP (BD Bioscience), monoclonal rabbit GFP antibody against the N-terminal YFP fragment (YFP1) for immunoblotting (Abcam), mAb against the C-terminal YFP fragment (YFP2) for immunoblotting, immunofluorescence and immunoprecipitation (Roche), and a rabbit polyclonal antibody (pAb) against GFP for immunofluorescence (Clonetech). A custom-made rabbit pAb was used to detect VIP36 by immunoblotting (Eurogentech). The pAb was raised against a synthetic peptide encompassing residues 298-312 (FLKSPKDNVDDPTGNC), using keyhole limpet hemocyanine as a carrier. Mouse mAb 1A2 against tubulin was kindly provided by Karl Matter (University College London, UK). Goat pAb against human α1-AT (MP Biomedicals) and sheep pAb against human albumin (The Binding Site) were used for immunoprecipitation. Antibodies used for immunofluorescence: Rabbit pAb against ERGIC-53 (56), mAb G1/133 against giantin (57), mouse mAb anti-GM130 (BD Transduction), anti-TGN46 (kind gift from Sreenivasan Ponnambalam, University of Leeds, UK) and rabbit pAb anti-VIP36 (27) (kind gift of Kai Simons, Max Planck Institute for Molecular Cell Biology and Genetics, Dresden, Germany). Alexa 488-, Alexa 568- (Molecular Probes Europe, Leiden, The Netherlands) and horseradish peroxidase-coupled antibodies (The Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, West Grove, PA) were used as secondary antibodies. FITCmannosidase BSA was a kind gift of Annie-Claude Roche (CNRS Orleans, France). The following inhibitors were used: Kifunensine (Calbiochem) and cycloheximide (Sigma).

siRNAs

SiRNA oligonucleotides against VIP36 were obtained from Qiagen (5'-AGAUAACUUCCACGGCUUA)dTdT-3'was used as sense and

5'-UAAGCCGUGGAAGUUAUCUdTdT-3' as antisense oligonucleotide) and from Ambion (5'-UGACUGCGGAUAUAACUGAtt-3' as sense and UCAGUUAUAUCCGCAGUCAca as an antisense oligonucleotide). Nonsilencing negative control siRNAs were obtained from Qiagen and Ambion.

Plasmids

VIP36 was amplified by PCR from the cDNA-NubG human liver library (DualSystem) without its signal sequence, using 5'-GGCCCTCGAGTTGATAT

AACTGACGGCAACAG-3'

as forward and 5'- GGCCCTCGAGTCAGTAGAAGCGCTTGTTCCG-3' as reverse primer. The PCR product was subcloned into the SScal-YFP2-pCMV vector (58) via XhoI restriction sites. The SScal-YFP1/YFP2-VIP36-pcDNA3 constructs (YFP1-VIP36, Y2-VIP36) were obtained by amplifying VIP36 with the following primers

5'-GGCCCTCGAGTTGATATAACTGACGGCAACAG-3' and 5'-GGCCTCTAGATCAGT AGAAGCGCTTGTTCCG-3'. The PCR product was digested with XhoI and XbaI and ligated into the SScal-YFP1-pcDNA3 or SScal-YFP2-pcDNA3 via XhoI and XbaI restriction sites (35). The construction of the SS-YFP2-alpha-1 antitrypsin mutants (YFP2- α 1-AT) and albumin-YFP2 has already been described ((35, 58). The SS-YFP1-antitrypsin construct was obtained by subcloning α 1-AT from the SS-YFP2- α 1-AT plasmid into the SS-YFP1-vector. All constructs were verified by sequencing.

Generation of cDNA-YFP1 library

For the screening, a human adult liver cDNA-NubG library (DualSystems) was subcloned into vectors containing linker-YFP1 fragments covering all three reading frames. The previously described pcDNA3-YFP1 constructs (58) were digested with Xho and EcoR1 and the linker-YFP1 fragments were ligated into the pcDNA^{TM4}/TO vector (Invitrogen). The human adult liver cDNA-NubG library (Dualsystems) was digested with SfiI (NEB) at 50°C overnight. The inserts were separated by agarose gel electrophoresis. Inserts ranging from 0.75 kb to 4kb were excised. The inserts were ligated via two SfiI sites into the vector mix containing all three reading frames of pcDNA^{TM4}/TO-[YFP1]. Ligation products were transformed into XL-gold bacteria (Stratagene). The transformed bacteria were plated on agar plates containing 25ug/ml Zeocin for selection allowing only growth of colonies transformed with library plasmids. The plates were incubated overnight at 37°C. The bacterial colonies

were collected in liquid broth medium. Plasmid isolation was perfomed using HiSpeed Plamid Maxi Kit (Qiagen).

Cell culture and transfection

HeLa and COS-1 cells were cultured in DMEM, supplemented with 10% FCS, antibiotics and fungizone. HepG2 cells were grown in MEM supplemented with 10% FCS and antibiotics. Transfection of plasmids was performed using Fugene6TM according to the manufacturer's instruction. SiRNA transfection was carried out using HiPerfect (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instruction.

Immunofluorescence microscopy

Cells were washed with PBS and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde. Cells were permeabilized using 0,2% Triton X-100 in PBG buffer (20mM glycine and 3%BSA in PBS pH7,4). Cells were incubated with the appropriate primary antibody in PBG followed by incubation with Alexa Fluor secondary antibodies, and the coverslips were mounted in Mowiol. For co-staining with mannose-FITC-BSA, samples were co-incubated with the indicated antibody and 100ug/ml FITC-mannose-BSA together in the presence of 1mM CaCl₂ and 1mM MgCl₂.

For the visualization of the YFP complementation signal, cells were washed twice in PBS, fixed in 4% PFA, washed several times with PBS, and mounted in Mowiol. Images were acquired on a Leica SPE 5 confocal microscope.

YFP-PCA- based FACS screening and plasmid isolation

The screen was performed as described in Nyfeler et al (19) with the following modifications. The YFP2-VIP36 construct and the cDNA-YFP1 library were co-transfected at a ratio of 1:1. The DNA isolated from the sorted cells was transformed into electro-competent bacteria (MC1061). Transformed bacteria were plated on 15cm agar plates containing Zeocin (25µg/ml). The first 100 tested colonies were analyzed for the presence of inserts by PCR. As nearly all colonies contained an insert, this step was omitted later on.

PCR screen of colonies

Individual colonies were picked and transferred into 5ul H2O. Then the PCR mix including Taq polymerase (Roche) was added. The forward primer:

5'-TCCACGCTGTTTTGACCTCC-3' and the reverse primer

5'-CGACCAGGATGGGCACCACC-3' were used to screen for the presence of an insert. The PCR products were subjected to agarose gel electrophoresis and visualized by ethidium bromide staining.

Fluorometric analysis of the YFP signal

HeLa cells were grown in 6 well plates. 0.5µg DNA of each plasmid was transfected. 24 h after transfection cells were washed with PBS, collected in PBS and spun down at 500xg. The cell pellet was resuspended in 200µl PBS and transferred into black 96 microwell plates (Nunc). Fluorescence was measured with a Victor2 fluorometer. 485nm was used as excitation and 535nm as emission wavelength. To assess the expression levels of the different constructs, cells were subjected to SDS-PAGE followed by Western blotting using nitrocellulose membranes and enhanced chemiluminescence (GE Healthcare).

Metabolic labeling and pulse- chase experiments

HepG2 cells were used for studying α 1-AT transport. 500,000 HepG2 cells were seeded into 3,5cm plates and reverse transfected with either 10nM siRNA (Qiagen, Ambion) or 10nM control siRNA using Hiperfect (Qiagen). 72 h after siRNA transfection the pulse chase experiment was performed. Cells were starved in methionine-free MEM medium supplemented with 10% dialyzed FCS and 10mM glutamine (starving medium) for 20 min. The cells were pulsed in starving medium containing 100µCi S35 (Easy tag) per sample. Following the pulse period the cells were washed once with MEM medium supplemented with 10% FCS and 10mM methionine, and then chased for different time periods. Finally the cells were lysed, α 1-AT1 was immunopreciptated and subjected to SDS-PAGE followed by autoradiography. Radiolabeled bands were imaged and quantified using a phosphorimager (Molecular Dynamics).

Immunoprecipitation

Cells were washed with PBS and lysed in IP-buffer (50mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 150mM NaCl, 2mM CaCl2, 1% TritonX-100 and protease inhibitors). The lysate was incubated for 30 min on ice and centrifuged at 20,000xg for 30 min. The supernatant was incubated with Protein G-Sepharose preloaded with the indicated antibody. The reaction was incubated overnight. The Sepharose beads were washed three times and eluted proteins were analyzed by SDS-PAGE.

Endoglycosidase H digestion

Immunoprecipitates were released from protein G-Sepharose beads by boiling in endoH buffer (0.25M sodium-citrate, 50mM Tris pH 6.0, 0.6% SDS). Samples were incubated with 5mU endoglycosidase H (Roche) for 3 h at 37°C.

Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge the help in FACS sorting of Verena Jäggin of the Department of Biomedicine of the University of Basel. We thank Annie-Claude Roche for providing mannosylated BSA and Karl Matter, Sreenivasan Ponnambalan, and Kai Simons for gifts of antibodies. This work was supported by the University of Basel and the Swiss National Science Foundation

REFERENCES

- 1. Apweiler, R., Hermjakob, H. & Sharon, N. On the frequency of protein glycosylation, as deduced from analysis of the SWISS-PROT database. Biochim Biophys Acta 1999; 1473: 4-8.
- 2. Haltiwanger, R. S. & Lowe, J. B. Role of glycosylation in development. Annu Rev Biochem 2004; 73: 491-537.
- 3. Lackie, P. M. & Adam, E. C. Sweet talking-cellular carbohydrates and epithelial repair. Clin Exp Allergy 2006; 36: 560-562.
- 4. Marth, J. D. & Grewal, P. K. Mammalian glycosylation in immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 2008; 8: 874-887.
- Ellgaard, L. & Helenius, A. Quality control in the endoplasmic reticulum. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2003; 4: 181-191.
- 6. Helenius, A. & Aebi, M. Roles of N-linked glycans in the endoplasmic reticulum. Annu Rev Biochem 2004; 73: 1019.
- 7. Hebert, D. N. & Molinari, M. In and Out of the ER: Protein Folding, Quality Control, Degradation, and Related Human Diseases. Physiol Rev 2007; 87: 1377-1408.
- 8. Lederkremer, G. Z. Glycoprotein folding, quality control and ER-associated degradation. Curr Opin Struct Biol 2009; 19: 515-523.
- 9. Hauri, H. P., Kappeler, F., Andersson, H. & Appenzeller, C. ERGIC-53 and traffic in the secretory pathway. J Cell Sci 2000; 113: 587-596.
- 10. Appenzeller-Herzog, C. & Hauri, H.-P. The ER-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC): in search of its identity and function. J Cell Sci 2006; 119: 2173-2183.
- 11. Hauri, H. P., Nufer, O., Breuza, L., Tekaya, H. B. & Liang, L. Lectins and protein traffic early in the secretory pathway. Biochem Soc Symp 2002: 73-82.
- 12. Neve, E. P., Svensson, K., Fuxe, J. & Pettersson, R. F. VIPL, a VIP36-like membrane protein with a putative function in the export of glycoproteins from the endoplasmic reticulum. Exp Cell Res 2003; 288: 70-83.
- Nufer, O., Mitrovic, S. & Hauri, H.-P. Profile-based Data Base Scanning for Animal L-type Lectins and Characterization of VIPL, a Novel VIP36-like Endoplasmic Reticulum Protein. J Biol Chem 2003; 278: 15886-15896.
- 14. Schweizer, A., Fransen, J. A., Matter, K., Kreis, T. E., Ginsel, L. & Hauri, H. P. Identification of an intermediate compartment involved in protein transport from endoplasmic reticulum to Golgi apparatus. Eur J Cell Biol 1990; 53: 185-196.
- 15. Klumperman, J., Schweizer, A., Clausen, H., Tang, B. L., Hong, W., Oorschot, V. & Hauri, H. P. The recycling pathway of protein ERGIC-53 and dynamics of the ER-Golgi intermediate compartment. J Cell Sci 1998; 111: 3411-3425.
- 16. Appenzeller, C., Andersson, H., Kappeler, F. & Hauri, H. P. The lectin ERGIC-53 is a cargo transport receptor for glycoproteins. Nat Cell Biol 1999; 1: 330-334.
- Nichols, W. C., Seligsohn, U., Zivelin, A., Terry, V. H., Hertel, C. E., Wheatley, M. A., Moussalli, M. J., Hauri, H.-P., Ciavarella, N., Kaufman, R. J. & Ginsburg, D. Mutations in the ER-Golgi Intermediate Compartment Protein ERGIC-53 Cause Combined Deficiency of Coagulation Factors V and VIII. Cell 1998; 93: 61-70.
- Vollenweider, F., Kappeler, F., Itin, C. & Hauri, H.-P. Mistargeting of the Lectin ERGIC-53 to the Endoplasmic Reticulum of HeLa Cells Impairs the Secretion of a Lysosomal Enzyme. J Cell Biol 1998; 142: 377-389.
- Nyfeler, B., Reiterer, V., Wendeler, M. W., Stefan, E., Zhang, B., Michnick, S. W. & Hauri, H.-P. Identification of ERGIC-53 as an intracellular transport receptor of {alpha}1-antitrypsin. J Cell Biol 2008; 180: 705-712.
- 20. Cortini, M. & Sitia, R. ERp44 and ERGIC-53 Synergize in Coupling Efficiency and Fidelity of IgM Polymerization and Secretion. Traffic; in press
- 21. Appenzeller-Herzog, C., Roche, A.-C., Nufer, O. & Hauri, H.-P. pH-induced Conversion of the Transport Lectin ERGIC-53 Triggers Glycoprotein Release. J Biol Chem 2004; 279: 12943-12950.

- 22. Itin, C., Roche, A. C., Monsigny, M. & Hauri, H. P. ERGIC-53 is a functional mannose-selective and calcium-dependent human homologue of leguminous lectins. Mol Biol Cell 1996; 7: 483-493.
- 23. Fiedler, K., Parton, R. G., Kellner, R., Etzold, T. & Simons, K. VIP36, a novel component of glycolipid rafts and exocytic carrier vesicles in epithelial cells. Embo J 1994; 13: 1729-1740.
- 24. Dahm, T., White, J., Grill, S., Fullekrug, J. & Stelzer, E. H. Quantitative ER <--> Golgi transport kinetics and protein separation upon Golgi exit revealed by vesicular integral membrane protein 36 dynamics in live cells. Mol Biol Cell 2001; 12: 1481-1498.
- 25. Fiedler, K. & Simons, K. Characterization of VIP36, an animal lectin homologous to leguminous lectins. J Cell Sci 1996; 109 (Pt 1): 271-276.
- Satoh, T., Cowieson, N. P., Hakamata, W., Ideo, H., Fukushima, K., Kurihara, M., Kato, R., Yamashita, K. & Wakatsuki, S. Structural basis for recognition of high mannose type glycoproteins by mammalian transport lectin VIP36. J Biol Chem 2007; 282: 28246-28255.
- 27. Fullekrug, J., Scheiffele, P. & Simons, K. VIP36 localisation to the early secretory pathway. J Cell Sci 1999; 112 (Pt 17): 2813-2821.
- Hara-Kuge, S., Ohkura, T., Ideo, H., Shimada, O., Atsumi, S. & Yamashita, K. Involvement of VIP36 in intracellular transport and secretion of glycoproteins in polarized Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 16332-16339.
- Shimada, O., Hara-Kuge, S., Yamashita, K., Tosaka-Shimada, H., Yanchao, L., Einan, L., Atsumi, S. & Ishikawa, H. Localization of VIP36 in the post-Golgi secretory pathway also of rat parotid acinar cells. J Histochem Cytochem 2003b; 51: 1057-1063.
- Kamiya, Y., Kamiya, D., Yamamoto, K., Nyfeler, B., Hauri, H. P. & Kato, K. Molecular basis of sugar recognition by the human L-type lectins ERGIC-53, VIPL, and VIP36. J Biol Chem 2008; 283: 1857-1861.
- 31. Hauri, H., Appenzeller, C., Kuhn, F. & Nufer, O. Lectins and traffic in the secretory pathway. FEBS Lett 2000; 476: 32-37.
- 32. Hara-Kuge, S., Seko, A., Shimada, O., Tosaka-Shimada, H. & Yamashita, K. The binding of VIP36 and alpha-amylase in the secretory vesicles via high-mannose type glycans. Glycobiology 2004; 14: 739-744.
- 33. Nawa, D., Shimada, O., Kawasaki, N., Matsumoto, N. & Yamamoto, K. Stable interaction of the cargo receptor VIP36 with molecular chaperone BiP. Glycobiology 2007; 17: 913-921.
- 34. Nyfeler, B. & Hauri, H. P. Visualization of protein interactions inside the secretory pathway. Biochem Soc Trans 2007; 35: 970-973.
- 35. Nyfeler, B., Michnick, S. W. & Hauri, H. P. Capturing protein interactions in the secretory pathway of living cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005; 102: 6350-6355.
- Morell, M., Espargaro, A., Aviles, F. X. & Ventura, S. Detection of transient protein-protein interactions by bimolecular fluorescence complementation: the Abl-SH3 case. Proteomics 2007; 7: 1023-1036.
- 37. Kamiya, Y., Yamaguchi, Y., Takahashi, N., Arata, Y., Kasai, K., Ihara, Y., Matsuo, I., Ito, Y., Yamamoto, K. & Kato, K. Sugar-binding properties of VIP36, an intracellular animal lectin operating as a cargo receptor. J Biol Chem 2005; 280: 37178-37182.
- Hara-Kuge, S., Ohkura, T., Seko, A. & Yamashita, K. Vesicular-integral membrane protein, VIP36, recognizes high-mannose type glycans containing alpha1-->2 mannosyl residues in MDCK cells. Glycobiology 1999; 9: 833-839.
- 39. Travis, J. & Salvesen, G. S. Human Plasma Proteinase Inhibitors. Annu Rev Biochem 1983; 52: 655-709.
- 40. Parfrey, H., Mahadeva, R. & Lomas, D. A. [alpha]1-Antitrypsin deficiency, liver disease and emphysema. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2003; 35: 1009-1014.
- 41. Weng, S. & Spiro, R. G. Demonstration that a kifunensine-resistant alpha-mannosidase with a unique processing action on N-linked oligosaccharides occurs in rat liver endoplasmic reticulum and various cultured cells. J Biol Chem 1993; 268: 25656-25663.
- 42. Cole, N. B., Ellenberg, J., Song, J., DiEuliis, D. & Lippincott-Schwartz, J. Retrograde Transport of Golgi-localized Proteins to the ER. J Cell Biol 1998; 140: 1-15.
- 43. Seksek, O., Biwersi, J. & Verkman, A. S. Direct Measurement of trans-Golgi pH in Living Cells and Regulation by Second Messengers. J Biol Chem 1995; 270: 4967-4970.
- 44. Wu, M. M., Grabe, M., Adams, S., Tsien, R. Y., Moore, H.-P. H. & Machen, T. E. Mechanisms of pH Regulation in the Regulated Secretory Pathway. J Biol Chem 2001; 276: 33027-33035.
- 45. Paroutis, P., Touret, N. & Grinstein, S. The pH of the Secretory Pathway: Measurement, Determinants, and Regulation. Physiology 2004; 19: 207-215.
- 46. McCracken, A. A., Kruse, K. B. & Brown, J. L. Molecular basis for defective secretion of the Z variant of human alpha-1-proteinase inhibitor: secretion of variants having altered potential for salt bridge formation between amino acids 290 and 342. Mol Cell Biol 1989; 9: 1406-1414.

- 47. Le, A., Graham, K. S. & Sifers, R. N. Intracellular degradation of the transport-impaired human PiZ alpha 1-antitrypsin variant. Biochemical mapping of the degradative event among compartments of the secretory pathway. J Biol Chem 1990; 265: 14001-14007.
- 48. Gross, V., Geiger, T., Tran-Thi, T.-A., Gauthier, F. & Heinrich, P. C. Biosynthesis and Secretion of α1--Antitrypsin in Primary Cultures of Rat Hepatocytes. Eur J Biochem 1982; 129: 317-323.
- 49. Wright, A. & Morrison, S. L. Effect of altered CH2-associated carbohydrate structure on the functional properties and in vivo fate of chimeric mouse-human immunoglobulin G1. J Exp Med 1994; 180: 1087-1096.
- Lee, S. J., Evers, S., Roeder, D., Parlow, A. F., Risteli, J., Risteli, L., Lee, Y. C., Feizi, T., Langen, H. & Nussenzweig, M. C. Mannose Receptor-Mediated Regulation of Serum Glycoprotein Homeostasis. Science 2002; 295: 1898-1901.
- 51. Marcus, N. Y. & Perlmutter, D. H. Glucosidase and Mannosidase Inhibitors Mediate Increased Secretion of Mutant α1- Antitrypsin Z. J Biol Chem 2000; 275: 1987-1992.
- 52. Appenzeller-Herzog, C., Nyfeler, B., Burkhard, P., Santamaria, I., Lopez-Otin, C. & Hauri, H.-P. Carbohydrate- and Conformation-dependent Cargo Capture for ER-Exit. Mol Biol Cell 2005; 16: 1258-1267.
- 53. Oda, Y., Hosokawa, N., Wada, I. & Nagata, K. EDEM as an acceptor of terminally misfolded glycoproteins released from calnexin. Science 2003; 299: 1394-1397.
- 54. Molinari, M. & Helenius, A. Chaperone Selection During Glycoprotein Translocation into the Endoplasmic Reticulum. Science 2000; 288: 331-333.
- 55. Hammond, C. & Helenius, A. Folding of VSV G protein: sequential interaction with BiP and calnexin. Science 1994; 266: 456-458.
- 56. Schweizer, A., Fransen, J. A., Bachi, T., Ginsel, L. & Hauri, H. P. Identification, by a monoclonal antibody, of a 53-kD protein associated with a tubulo-vesicular compartment at the cis-side of the Golgi apparatus. J Cell Biol 1988; 107: 1643-1653.
- 57. Linstedt, A. D. & Hauri, H. P. Giantin, a novel conserved Golgi membrane protein containing a cytoplasmic domain of at least 350 kDa. Mol Biol Cell 1993; 4: 679-693.
- Nyfeler, B., Reiterer, V., Wendeler, M. W., Stefan, E., Zhang, B., Michnick, S. W. & Hauri, H.-P. Identification of ERGIC-53 as an intracellular transport receptor of {alpha}1-antitrypsin. J. Cell Biol. 2008; 180: 705-712.

FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 1:

YFP2-VIP36 localizes to the early secretory pathway and binds mannose-BSA. HeLa cells expressing YFP2-VIP36 were stained with anti-ERGIC-53 for the ERGIC (A), GM130 for the cis-Golgi (B), and giantin for the medial-Golgi (C). (D) Hela cells expressing YFP2-VIP36 were fixed, permeabilized and stained with a YFP2-specific antibody and with FITC-mannose-BSA. Note co-staining of FITC-mannose-BSA in the Golgi region with YFP2-VIP36 (arrows). FITC-mannose-BSA does not localize to the Golgi region in untransfected cells (arrowheads).

Figure 2:

YFP-PCA-based FACS screening for VIP36 interacting proteins. (A) COS cells were transfected with YFP2-VIP36 alone or together with the YFP1-tagged library plasmids. After 48 h, FACS sorting was performed. YFP was restored upon complementation and YFP-positive cells were sorted (encircled white dots, right panel). Cells expressing YFP2-VIP36

only were used as a negative control and showed nearly no false positive cells (white circle, left panel). DNA was extracted from YFP-positive cells and transformed in bacteria. (B, C): Examples for the validation procedure. (B) Colonies were tested for the presence of an insert by PCR. PCR products were electrophoresed on a 1% agarose gel containing ethidiumbromide. Note that all colonies contained an insert. (C) Plasmids isolated from transformed bacteria were co-expressed with YFP2-VIP36 in HeLa cells and the signal resulting from YFP complementation was measured. Cells transfected with YFP2-VIP36 alone were used as a negative control. The fluorescence signal of the single tested library plasmids was expressed as percentage increase compared to the negative control. Library-plasmids that resulted in an increase of the fluorescence by more than 30% were sequenced. Red bars are the plasmids that turned out to encode α 1-AT.

Figure 3

Localization of the VIP36/ α 1-AT complex and interaction of VIP36 with α 1-AT mutants. (A) HeLa cells co-transfected with YFP1-VIP36 and YFP2- α 1-AT were fixed, permeabilized and stained with anti-GM130 anti. (B) HeLa cells were transfected with YFP1-VIP36 and different YFP2-tagged alpha1-anitrypsin mutants or YFP2-tagged albumin. After 24 h fluorometric analysis was performed. Upper panel: Background-corrected values obtained by fluorometric measurement. For background corrections the values from cells expressing YFP1-VIP36 only were subtracted. Bars represent means \pm SD from 3 independent experiments (paired t-test, * P <0.05). Lower left panel: Immunoblot showing expression levels. Lower right panel: HeLa cells were transfected with plasmids encoding YFP2-albumin and YFP1-VIP36. Immunoblot shows the expression level of intracellular (IC) and secreted (M) albumin-Y2.

Figure 4

VIP36 interacts with the high mannose form of α 1-AT and this interaction increases upon inhibition of complex glycosylation

HeLa (A) or COS (B) cells were co-transfected with YFP1- α 1-AT and YFP2-VIP36. After 24 h, the cells were lysed and YFP2-VIP36 was immunoprecipitated with anti-YFP2. The immunoprecipitate was subjected to endoH digestion followed by SDS-PAGE. Left panels: Co-immunoprecipitated YFP1-antitrypsin detected with anti-YFP1. Right panels: Immunoprecipitated YFP2-VIP36 detected with anti-VIP36. (C) HeLa cells expressing YFP2- α 1-AT and YFP1-VIP36 were treated with kifunensine (25uM) overnight (kif) or with solvent

(Co). After 24 h, fluorometric analysis was performed. Results are expressed as percent of control. Bars: means \pm SD (3 independent experiments; paired t-test, * =P <0.05). Expression levels were determined by Western blotting: Upper panel shows YFP2- α 1-AT expression; lower panel shows YFP1-VIP36 expression. (D) The VIP36- α 1-AT complex shows comparable localization under control conditions (upper panel) and after kifunensine treatment (lower panel). (E) Localization of the glycosylation-deficient VIP36 mutant (YFP2-VIP36-N183A) in HeLa cells. (F) HeLa cells were transfected with YFP2- α 1-AT and YFP1-VIP36-WT or the glycosylation deficient mutant (YFP1-VIP36-N183A). The fluorescent signal was not significantly different between cells expressing wild type and mutant VIP36.

Figure 5

Expression of VIP36 in HepG2 cells and effect of VIP36 silencing on the transport of a1-AT and albumin. (A) HepG2 cells were fixed, permeabilized, and co-stained with anti-VIP36 and anti-GM130. (B) Knockdown efficiency of two siRNAs targeting VIP36 in HepG2 cells. The knockdown was validated by immunoblotting with anti-VIP36. Tubulin was used as a loading control. (C) Pulse-chase experiments. HepG2 cells were transfected with VIP36 siRNA (VIP) or control siRNA (Co). After 72 h, the cells were pulsed with 35S-methionine for 10 min and chased for the indicated time. a1-AT was immunoprecipitated from cell lysates and from the medium. Complex glycosylated form (arrow) and high mannose form (arrow head) are indicated. Bars: means \pm SD (mean of 4 experiments; two experiments per siRNA). Radiolabeled bands were quantified by phosphorimaging. The percentage of complex glycosylated α 1-AT (intracellular and medium) compared to total α 1-AT (intracellular and medium, both high mannose and complex glycosylated) was calculated for the different time points. The results were analyzed using paired t-test (* =P < 0.05). (D) HepG2 cells were transfected with VIP36 siRNA or control siRNA. After 72 h, cells were pulsed with 35S methionine for 10 min and chased for the indicated times. Albumin was immunoprecipitated from cell lysates and media. Means \pm SD (3 independent experiments).

Figure 6

Recycling of the VIP36/\alpha1-AT complex to the ER. (A) HeLa cells expressing YFP1-VIP36 and YFP2- α 1-AT were treated with 100 ug/ml cycloheximide (+Cx) for 5 h or with solvent (Co). Cells were fixed, and the complex localization was determined by fluorescence microscopy. Note that the Golgi is not affected by cycloheximide treatment, as indicated by co-staining with the Golgi marker GM130. (B) Percentage of cells exhibiting Golgi

localization of the VIP36- α 1-AT complex. Means + SD (3 independent experiments; paired t-test, * =P <0.05). (C) HeLa cells expressing YFP2-VIP36, YFP2- α 1-AT, or YFP2-VIP36 together with YFP1-VIP36 were lysed and the YFP2-tagged proteins were immunoprecipitated. The immunoblot shows the amount of BiP that co-immunoprecipitated in the different samples.

Figure S1

Secretion of α 1-AT from HepG2 cells after kifunensine treatment. HepG2 cells were pretreated with kifunensine, pulsed for 10 min with 35S-methionine, and chased for 60 min. Kifunensine was present during the entire experiment. α 1-AT was immunoprecipitated from the medium. Half of each fraction was digested with endoH and the other half was left untreated. Samples were subjected to SDS-PAGE and radioactive bands were visualized by phosphorimaging.



Α



в







+kif



arbitrary units 00 00 00 00 100

0

94

WΤ

N183A









C

Control-siRNA



intracellular



30

15

medium



VIP36-siRNA



30

D

Control-siRNA







■ control-siRNA □ VIP36-siRNA







С



Figure S1



3.2 Additional data: The role of VIP36 in Golgi integrity

The primary goal of my work was to investigate the function of VIP36 in the early secretory pathway focusing on the identification of a potential ligand. In addition, I was also interested whether VIP36 affected the organization of the secretory pathway itself. The results of this part of the study are presented and discussed in the following section.

Effect of VIP36 knockdown on the morphology of the early secretory pathway

VIP36 cycles between the ER and the Golgi (Dahm et al. 2001). Therefore an effect of VIP36 knockdown is most likely to manifest itself in the early secretory pathway. VIP36 knockdown was performed in HeLa cells and the cells were stained with markers for different compartments of the early secretory pathway. Knockdown of VIP36 had no appreciable effect on ER exit sites (ERES) as determined by staining for the COPII component Sec31 (Fig. 1A). There was also no effect on the peripheral ERGIC structures (Figure 1B). However, ERGIC-53 showed less accumulation in the Golgi region in knockdown compared to control cells. This observation points to a possible alteration of Golgi morphology caused by the VIP36 knockdown. Staining for the cis-Golgi marker GM130 and the medial-Golgi marker giantin revealed that the Golgi ribbon was fragmented (Fig. 1C). The effect on Golgi morphology was confirmed by two different siRNAs against VIP36. To further ensure that the effect on Golgi morphology was specific for cells in which VIP36 is depleted, we co-labeled VIP36 and GM130. Only those cells without a residual VIP36 staining exhibited a fragmented Golgi (Fig. 1D). Overexpression of VIP36 had no effect on Golgi morphology (Fig. 1E), further supporting the conclusion that the observed fragmentation of the Golgi is due to depletion of VIP36.

The Golgi fragments observed under VIP36 knockdown conditions are not connected anymore

Next we wanted to determine whether the Golgi fragments in VIP36 knockdown cells are still connected. We therefore performed a FRAP experiment (fluorescence recovery after photobleaching). HeLa cells were either transfected with control siRNA or VIP36 siRNA. After 48 h, a plasmid encoding GFP-tagged-galactosyltransferase was transfected to label the Golgi. FRAP experiments were performed 24 h afterwards. A small region of the Golgi was bleached and subsequently the recovery of the fluorescent signal was measured. As the Golgi is a connected ribbon in control cells, bleaching of a circular area was followed by rapid

recovery (Fig. 2). In VIP36 knockdown cells, the bleached Golgi region did not recover within the time-frame of the experiment (~55 sec) (Fig. 2). This indicates that the bleached region is not connected to the other Golgi fragments and thus cannot be filled by diffusion.

VIP36 knockdown does not affect the microtubule network but decreases the amount of COPI on the Golgi

Several conditions can account for a fragmentation of the Golgi. One of these conditions is depolymerization of the microtubules. However, knockdown of VIP36 did not change the gross organization of the microtubule network as judged by staining for α -tubulin (Fig. 3A). Disruption of the coatomer complex either by knockdown of β -COP (Styers et al. 2008) or by conditional depletion of ϵ -COP (Guo et al. 1994) also results in fragmentation of the Golgi. Importantly, co-knockdown of ERGIC-53 and Surf 4 fragmented the Golgi, partly by redistribution of COPI from the Golgi to the cytosol (Mitrovic et al. 2008). VIP36 is related to ERGIC-53, and it contains a putative (dibasic) COPI binding motif. Therefore it seemed worthwhile to analyze the effect of VIP36 knockdown on COPI distribution. HeLa cells were transfected with control or VIP36 siRNA and a co-staining for β -COP and giantin was performed 72 h after transfection. Knockdown of VIP36 fragmented the Golgi and the fluorescence of β -COP on these Golgi fragments was significantly reduced when normalized to the giantin signal (Fig. 3B). We therefore concluded that Golgi fragmentation could be due to changes in COPI distribution analogous to the observation made by co-knockdown of ERGIC-53 and SURF4.

VIP36 knockdown does not affect general glycoprotein secretion

A major function of the Golgi is the posttranslational modification of proteins and their secretion. As shown above (see manuscript) knockdown of VIP36 did not affect secretion of albumin which is a non-glycosylated protein. However, secretion of the glycoprotein α1-AT was accelerated. We therefore asked whether the fragmentation of the Golgi induced by VIP36 knockdown has any impact on general secretion of glycoproteins. To test this, HepG2 cells were transfected with siRNA against VIP36 or control siRNA. After 72 h, cells were metabolically labeled with [³⁵S]-methionine for 10 min. Media and cells were harvested after a chase period of 20 and 60 min. Intracellular and secreted glycoproteins were precipitated using Concanavalin A-Sepharose. Concanavalin A is a lectin that binds preferentially to high-mannose and hybrid type N-glycans. We compared the amount of intracellular glycoproteins bound to

Concanavalin A were really of high-mannose type, we performed endoglycosidase H (endoH) digestion of intracellular glycoproteins. The most prominent bands appeared to be sensitive to endoH, indicating that they indeed contained high-mannose glycans. We could not observe an obvious difference in glycoprotein secretion between knockdown and control cells (Fig. 4A). In addition, there were also no differences in proteins not bound by Concanavalin A (Flow through) between knockdown and control conditions (Fig. 4B). This assay provides only a rough estimate of the functionality of the anterograde transport, but it is sufficient to show that the fragmented Golgi is still able to support anterograde transport.

Retrograde Golgi to ER transport is not affected by VIP36 knockdown.

Knockdown of the non-motor subunit of kinesin also leads to Golgi fragmentation (Stauber et al. 2006). No effect was observed on anterograde transport but retrograde (Golgi-to ER) transport was affected. Therefore, we wanted to test if the retrograde transport was affected by Golgi fragmentation in VIP36 knockdown cells. We used the ts045-VSVG-KDEL-receptor (VSVG-KDELr) based assay to test the functionality of the COPI dependent retrograde transport route. This reporter is composed of the KDELr which is retrieved in a COPIdependent manner. The luminal part of the temperature sensitive VSVG is attached to the Nterminus of the KDELr (Cole et al. 1998). At the permissive temperature (32°C), this reporter cycles in the early secretory pathway and is at steady state in the Golgi. Upon shifting to the non-permissive temperature (40°C) the reporter is transported back to the ER, where it is trapped due to misfolding of the VSVG part. Conversion of the Golgi localization to an ER localization is indicative of an intact retrograde transport. If there is a disruption of retrograde trafficking, the VSVG-KDELr reporter will not be transported to the ER, and will remain in the Golgi. VSVG-KDELr distributed evenly to the ER and the Golgi in control as well as in VIP36 knockdown cells at the 32°C (Fig. 5 A,B). After incubation at 40°C for 2h, VSVG-KDELr localized to the ER in both control and VIP36 knockdown cells (Fig. 5 A,B). This indicates that the COPI-dependent retrograde transport is still supported by the fragmented Golgi.

Discussion

Beside a role of VIP36 in post-Golgi quality control our study revealed that VIP36 also plays a role in maintaining/establishing Golgi integrity. There are several possibilities how VIP36 could maintain Golgi integrity. Our study showed that neither the microtubule network, nor general anterograde or retrograde protein trafficking was affected by VIP36 knockdown.

Therefore we can exclude that a disruption of the microtubule network or a consequence of impaired protein trafficking are the reasons for the fragmented Golgi. According to our data VIP36 is involved in post-Golgi quality control of at least one glycoprotein: α 1-AT. VIP36 is supposed to bind misfolded α 1-AT and to transport it back to the ER. It is therefore tempting to speculate that VIP36 knockdown leads to an accumulation of misfolded glycoproteins in the Golgi, as they are not retrieved anymore. This accumulation of misfolded proteins could have a toxic effect on the Golgi leading to Golgi fragmentation. So far there are a few examples in the literature that showed a relation between misfolded proteins and the fragmentation of the Golgi (Gonatas et al. 2006). The most interesting one is a misfolded mutant of the growth hormone (Graves et al. 2001). Overexpression of this mutant causes massive Golgi fragmentation. The mutant itself was retained in the ER, but in addition located partially to Golgi fragments, indicating that part of the protein reached the Golgi. Overexpression of mutant growth hormone induced an anterograde trafficking defect. Golgi fragmentation could be either due to the disturbed ER export of proteins, but also due to accumulation of protein aggregates in the Golgi. This latter possibility was not tested. Organelle fractionation is needed here to determine whether protein aggregates are also found in Golgi fractions. However for α 1-AT we did not find evidence for accumulation of misfolded proteins in HepG2 cells. On the contrary, knockdown of VIP36 led to an accelerated secretion of α 1-AT. Also general secretion of glycoproteins did not differ between VIP36 knockdown and control cells. Therefore, our results do not support the accumulation of misfolded protein in the Golgi as a cause for Golgi fragmentation. Our results favor a different observation to underlie Golgi fragmentation. We found that VIP36 knockdown reduced COPI binding to the Golgi membrane. The importance of COPI for Golgi integrity is well supported. Treatment with BFA inhibits assembly of COPI coats on membranes due to the lack of activation of Arf1 by its exchange factor GBF1. This leads to dissociation of COPI from Golgi membranes and redistribution of the Golgi to the ER (Lippincott-Schwartz et al. 1989; Lippincott-Schwartz et al. 1998). Knockdown of B-COP (Styers et al. 2008) or conditional depletion of ε -COP (Guo et al. 1994) both resulted in fragmentation of the Golgi. We found that knockdown of VIP36 reduced the amount of Golgi-associated COPI. A recent study from our laboratory showed that recruitment of COPI to the Golgi depends on the presence of cargo receptors (Mitrovic et al. 2008). Double knockdown of ERGIC-53 and the putative cargo receptor SURF4 disrupt the Golgi and COPI dissociates partly from the Golgi. The same result was found for single knockdown of p25, a cargo receptor of the p24 family (Mitrovic et al. 2008). All of these proteins provide di-lysine COPI-binding motifs that are

critical for COPI recruitment. VIP36 has a dibasic signal in its C-terminus (KR on position –3 and –4), which are likely to serve as COPI binding sites. This is a possible explanation for the reduction of COPI association to the Golgi. The question arises now, why a single knockdown of VIP36 is sufficient to induce Golgi fragmentation, while a single knockdown of the related protein ERGIC-53 does not? ERGIC-53 is mainly localized to the ERGIC and the ER and a very small amount of it is found in the Golgi. VIP36 mainly localizes to the Golgi and may therefore contribute more COPI binding sites than ERGIC-53. Taken together our data demonstrate that VIP36 supports Golgi integrity mainly by providing binding sites for COPI.

Materials and methods:

Antibodies: The following antibodies were used for immunofluorescence: G1/133 against giantin (Linstedt et al. 1993), GM130 (BD, Bioscience), tubulin , mAb G1/93 against human ERGIC-53 (Schweizer et al. 1991), mouse mAb 1A2 against α -tubulin (kindly provided by Karl Matter, University College London, UK), rabbit pAb VIP36 (kindly provided by Kai Simons, Max Planck Institute for Molecular Cell Biology and Genetics, Dresden, Germany), mouse mAb 9E10 against the myc epitope, mouse mAb maD anti- β COP (Pepperkok et al. 1993), pAb against giantin (kind gift of Adam Linstedt, Department of Biological Sciences, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh). Alexa 488-, Alexa 568 (Molecular Probes, BV, Leiden, NL) were used as secondary antibodies.

Cell culture:

HeLa cells were grown in DMEM, supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and antibiotics. HepG2 cell were grown in MEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and antibiotics.

siRNA and DNA transfection

Si **RNA** oligonucleotides against VIP36 were obtained from Qiagen (5'-AGAUAACUUCCACGGCUUA)dTdT-3'was 5'and used as sense UAAGCCGUGGAAGUUAUCUdTdT-3' as antisense oligonucleotide) and from Ambion (5'-UGACUGCGGAUAUAACUGAtt-3' as sense and UCAGUUAUAUCCGCAGUCAca as an antisense oligonucleotide). Nonsilencing negative control siRNAs were obtained from Qiagen and Ambion. The siRNAs were transfected using Hiperfect (Qiagen, Switzerland) according to the manufacturer's instructions at a final concentration of 10nM. Plasmid transfection was performed using Fugene6 (Roche Diagnostics) according to the manufacturer's instruction.

Plasmids

Full length VIP36 was cloned from cDNA obtained by reverse transcription from HepG2 mRNA oligodT. VIP36 amplified using 5'using was AATTCTCGAGATGGCGGCGGAAGGCTGGATT-3' as forward primer and 5'-GGCCTCTAGATCAGTAGAAGCGCTTGTTCCG-3'as a reverse primer. The PCR product was subcloned into a pcDNA3 vector via XhoI and XbaI restriction sites. The construct was verified by sequencing

Immunofluorecence microscopy:

Cells were fixed in 3% para-formaldehyde, permeablizied in 0,2% Triton in PBS containing 3% BSA and 20mM glycine (PBG) or 0,1% saponin (for anti-myc staining). Primary and secondary antibodies were incubated sequentially in PBS containing 3% BSA at room temperature. In case of saponin permeabilisation procedure saponin was present during all steps. For COPI staining cell were fixed in ice cold methanol/acetone (1:1) for 2 min. Following a one hour blocking step with PBG, cells were subsequently incubated with the primary antibodies in PBG and the secondary antibody in PBS containing 3% BSA. Cells were embedded in Mowiol and analyzed by laser scanning confocal microscopy (SPE5, Leica). For quantification of the β -COP staining, the fluorescence intensity of the giantin and the β -COP staining was determined within the same region of the Golgi. All regions quantitated had the same size. The intensity of β -COP staining was normalized to the intensity of the giantin staining. Images in knockdown and control conditions were acquired using the same settings (magnification and laser power).

Total glycoprotein secretion

HepG2 cells were seeded in 10cm plates and reverse transfected with either VIP36 or control siRNA. 72 h after knockdown cells were starved in methionine-cysteine free medium and pulsed afterwards with ³⁵S-labeled methionine/cysteine for 15 min. The medium was collected after a 60 min chase period and the samples were incubated with Concanavalin A-Sepharose for 1 h. The samples were washed four times with ConA buffer (20mM Tris-HCl, 500mM NaCl, 1mM CaCl₂, 1mM MgCl₂, pH 7.5) and glycoproteins were eluted in endoH buffer (0.25M sodium-citrate, 50mM Tris pH 6.0, 0.6% SDS). 50% of each sample was left untreated, 50% of it was incubated with 5mU endoglycosidase H (Roche) for 3 h at 37°C. Loading buffer was added and the samples were loaded on an SDS-gradient gel (4%-15%). The gel was fixed by incubation in 50%methanol and 10% acetic acid for 30 min. The radiolabeled bands were analyzed by phosphorimaging.

Fluorescence recovery after photobleaching:

HeLa cells were transfected with 10 nM siRNAs, 48 h later they were transfected with GalT-EGFP plasmid DNA. 72 h after siRNA transfection the cells were used for FRAP experiments on a LeicaSP5 microscopy at 37° C (× 40 objective, 1.4 NA). Before bleaching, a scan was obtained; the area of interest was then bleached with maximum laser power for one frame. Subsequently fluorescence recovery was monitored for 40 frames (each frame was 1.4 seconds). The recorded fluorescence intensities were digitized and averaged over the bleach region using ImageJ[.]

VSV-G-KDEL-receptor-based retrograde transport assay

HeLa cells were transfected with control or VIP36 siRNA. Two days later, they were transfected with myc-tagged ts045 VSV-G-KDEL receptor construct (kind gift from Victor Hsu, Harvard University). Subsequently cells were incubated at 32°C to allow VSVG to fold. Three days after siRNA transfection, the cells were either shifted for 2 h to 40°C or left at 32°C before fixation with 3%PFA. Immunofluorescence staining was performed using antimyc antibody. A secondary anti-mouse-antibody coupled with Alexa568 was used. The amount of cells showing the VSVG-KDELR in the ER, respectively the Golgi were counted and expressed as percentage of total cells counted.

Figure legends:

Figure 1: VIP36 knockdown shows no effect on ER exit sites or the ERGIC, but fragments the Golgi. (A-C) Hela cells were transfected with VIP36 siRNA or control siRNA. After 72 h, cells were fixed and stained for Sec31 (A), ERGIC-53 (B), GM130 (C, upper row) or the medial Golgi marker giantin (C, lower row). Note that two different siRNAs fragmented the Golgi. (D) Hela cells were transfected with siRNA against VIP36. After 72 h, cells were fixed and co-stained for GM130 and VIP36. Cells without residual VIP36 staining showed fragmentation of the Golgi (arrow heads). (E) HeLa cells were transfected with cDNA encoding VIP36. After 24 h, cells were fixed and stained for VIP36 and GM130. Transfected cells were identified as those exhibiting a twofold higher fluorescence value over the Golgi region.

Figure 2: The fragments of the Golgi are not interconnected.

HeLa cells were transfected with siRNA against VIP36 or with control siRNA. Two days later cells were transfected with a plasmid encoding GalT-EGFP and the FRAP experiment was performed 24 h later as described in material and methods. Upper panel shows an example for

FRAP in VIP36 knockdown *vs.* control cells after the same period of recovery. Lower panel shows the evaluation of 5 cells for each condition (expressed as mean \pm SD)

Figure 3: Effect of VIP36 knockdown on microtubule and COPI distribution.

(*A*,*B*) HeLa cells were treated with siRNA against VIP36 or with control siRNA. After 72 h, cells were stained with anti-tubulin antibody (A) or co-stained with β -COP and giantin (B). Fluorescence intensity of the β -COP staining was normalized to the intensity of the giantin staining.

Figure 4: VIP36 knockdown has no effect on general glycoprotein secretion.

(*A*,*B*) HepG2 cells were transfected with VIP36 siRNA (VIP) or control siRNA (co). 72 h after transfection the cells were labeled with [35 S]methionine for 10 min and chased for 0, 20 and 60 min. Cell lysate (c) and medium (M) was incubated with Concanavalin A. Panel A shows the fraction of (glyco-) proteins that bound to Concanavlin A. Samples were eluted and one half subjected to endo-H treatment (+) and the other half left untreated (-). Samples were subjected to SDS-PAGE and bands were visualized using phosphorimaging. Panel B shows a fraction of the flow through (2%) was also subjected to SDS-PAGE and visualized by phosphorimaging.

Figure 5: VIP36 knockdown does not affect COPI dependent retrograde transport. (A)

HeLa cells were transfected with siRNA against VIP36 or control siRNA. After 48 h, cells were transfected with the myc-VSVG-KDEL-receptor construct. Cell were either left at 32°C (left panel) or incubated at 40°C for 2 h (right panel). Subsequently cells were fixed and stained for anti-myc. (*B*) Scoring of the percentage of cells showing a Golgi or ER pattern of the VSVG-KDELR under the different conditions. Bars show mean of two experiments. For each condition 44 to 58 cells were evaluated.


Figure 2



107

Figure 3



siRNA VIP36

control



108





4 Discussion

Among the four L-type lectins in mammalian cells, only the role of ERGIC-53 in the early secretory pathway has been investigated in detail. The main function of ERGIC-53 is the ER export of a series of glycoproteins (Hauri et al. 2000). In addition, it acts together with Erp44 to ensure efficient polymerization and secretion of IgM polymers (Cortini et al. 2010). The function of the other three members of mammalian L-type lectins remains elusive. So far no study was conducted on the role of ERGL in the early secretory pathway. VIPL was implicated as a regulator for ERGIC-53, as overexpression of VIPL redistributed ERGIC-53 back to the ER (Nufer et al. 2003). In addition, knockdown of VIPL affected the secretion of two non-identified glycoproteins (Neve et al. 2003) but it remains unknown if VIPL directly affects the transport of these glycoproteins.

Several studies were conducted on VIP36, but no convincing data supporting a specific function of VIP36 was provided. Our approach to uncover the cellular function of VIP36 was to identify a cargo and study the function of VIP36 based on this cargo. We identified a1-AT by our YFP-PCA-based FACS screening as an interaction partner for VIP36. At first sight we were surprised to retrieve α 1-AT as a possible interaction partner for VIP36 because we have previously uncovered α 1-AT as a cargo for ERGIC-53. We first speculated that VIP36 might work as a backup receptor, a notion supported by the fact that VIP36 has a preference for high-mannose (ER-type) sugars and cycles in the early secretory pathway (Dahm et al. 2001; Kamiya et al. 2005). Both features are reminiscent of ERGIC-53. In addition, we found that the complex formed by α 1-AT and VIP36 localized to ER and Golgi. This would be consistent with binding of α 1-AT to VIP36 in the ER and subsequent transport to the Golgi. A backup receptor function would be analogous to COPII where four different versions of the cargo adaptor Sec24 (Sec24A,B,C,D) exist, which function redundantly (Wendeler et al. 2007). However, our data do not support a backup function of VIP36. The main point arguing against a backup-receptor hypothesis is the fact that a knockdown of VIP36 accelerates α 1-AT transport. In addition, findings by K. Kato and colleagues argue against a role for VIP36 at the level of the ER. They found that VIP36 has its highest affinity for sugars at pH of 6.5 (Kamiya et al. 2005). This is a value typically attributed to the Golgi (Paroutis et al. 2004). Similarly, it is also unlikely that VIP36 acts in intra-Golgi transport. Depletion of an anterograde intra-Golgi transport receptor would result in slowed complex-glycosylation of its cargo glycoprotein. In contrast we observed accelerated complex-glycosylation of α 1-AT in VIP36. Apart from that, this is not likely for another reason. The Golgi mannosidase-I cleaves GlcNAc₂Man₈ to GlcNAc₂Man₅ already in

the *cis*-Golgi. VIP36 has a very low affinity for Man₅ glycans (Kamiya et al. 2005). Therefore, VIP36 would not be able to support transport of glycoproteins after the *cis*-Golgi, making it an unlikely candidate for an intra-Golgi transport receptor.

One of the potential functions postulated for VIP36 is post-Golgi transport of glycoproteins (Hara-Kuge et al. 2002). Therefore, we considered the possibility that VIP36 may mediate post-Golgi transport of α1-AT. The idea that VIP36 acts in post Golgi transport is mainly supported by two studies (Hara-Kuge et al. 2002; Hara-Kuge et al. 2004). These authors described that VIP36 interacts with α -amylase in post-Golgi vesicles of rat parotid cells (Hara-Kuge et al. 2004). However, this is not relevant for human α -amylase. Rat α amylase is secreted in a high-mannose form which can potentially be recognized by VIP36. By contrast, human α -amylase is secreted in its complex glycosylated form, which is unlikely to interact with VIP36 (Hara-Kuge et al. 2004). The second study focused on the secretory protein clusterin in MDCK cells. Clusterin has seven N-glycosylation sites, one of which remains in its high-mannose form even when it is secreted (Hara-Kuge et al., 2002). This high-mannose glycan could therefore serve as a binding site for VIP36 to mediate post-Golgi trafficking (Hara-Kuge et al. 2002). Yet only indirect evidence for a role of VIP36 in post-Golgi trafficking of clusterin was provided. Hara Kuge et al. (2002) localized VIP36 to the plasma-membrane in MDCK cells. The observation of VIP36 in the late secretory pathway is incompatible with our findings as well as with the findings of the Simons group (Fullekrug et al. 1999). The discrepancy may be due to the usage of different antibodies. The antibody used by Füllekrug et al. (1999) is directed against the C-terminus of VIP36. We used the same antibody in our studies and also localized VIP36 in the early secretory pathway. The polyclonal antibody used in the study of Hara Kuge et al (2002) is directed against the luminal domain of VIP36, which would be accessible to the extracellular milieu in case VIP36 would reach the plasma membrane. Hara Kuge et al (2002) detected VIP36 at the plasma-membrane in non-permeabilized cells, but the same antibody showed mainly an ER pattern for VIP36 in permeabilized cells. In addition, this antibody was raised against the complete CRD of VIP36 and is therefore likely to detect also VIPL, as the luminal domains are homologous. Thus the results obtained with this antibody have to be taken cautiously. Further studies are needed to clarify the role of VIP36 in clusterin transport in more detail. Nevertheless, the possibility remains that VIP36 is able to fulfill different functions dependent on the cell type. Regarding α 1-AT, we are convinced that VIP36 is not involved in its post-Golgi transport for several reasons. The role assigned to VIP36 in post-Golgi trafficking was to regulate apical secretion. HepG2 cells (where we have studied α 1-AT transport) are polarized cells and exhibit an

apical and a basolateral side. The canalicular membrane domain of HepG2 cells correspond to the apical domain and their sinusoidal and lateral domains correspond to the basolateral membrane (Zegers et al. 1998). α 1-AT is a plasma-protein and as such it would be secreted via the sinusoidal and lateral membrane into the bloodstream. However, it is unlikely that VIP36 mediates basolateral-directed post-Golgi transport of α 1-AT. Secretion of α 1-AT into the medium was not slowed down under VIP36 knockdown conditions. Finally, there is no evidence that any of the three glycosylation sites of secreted α 1-AT remains in its highmannose state, which would be necessary to serve as a binding site for VIP36 (Gross et al. 1982; Mills et al. 2001). Overall, our data do not support a role for VIP36 as an anterograde cargo receptor at any stage for α 1-AT.

So far all listed hypotheses fail to provide an explanation for the accelerated transport we have observed under VIP36 knockdown conditions. Which intracellular function of VIP36 can explain such an observation? Interestingly, acceleration of α 1-AT transport was already described in the literature (Yeo et al 1985). Treatment with the mannosidase-II inhibitor swainsonine accelerates the transport of α 1-AT and other glycoproteins (Yeo et al. 1985). Inhibition of mannosidase-II interferes with the conversion of Man₅ to Man₃, resulting in an accumulation of Man₅. The inhibition of trimming prevents the formation of complex-type glycans, and hybrid-type glycans are synthesized instead. The authors speculated that a Man₃and Man₅-binding lectin may exist. Transport by the Man₃-binding lectin would be slower than transport by the Man₅-binding lectin. Therefore, accumulation of Man₅ will lead to a faster transport. It is very unlikely that VIP36 represents this elusive Man₃-binding lectin because VIP36 has a very low affinity for Man₃ glycans (Kamiya et al 2005).

Based on our data the most likely explanation for the accelerated transport under VIP36 knockdown would be a role in quality control at the level of the Golgi. According to this notion, VIP36 binds high-mannose α 1-AT in the Golgi and transports it back to the ER and thereby retards its complex glycosylation. In case VIP36 is depleted, α 1-AT is not retrieved, but subjected to complex glycosylation and finally secreted. This hypothesis explains all our observations. If VIP36 acts in post-ER quality control it is likely to interact only with a small fraction of proteins, which is reflected by the low YFP-PCA signal. Likewise, the small increase in transport velocity could be explained. We also demonstrated the recycling of the VIP36/ α 1-AT complex from the Golgi back to the ER, which further strengthens our hypothesis.

The principle of post-ER quality control *per se* is not without precedence. A well known example is the retrieval activity of the KDEL receptor. The KDEL receptor cycles

between ER and Golgi and ensures that escaped ER resident proteins are transported back to the ER. The KDEL receptor binds to the KDEL peptide sequence (lysine-aspartate-glutamic acid-leucine) present in a variety of soluble proteins, like BiP or calreticulin (Pelham 1989). Calreticulin retrieves sub-optimally loaded MHC-I molecules from the Golgi back to the ER (Howe et al. 2009). This shows that ER chaperones may also act at the level of the Golgi. The retained MHCI would be brought back to the ER and may only be released from calreticulin there. However, there is evidence that retention by and release from calreticulin may also take place directly in the Golgi. Endomannosidase was shown by electron-microscopy to localize to the Golgi (Zuber et al. 2000) and it was also shown to co-purify with calreticulin from Golgi extracts (Spiro et al. 1996). This suggests that endomannosidase removes glucose residues from calreticulin-glycoprotein complexes. The removal of glucose would release the glycoprotein from calreticulin at the level of the Golgi. Finally, misfolded mutants of the vasopressin receptor were shown to reach the ERGIC and were subsequently rerouted to the ER for degradation (Hermosilla et al. 2004). The mechanism behind retention and retrieval remains to be resolved.

Two different defects would theoretically render a glycoprotein prone to recognition by post-Golgi quality control: a problem in glycosylation or a folding defect. Glycosylation is important for protein stability and different cellular functions. Therefore, it would make sense to have a mechanism that assures correct glycosylation beyond the level of the ER. Highmannose-containing proteins in the plasma are recognized by the mannose receptor, endocytosed and degraded (Schlesinger et al. 1978). It was shown that high-mannose glycans shortens the half life of IgG1 in blood plasma (Wright et al. 1994). Therefore, cells have to prevent high-mannose glycoproteins from being secreted. This function may be exerted by VIP36. VIP36 could interact with α 1-AT molecules that were not trimmed by Golgi mannosidase-I within a certain time frame and transport them back to the ER. This would prevent secretion of high-mannose containing α 1-AT. Although this idea is appealing, our data do not support it. If VIP36 prevents the secretion of high-mannose α 1-AT, then we would expect to detect these high-mannose forms of a1-AT in the medium of VIP36 knockdown cells. This was, however, not the case. We cannot completely rule out that single N-glycan chains of α 1-AT may show subtle glycosylation differences upon VIP36 knockdown. Whether this is true cannot be clarified by SDS-PAGE. Analysis of secreted α 1-AT from VIP36 knockdown cells by HPLC is needed to tackle this question.

Another possibility for VIP36 to act in post-ER quality control would be the removal of misfolded α 1-AT from the Golgi. According to this hypothesis, VIP36 would recognize

misfolded α 1-AT that escaped the ER quality control. In this case, our observation that kifunensine treatment increases the interaction between VIP36 and α 1-AT may be interpreted differently. Kifunensine does not only inhibit mannosidases, it also inhibits ERAD. Therefore, the increase in fluorescent complementation between VIP36 and α 1-AT, upon kifunensine treatment, might reflect the interaction with α 1-AT variants that escaped the ERAD. Results obtained by Nawa et al (2007) also support a role for VIP36 in post-ER quality control of misfolded proteins. They found that complex glycosylated VIP36 immunoprecipitated with BiP. The complex glycosylation of VIP36 indicates that VIP36 either binds BiP directly in the Golgi or recycles from the Golgi back to the ER and interacts subsequently with BiP. In both cases the interaction between BiP and VIP36 argues strongly for a role in post-ER quality control of misfolded proteins. We confirmed the interaction between BiP and VIP36 and in addition found that BiP associates with the complex formed by VIP36 and α 1-AT. As it is currently not clear where the complex between VIP36 and BiP forms, we can only speculate about the mode how VIP36 and BiP cooperate in quality control. In case the interaction of VIP36 and BiP takes place in the ER, VIP36 would have to recognize the defective glycoprotein in the Golgi, recycle it back to the to the ER and hand it over to BiP. In this scenario, VIP36 would need to recognize its client protein by binding to non-native regions of the protein. There is already some evidence that lectins do not only interact with the glycan structure of a protein alone. ERGIC-53 does not only interact with high-mannose glycans of a glycoprotein, but also with peptide determinants (Appenzeller-Herzog et al. 2005). There is also evidence that calnexin and calreticulin bind to unfolded parts of the protein (Ihara et al. 1999; Saito et al. 1999; Jørgensen et al. 2000). Thus, it is possible that also VIP36 recognizes peptide determinant. VIP36 has an unpaired cysteine in its structure. It is tempting to speculate that this residue is involved in recognition of peptide determinants. According to the crystal structure this cysteine residue is localized on the opposite side of the glycanrecognition site. The glycan chains might suffice to span the distance. Co-crystallization of α 1-AT and VIP36 will be required to test this notion.

In the alternative scenario VIP36 and BiP interact already in the Golgi. VIP36 recognizes the sugar determinants and BiP recognizes the misfolded (non-native) part of the protein. The complex made of BiP, VIP36 and misfolded α 1-AT would then recycle back to the ER. Because of the pH change, VIP36 would release the high-mannose chains in the ER and BiP would stay bound to the misfolded protein and retain it in the ER. Our observation that BiP binds not only to VIP36 but also to the complex formed by α 1-AT and VIP36 argues in favor of this interpretation. Such a mechanism would explain why the complex of VIP36

and a1-AT was retained in the ER after cycloheximide treatment. a1-AT bound to VIP36 is recycled back to the ER in a complex with BiP. As the YFP-PCA is irreversible VIP36 was not able to dissociate from α 1-AT anymore and was retained together with α 1-AT and BiP in the ER. The question arises now, why should BiP alone not be sufficient to bind the misfolded protein in the Golgi? One explanation is the difference in the environments of the Golgi and the ER. BiP may have decreased affinity towards its binding partners in the Golgi, presumably because of different pH. Another possibility is that BiP has a lower affinity for misfolded glycoprotein, than for non-glycoproteins. It has been shown that a glycoprotein that is N-glycosylated within the first 50 aa of its sequence does not interact with BiP (Molinari et al. 2000). Instead it interacts with calnexin or calreticulin. This criterion applies to α 1-AT, as its first glycosylation is within the first 50 aa. It is possible that BiP needs the help of VIP36 to recognize α 1-AT in the Golgi. VIP36 would interact with every high-mannose containing α 1-AT arriving at the Golgi. In case the protein is correctly folded the affinity between VIP36 and α 1-AT is not high enough to promote retention. In case non-native α 1-AT arrives at the Golgi, VIP36 would be aided by BiP and the complex would be re-routed to the ER. As retrieval of BiP is mediated by the KDEL receptor, this could enhance the efficiency of the retrieval of the whole complex. BiP was already implicated in post-ER quality control of the T-cell receptor alpha (TCRa). Together with the KDEL receptor, BiP was shown to be involved in retrieval of incorrectly assembled, overexpressed TCRa (Yamamoto et al. 2001). Partially assembled TCRa is recognized by BiP in the Golgi followed by binding of BiP to the KDEL receptor. The KDEL receptor retrieves the whole complex back to the ER where TCR α is subjected to degradation. As the TCR α is a glycosylated protein, it would be interesting to test, whether VIP36 is also part of this complex or acts in addition to it to enhance the efficiency of the retrieval system.

If VIP36 binds misfolded proteins, why did the misfolded mutants of α 1-AT not interact with VIP36? The two mutants used in our study are retained in ER. The Hong Kong mutant is not exported from the ER at all and the misfolded Z mutant is secreted at 10-fold lower rates than wild type α 1-AT. Therefore, both mutants do not reach the Golgi at sufficient amount to be detectable by YFP-PCA. As the Z-mutant has a strong tendency to aggregate, it might be that the accessibility of the glycan chains is impaired, again lowering the probability to interact with VIP36.

In summary, our study suggests a cellular role for VIP36 as part of the post-ER quality control system in the Golgi. Our proposed working model is schematically illustrated below.



Model for VIP36 in 0.1-AT post-ER quality control

Upper panel: α 1-AT is synthesized in the ER and binds to its cargo receptor ERGIC-53. ERGIC-53 mediates anterograde transport to the ERGIC/Golgi. In case α 1-AT is correctly folded it is subjected to complex glycosylation and finally secreted. Misfolded α 1-AT that escaped the ER quality control is recognised in the Golgi by VIP36. BiP interacts with VIP36 and improves binding to the misfolded protein. The complex consisting of VIP36,BiP and α 1-AT is transported back to the ER. Upon the pH change VIP36 dissociates from α 1-AT. Subsequently α 1-AT is either subjected to degradation or to repair.

Lower panel shows the effect of VIP36 knockdown on α 1-AT transport. α 1-AT is exported from the ER and arrives at the Golgi. The transport of correctly folded α 1-AT is not influenced. But misfolded α 1-AT that arrives at the Golgi is not retrieved by VIP36 anymore. Glycosylation enzymes do not discriminate between the correct and incorrect folding status and α 1-AT becomes complex glycosylated and secreted.



5 Future perspectives

There are still many open questions related to VIP36. I suggest the following questions to be tested experimentally in the future:

- Formally, the trafficking motifs in VIP36 have not been investigated. Is the retrieval motif functional? The classical retrieval motif is KKXX. The putative retrieval motif of VIP36 is KRXX. It would be interesting to test the ability of the VIP36 C-terminus to recruit COPI. This is important in light of the fact that we propose that depletion of VIP36 leads to less COPI at the Golgi. Equally important is the question of whether the putative ER export motif of VIP36 is functional and which Sec24 isoform it binds.

- What form of α 1-AT is secreted by VIP36 knockdown cells compared to control conditions? This requires analysis of VIP36 secreted into the medium by HPLC or by isoelectric focusing. - How does VIP36 bind to BiP? Mapping the domain in VIP36 binding to BiP will allow the construction of VIP36 mutants that fail to bind BiP. These mutants can be then tested in terms of interaction with α 1-AT.

- If the VIP36-BiP complex retrieves α 1-AT to the ER, how does the complex dissociate? This will involve studying the interaction of VIP36 and BiP at different pH levels (6.5 for a Golgi-relevant pH and 7.4 for an ER-relevant pH value). Also interesting would be to study the sequence of events in the assembly of the complex. Does the VIP36-BiP complex preexist in the absence of α 1-AT? Is it induced upon engagement with α 1-AT? Does VIP36 bind α 1-AT first followed by recruitment of BiP? Does non-native α 1-AT arrive at the Golgi already with BiP bound to it?

- What are the molecular details of the VIP36 α 1-AT interaction? Co-crystallization of VIP36 and α 1-AT will be required to tackle this question.

- What is the biological function of VIP36? The complete knockout of genes has often retrieved limited information about the function of the protein being studied. Tissue-specific (conditional) knockout models are more useful. A VIP36 knockout in the liver would be a potentially useful model to uncover the biological function of this lectin. VIP36 is highly expressed in the liver and α 1-AT which we have identified as a binding partner for it, is synthesized and secreted in the liver.

6 References

- Appenzeller-Herzog, C., Nyfeler, B., Burkhard, P., Santamaria, I., Lopez-Otin, C. and Hauri, H.-P. (2005). Carbohydrate- and Conformation-dependent Cargo Capture for ER-Exit. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 16(3): 1258-1267.
- Cole, N. B., Ellenberg, J., Song, J., DiEuliis, D. and Lippincott-Schwartz, J. (1998). Retrograde Transport of Golgi-localized Proteins to the ER. <u>J Cell Biol</u> 140(1): 1-15.
- Cortini, M. and Sitia, R. (2010). ERp44 and ERGIC-53 Synergize in Coupling Efficiency and Fidelity of IgM Polymerization and Secretion. <u>Traffic</u> 11(5):651-659.
- Dahm, T., White, J., Grill, S., Fullekrug, J. and Stelzer, E. H. (2001). Quantitative ER <--> Golgi transport kinetics and protein separation upon Golgi exit revealed by vesicular integral membrane protein 36 dynamics in live cells." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 12(5): 1481-98.
- Fullekrug, J., Scheiffele, P. and Simons, K. (1999). "VIP36 localisation to the early secretory pathway." <u>J Cell</u> <u>Sci</u> 112 (Pt 17): 2813-21.
- Gonatas, N. K., Stieber, A. and Gonatas, J. O. (2006). "Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus in neurodegenerative diseases and cell death." J Neurol Sci 246(1-2): 21-30.
- Graves, T. K., Patel, S., Dannies, P. S. and Hinkle, P. M. (2001). "Misfolded growth hormone causes fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus and disrupts endoplasmic reticulum-to-Golgi traffic." <u>J Cell Sci</u> **114**(20): 3685-3694.
- Gross, V., Geiger, T., Tran-Thi, T.-A., Gauthier, F. and Heinrich, P., C. (1982). "Biosynthesis and Secretion of α1-Antitrypsin in Primary Cultures of Rat Hepatocytes." <u>Eur J Biochem</u> **129**(2): 317-323.
- Guo, Q., Vasile, E. and Krieger, M. (1994). "Disruptions in Golgi structure and membrane traffic in a conditional lethal mammalian cell mutant are corrected by epsilon-COP. J Cell Biol **125**(6): 1213-1224.
- Hara-Kuge, S., Ohkura, T., Ideo, H., Shimada, O., Atsumi, S. and Yamashita, K. (2002). Involvement of VIP36 in intracellular transport and secretion of glycoproteins in polarized Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells. J Biol Chem 277(18): 16332-9.
- Hara-Kuge, S., Seko, A., Shimada, O., Tosaka-Shimada, H. and Yamashita, K. (2004). The binding of VIP36 and alpha-amylase in the secretory vesicles via high-mannose type glycans. <u>Glycobiology</u> 14(8): 739-44.
- Hauri, H. P., Kappeler, F., Andersson, H. and Appenzeller, C. (2000). ERGIC-53 and traffic in the secretory pathway. <u>J Cell Sci</u> 113(4): 587-596.
- Hermosilla, R., Oueslati, M., Donalies, U., Schönenberger, E., Krause, E., Oksche, A., Rosenthal, W. and Schülein, R. (2004). Disease-causing V(2) Vasopressin Receptors are Retained in Different Compartments of the Early Secretory Pathway. <u>Traffic</u> 5(12): 993-1005.
- Howe, C., Garstka, M., Al-Balushi, M., Ghanem, E., Antoniou, A. N., Fritzsche, S., Jankevicius, G., Kontouli, N., Schneeweiss, C., Williams, A., Elliott, T. and Springer, S. (2009). Calreticulin-dependent recycling in the early secretory pathway mediates optimal peptide loading of MHC class I molecules. <u>EMBO J</u> 28(23): 3730-3744.
- Ihara, Y., Cohen-Doyle, M. F., Saito, Y. and Williams, D. B. (1999). Calnexin Discriminates between Protein Conformational States and Functions as a Molecular Chaperone In Vitro. <u>Molecular Cell</u> 4(3): 331-341.
- Jensen, T. J., Loo, M. A., Pind, S., Williams, D. B., Goldberg, A. L. and Riordan, J. R. (1995). Multiple proteolytic systems, including the proteasome, contribute to CFTR processing. <u>Cell</u> **83**(1): 129-35.
- Jørgensen, C., S., Heegaard, N., H. H, Holm, A., Højrup, P. and Houen, G. (2000). Polypeptide binding properties of the chaperone calreticulin. <u>Eur J Biochem</u> **267**(10): 2945-2954.
- Kamiya, Y., Yamaguchi, Y., Takahashi, N., Arata, Y., Kasai, K., Ihara, Y., Matsuo, I., Ito, Y., Yamamoto, K. and Kato, K. (2005). Sugar-binding properties of VIP36, an intracellular animal lectin operating as a cargo receptor. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 280(44): 37178-82.
- Linstedt, A. D. and Hauri, H. P. (1993). Giantin, a novel conserved Golgi membrane protein containing a cytoplasmic domain of at least 350 kDa. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **4**(7): 679-693.
- Lippincott-Schwartz, J., Cole, N. B. and Donaldson, J. G. (1998). Building a secretory apparatus: role of ARF1/COPI in Golgi biogenesis and maintenance. <u>Histochem Cell Biol</u> 109(5): 449-462.
- Lippincott-Schwartz, J., Yuan, L. C., Bonifacino, J. S. and Klausner, R. D. (1989). Rapid redistribution of Golgi proteins into the ER in cells treated with brefeldin A: Evidence for membrane cycling from Golgi to ER." <u>Cell</u> 56(5): 801-813.
- Mills, K., Mills, P. B., Clayton, P. T., Johnson, A. W., Whitehouse, D. B. and Winchester, B. G. (2001). Identification of alpha (1)-antitrypsin variants in plasma with the use of proteomic technology." <u>Clin</u> <u>Chem</u> 47(11): 2012-2022.
- Mitrovic, S., Ben-Tekaya, H., Koegler, E., Gruenberg, J. and Hauri, H.-P. (2008). The Cargo Receptors Surf4, Endoplasmic Reticulum-Golgi Intermediate Compartment (ERGIC)-53, and p25 Are Required to Maintain the Architecture of ERGIC and Golgi. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **19**(5): 1976-1990.

- Molinari, M. and Helenius, A. (2000). Chaperone Selection During Glycoprotein Translocation into the Endoplasmic Reticulum. <u>Science</u> 288(5464): 331-333.
- Nawa, D., Shimada, O., Kawasaki, N., Matsumoto, N. and Yamamoto, K. (2007). Stable interaction of the cargo receptor VIP36 with molecular chaperone BiP. <u>Glycobiology</u> 17(9): 913-21.
- Neve, E. P., Svensson, K., Fuxe, J. and Pettersson, R. F. (2003). VIPL, a VIP36-like membrane protein with a putative function in the export of glycoproteins from the endoplasmic reticulum. <u>Exp Cell Res</u> 288(1): 70-83.
- Nufer, O., Mitrovic, S. and Hauri, H.-P. (2003). Profile-based Data Base Scanning for Animal L-type Lectins and Characterization of VIPL, a Novel VIP36-like Endoplasmic Reticulum Protein. J Biol Chem 278(18): 15886-15896.
- Paroutis, P., Touret, N. and Grinstein, S. (2004). The pH of the Secretory Pathway: Measurement, Determinants, and Regulation. <u>Physiology</u> **19**(4): 207-215.
- Pelham, H. R. B. (1989). Control of Protein Exit from the Endoplasmic Reticulum. <u>Annu Rev Cell Biol</u> **5**(1): 1-23.
- Pepperkok, R., Scheel, J., Horstmann, H., Hauri, H. P., Griffiths, G. and Kreis, T. E. (1993). Beta-COP is essential for biosynthetic membrane transport from the endoplasmic reticulum to the Golgi complex in vivo. <u>Cell</u> **74**(1): 71-82.
- Saito, Y., Ihara, Y., Leach, M. R., Cohen-Doyle, M. F. and Williams, D. B. (1999). Calreticulin functions in vitro as a molecular chaperone for both glycosylated and non-glycosylated proteins. <u>EMBO J</u> 18(23): 6718-6729.
- Schlesinger, P. H., Doebber, T. W., Mandell, B. F., White, R., DeSchryver, C., Rodman, J. S., Miller, M. J. and Stahl, P. (1978). Plasma clearance of glycoproteins with terminal mannose and N-acetylglucosamine by liver non-parenchymal cells. Studies with beta-glucuronidase, N-acetyl-beta-D-glucosaminidase, ribonuclease B and agalacto-orosomucoid. <u>Biochem J</u> 176(1): 103-9.
- Schweizer, A., Matter, K., Ketcham, C. M. and Hauri, H. P. (1991). The isolated ER-Golgi intermediate compartment exhibits properties that are different from ER and cis-Golgi. J Cell Biol 113(1): 45-54.
- Sonnichsen, B., Fullekrug, J., Nguyen Van, P., Diekmann, W., Robinson, D. G. and Mieskes, G. (1994). Retention and retrieval: both mechanisms cooperate to maintain calreticulin in the endoplasmic reticulum. J Cell Sci 107(10): 2705-2717.
- Spiro, R. G., Zhu, Q., Bhoyroo, V. and Söling, H.-D. (1996). Definition of the Lectin-like Properties of the Molecular Chaperone, Calreticulin, and Demonstration of Its Copurification with Endomannosidase from Rat Liver Golgi. J Biol Chem 271(19): 11588-11594.
- Stauber, T., Simpson, J. C., Pepperkok, R. and Vernos, I. (2006). A Role for Kinesin-2 in COPI-Dependent Recycling between the ER and the Golgi Complex. <u>Curr Biol</u> 16(22): 2245-2251.
- Styers, M. L., O'Connor, A. K., Grabski, R., Cormet-Boyaka, E. and Sztul, E. (2008). Depletion of {beta}-COP reveals a role for COP-I in compartmentalization of secretory compartments and in biosynthetic transport of caveolin-1. <u>Am J Physiol Cell Physiol</u> 294(6): C1485-1498.
- Wendeler, M. W., Paccaud, J. P. and Hauri, H. P. (2007). Role of Sec24 isoforms in selective export of membrane proteins from the endoplasmic reticulum. <u>EMBO Rep</u> 8(3): 258-64.
- Wright, A. and Morrison, S. L. (1994). Effect of altered CH2-associated carbohydrate structure on the functional properties and in vivo fate of chimeric mouse-human immunoglobulin G1. J Exp Med **180**(3): 1087-96.
- Yamamoto, K., Fujii, R., Toyofuku, Y., Saito, T., Koseki, H., Hsu, V. W. and Aoe, T. (2001). The KDEL receptor mediates a retrieval mechanism that contributes to quality control at the endoplasmic reticulum. <u>Embo J</u> 20(12): 3082-91.
- Yeo, T. K., Yeo, K. T., Parent, J. B. and Olden, K. (1985). Swainsonine treatment accelerates intracellular transport and secretion of glycoproteins in human hepatoma cells. J Biol Chem 260(4): 2565-2569.
- Zegers, M. M. and Hoekstra, D. (1998). Mechanisms and functional features of polarized membrane traffic in epithelial and hepatic cells. <u>Biochem J</u> 336 (Pt 2): 257-69.
- Zuber, C., Spiro, M. J., Guhl, B., Spiro, R. G. and Roth, J. (2000). Golgi Apparatus Immunolocalization of Endomannosidase Suggests Post-Endoplasmic Reticulum Glucose Trimming: Implications for Quality Control. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 11(12): 4227-4240.

Curriculum vitae

Name: Date of birth: Place of origin: Nationality: Present address: Veronika Reiterer 19.3.1979 Vienna (Austria) Austrian Biozentrum University of Basel Klingelbergstr. 70 CH-4056 Basel Switzerland veronika.reiterer@unibas.ch

Email address:

Education:

2007-2010: PhD thesis at the University of Basel (Biozentrum). (Thesis performed under the guidance of Professor Hans-Peter Hauri. Thesis title: The role of the lectin VIP36 in the early secretory pathway)

2004-2007: Scientific co-worker at the Institute of Pharmacology. (research topic: ER export of GABA-transporter-1)

1997-2004: Medical Faculty, University of Vienna. MD promotion in 2004 (Thesis performed under the guidance of Professor Josef-Zeitlhofer at the Department of Neurology, Medical University of Vienna. Thesis title: Aktigraphie und Schlaganfall)

1989-1997: elementary and secondary school (Gymnasium) in Vienna, Austria.

1987-1989: elementary school in Reken, Germany.

1985-1987: elementary school in Bremerhaven, Germany.

Publications:

1. Maier S, **Reiterer V**, Ruggiero A, Rothstein JD, Thomas S, Dahm R, Sitte HH, Farhan H. (2009) GTRAP3-18 serves as a negative regulator of Rab1 in protein transport and neuronal differentiation. *J Cell Mol Med.* **13**: *114-124*.

2. **Reiterer V**, Sitte HH, Kriz A, Hauri HP, Freissmuth M, Farhan H. (2008) Sec24- and ARFGAP1-dependent trafficking of GABA-transporter-1 is a prerequisite for correct axonal targeting. *J Neurosci*; **28**:12453-12464.

3. **Reiterer V,** Sauter C, Klösch G, Lalouschek W, Zeitlhofer J. (2008) Actigraphy - A Useful Tool for Motor Activity Monitoring in Stroke Patients. *Eur Neurol*; **60**:285-291.

4. Nyfeler B, **Reiterer V**, Wendeler MW, Stefan E, Zhang B, Michnick SW, Hauri HP. (2008) Identification of ERGIC-53 as an intracellular transport receptor of alpha1-antitrypsin. *J Cell Biol*; **180**:705-12.

5. Farhan H, **Reiterer V**, Kriz A, Hauri HP, Pavelka M, Sitte HH, Freissmuth M. (2008) Export from the intermediate compartment of GABA transporter -1 is specified by its carboxyl terminus. *J Cell Sci* ;121:753-761.

6. Farhan H, **Reiterer V***, Korkhov VM, Schmid JA, Freissmuth M, Sitte HH. (2007) Sec24D interacts with the carboxyl terminus of the GABA transporter 1 and controls its concentrative export from the ER. *J Biol Chem* ;**282**:7679-7689. (* Joint first author)

7. Milojevic T, **Reiterer V**, Stefan E, Korkhov VM, Dorostkar MM, Ducza E, Ogris E, Boehm S, Freissmuth M, Nanoff C. (2006) The ubiquitin-specific protease Usp4 regulates the cell surface level of the A2A receptor. *Mol Pharmacol*; **69**:1083-1094.